
 

 

Democratic Services ◦ Chief Executive’s Department ◦ Leicestershire County Council ◦ County Hall  

Glenfield ◦ Leicestershire ◦ LE3 8RA ◦ Tel: 0116 232 3232 ◦ Email: democracy@leics.gov.uk 
 

 

www.twitter.com/leicsdemocracy  

  
www.http://www.leicestershire.gov.uk 

 

 

 

 
  

 

Meeting: Adults and Communities Overview and Scrutiny Committee  
 
 

 

Date/Time: Tuesday, 6 November 2018 at 11.00 am 

Location: Sparkenhoe Committee Room - County Hall 

Contact: Miss. G. Duckworth (0116 305 2583) 

Email: gemma.duckworth@leics.gov.uk 

 
Membership 

 
Mr. T. J. Richardson CC (Chairman) 

 
Dr. P. Bremner CC 

Ms. L. Broadley CC 
Mr. B. Crooks CC 

Mrs. H. J. Fryer CC 
 

Mr. D. Harrison CC 
Mr. W. Liquorish JP CC 
Ms. Betty Newton CC 
Mr T. Parton CC 
 

 
Please note: this meeting will be filmed for live or subsequent broadcast via the 

Council’s web site at http://www.leicestershire.gov.uk 
– Notices will be on display at the meeting explaining the arrangements. 

 
AGENDA 

 
Item   Report by   

 
1.  

  
Minutes of the meeting held on 11 September 
2018.  
 

 
 

(Pages 5 - 12) 

2.  
  

Question Time.  
 

 
 

 

3.  
  

Questions asked by members under Standing 
Order 7(3) and 7(5).  
 

 
 

 

4.  
  

To advise of any other items which the 
Chairman has decided to take as urgent 
elsewhere on the agenda.  
 

 
 

 

5.  
  

Declarations of interest in respect of items on 
the agenda.  
 

 
 

 

mailto:democracy@leics.gov.uk
http://www.twitter.com/leicsdemocracy
http://www.leics.gov.uk/local_democracy
http://www.leics.gov.uk/local_democracy
http://www.leicestershire.gov.uk/about-the-council/how-the-council-works/public-involvement/watch-council-meetings-online


 
 
 
 

 

6.  
  

Declarations of the Party Whip in accordance 
with Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rule 
16.  
 

 
 

 

7.  
  

Presentation of Petitions under Standing Order 
36.  
 

 
 

 

8.  
  

Review of Long Term Residential and Nursing 
Care Fees.  
 

Director of Adults 
and Communities 
 

(Pages 13 - 20) 

9.  
  

Capital Investment into Adult Social Care 
Accommodation Based Support Services.  
 

Director of Adults 
and Communities 
 

(Pages 21 - 42) 

 A Powerpoint presentation will be given at the meeting. 
 

 

10.  
  

Adult Social Care Target Operating Model.  
 

Director of Adults 
and Communities 
and Director of 
Corporate 
Resources 
 

(Pages 43 - 52) 

11.  
  

Progress with Smart Library Implementation.  
 

Director of Adults 
and Communities 
 

(Pages 53 - 112) 

12.  
  

The Development of a Unitary Structure for 
Local Government in Leicestershire.  
 

Chief Executive 
 

(Pages 113 - 
154) 

 A copy of the report submitted to the Cabinet at its meeting on 16 October 2018 
and the relevant Appendix (Appendix B) are attached.  The Committee is invited to 
comment on the proposals.  The views of the Committee will be reported to the 
Scrutiny Commission at its meeting on 14 November 2018. 
 

 

13.  
  

Date of next meeting.  
 

 
 

 

 The next meeting of the Committee is scheduled to take place on 21 
January 2019 at 2.00pm. 
 
 

 

14.  
  

Any other items which the Chairman has 
decided to take as urgent.  
 

 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
 
 
 

 

 
 

QUESTIONING BY MEMBERS OF OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 
 
The ability to ask good, pertinent questions lies at the heart of successful and effective 
scrutiny.  To support members with this, a range of resources, including guides to 
questioning, are available via the Centre for Public Scrutiny website www.cfps.org.uk.  
 
The following questions have been agreed by Scrutiny members as a good starting point 
for developing questions:- 
 

 Who was consulted and what were they consulted on? What is the process for and 
quality of the consultation? 

 How have the voices of local people and frontline staff been heard? 

 What does success look like? 

 What is the history of the service and what will be different this time? 

 What happens once the money is spent? 

 If the service model is changing, has the previous service model been evaluated? 

 What evaluation arrangements are in place – will there be an annual review? 
 

http://www.cfps.org.uk/


This page is intentionally left blank



 

  

 
 

Minutes of a meeting of the Adults and Communities Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
held at County Hall, Glenfield on Tuesday, 11 September 2018.  
 

PRESENT 
 

Mr. T. J. Richardson CC (in the Chair) 
 

Dr. P. Bremner CC 
Ms. L. Broadley CC 
Dr. T. Eynon CC 
Mrs. H. J. Fryer CC 
 

Mr. D. Harrison CC 
Mr. W. Liquorish JP CC 
Mrs B. Seaton CC 
 

In attendance 
 
Mr. R. Blunt CC, Lead Member for Adults and Communities 
Mr. L. Breckon CC, Cabinet Support Member 
Mr. S. D. Sheahan CC, Spokesperson of the Children and Families Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee (for Minute Number 25) 
Mr. G. Welsh CC, Spokesperson of the Children and Families Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee (for Minute Number 25)  
 

17. Minutes of the meeting held on 5 June 2018  
 
The minutes of the meeting held on 5 June 2018 were taken as read, confirmed and 
signed.  
 

18. Question Time.  
 
The Chief Executive reported that no questions had been received under Standing Order 
35. 
 

19. Questions asked by members under Standing Order 7(3) and 7(5).  
 
The Chief Executive reported that no questions had been received under Standing Order 
7(3) and 7(5). 
 

20. Urgent Items.  
 
There were no urgent items for consideration. 
 

21. Declarations of interest in respect of items on the agenda.  
 
The Chairman invited members who wished to do so to declare any interest in respect of 
items on the agenda for the meeting. 
 
No declarations were made. 
 

22. Declarations of the Party Whip in accordance with Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rule 
16.  
 

5 Agenda Item 1



 
 

 

There were no declarations of the party whip. 
 

23. Presentation of Petitions under Standing Order 36.  
 
The Chief Executive reported that no petitions had been received under Standing Order 
36. 
 

24. Change to the Order of Business.  
 
The Chairman sought and obtained the consent of the Committee to vary the order of 
business from that set out on the agenda. 
 

25. Draft Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland Carers' Strategy 2018-2021.  
 
The Committee considered a joint report of the Directors of Adults and Communities, 
Children and Family Services and Public Health on the outcome of public consultation on 
the draft joint Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland (LLR) Carer’s Strategy 2018-21, 
which set out strategic priorities relating to unpaid carers of all ages.  A copy of the 
report, marked ‘Agenda Item 9’, is filed with these minutes. 
 
The Chairman welcomed the Spokesmen of the Children and Families Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee to the meeting for this item. 
 
Arising from the discussion, the following comments were raised: 
 

i)  Some concern was expressed that the number of responses received during 
the consultation appeared to be low.  Members were advised that significant 
engagement had taken place with carer groups and the care sector on the 
proposed content of the Strategy before the commencement of the consultation 
period.  It was noted with elected members that local networks could be used 
in future consultations. 

 
ii)  Although this was a joint Strategy, there was a risk of fragmented 

implementation due to the fact that there would be six sets of governance 
arrangements.  Despite the organisations having a similar strategic intent, each 
had a different implementation plan, with actions that were relevant to the 
individual localities.  The Committee noted that there were a number of positive 
actions within the County Council’s implementation plan. 

 
iii)  With regard to measuring outcomes, members were advised that a bi-annual 

survey of carers currently took place which followed a standard methodology 
and asked a range of questions to ascertain the overall level of satisfaction.  
Current feedback from the survey was not particularly positive, and this 
mirrored the national picture.  It was hoped that improvements in the carer offer 
would be reflected in a more positive survey response. 

 
iv)  One of the key themes emerging from the consultation was that carers 

generally agreed that the way in which services were provided for the cared-for 
created a level of carer strain.  The key issue identified that a lack of 
signposting caused further stress, and as a result additional dedicated staff 
were employed in the customer services centre to provide a more helpful and 
responsive service. 

 

6



 
 

 

v)  There appeared to be a varying level of support for carers from GPs.  In 
response to a query around how this could be improved, it was acknowledged 
that engagement had not always been successful.  However, carers had stated 
in the consultation that they wanted to receive information and advice through 
primary care providers and the aspiration was to have this as a place to get 
information, not just via a consultation with a GP, but as a navigation point. 

 
vi)  The priority in relation to supporting young carers was welcomed, in particular 

addressing the specific needs of young carers in terms of respite.  As a result 
of the feedback received, it would be necessary to undertake further work 
around the offer for young carers, and this would be reflected in the final 
Strategy which would be presented to the Cabinet at its meeting on 16 
October. 

 
vii)  A further issue in relation to young carers was the need to balance their caring 

responsibilities and their education needs.  In addressing the overall impact on 
young carers, key was ensuring that the service user they were caring for was 
receiving the appropriate support in their own right.  The Council had 
commissioned Barnardo’s to provide a support service for young carers.  The 
importance of the corporate parenting responsibility of everyone was stressed, 
along with ensuring that young people were being looked after appropriately.  
The views of the Committee on young carers would be forwarded to the 
Chairman of the Children and Families Overview and Scrutiny Committee for 
further consideration. 

 
RESOLVED: 
 

(a)That the report be noted; 
 

(b) That the comments now made be submitted to the Cabinet for consideration at 
its meeting on 16 October. 

 
26. 'The Lives we Want to Lead' The Local Government Association Green Paper for Adult 

Social Care and Wellbeing  
 
The Committee considered a report of the Director of  Adults and Communities and 
Director of Corporate Resources, which was due to be presented to the Cabinet on 14 
September 2018, on ‘The Lives we Want to Lead’ – the Local Government Association 
Green Paper for adult social care and wellbeing.  The Government had stated its 
intention to publish a Green Paper on adult social care, but the publication of this had 
been delayed a number of times.  It was anticipated that this would now be published in 
the autumn, alongside a ten year plan for the NHS.  A copy of the report, marked 
‘Agenda Item 8’, is filed with these minutes. 
 
The Lead Member for Adults and Communities stated his support for the main principles 
within the Green Paper.  He made particular reference to the individual stories within the 
Green Paper of people who had required adult social care services but were not aware 
that this was not part of the NHS and hence not a free service. 
 
The current draft response to the LGA Green Paper from Leicestershire County Council 
was proposing free personal care as being the most equitable and transparent solution 
but noted that a ‘cap and floor’ mechanism would provide people with protection of 
assets.  However, this would also require a bureaucratic and resource intensive process, 

7



 
 

 

and would mean that a large  number of people who currently funded their own care 
would have to create an account with the local authority and the local authority would 
have to assess everyone. 
 
Members welcomed the LGA Green Paper and the report, which outlined the County 
Council’s perspective and initial assessment.  The Committee was of the view that the 
issue of funding social care had been avoided for too long and that, given the pressures 
facing the sector, the LGA needed to lobby hard for Government action to address the 
funding issue. 
 
In respect of the response to the LGA Green Paper, the Committee asked the Director of 
Adults and Communities and the Lead Member to have regard to the following when 
formulating a Council response: 
 

i)  Making personal care free would lead to greater simplicity and help with the 
integration of health and social care, although it was recognised that this may 
be too expensive.  As such, the ‘cap and floor’ appeared to be a sensible way 
forward. 

 
ii)  It was agreed that the responsibility for social care services should not be 

transferred to the NHS.  The local authority, with elected members 
representing their constituents, was better placed to understand local needs 
and be more effective at commissioning primary and social care.  The NHS 
should focus on its strengths, that being providing acute care. 

 
iii)  The challenges facing social care could not, as the LGA paper made clear, be 

addressed by narrowly focussing on social care.  The interdependence of 
housing, public health and other services provided by local authorities needed 
to be addressed.  In this regard, planned reductions in public health funding 
were unhelpful. 

 
iv)  The important role of the carer’s workforce needed to be recognised, both in 

terms of remuneration as well as improved career prospects and training.  
Failure to do so would lead to a greater turnover of staff and threaten the 
sustainability of the care sector. 

 
The Committee recognised that all of the above required bold decisions on funding and 
that there needed to a be national funding formula for social care. 
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That the Cabinet be advised of the comments made by the Committee.  
 

27. Draft Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland Living Well with Dementia Strategy 2019-
2022 Outcome of Consultation.  
 
The Committee considered a report of the Director of Adults and Communities providing 
an update on the outcome of the consultation on the draft Leicester, Leicestershire and 
Rutland (LLR) Living Well with Dementia Strategy 2019-22 and presenting the associated 
draft delivery plan.  A copy of the report, marked ‘Agenda Item 10’, is filed with these 
minutes.  The comments of the Committee would be forwarded to the Cabinet, where the 
final Strategy and delivery plan would be presented on 16 October 2018. 
 

8



 
 

 

Concern was raised over training and development for the social care workforce.  It was 
recognised that having the appropriate number of staff with the right level of capabilities 
was key, but that this would become more challenging with an ageing population and a 
greater number of people with dementia.  Within LLR, the Social Care Development 
Group provided free or subsidised training primarily to independent sector providers, 
although the type of training had to be prioritised.  The University of Bournemouth had 
been commissioned to provide dementia training, which consisted of an introductory 
dementia awareness course and more intensive training targeted at managers around 
improving dementia support delivery.  This contract was coming to an end shortly, and 
consideration was currently being given to what would be commissioned in its place. 
 
Engagement was taking place with the sector to seek their views on what had been 
offered and what could be offered in the future.  It was felt that dementia and mental 
health training around older people would be a priority as feedback suggested that this 
was a challenging area.  Specialist dementia care was an area of concern and improving 
standards was a priority. 
 
The Committee agreed that workforce development was important, and that every effort 
should be made to retain as much funding as possible to provide this. 
 
RESOLVED: 
 

(a) That the report be noted; 
 

(b) That the comments now made be submitted to the Cabinet for consideration at its 
meeting on 16 October 2018. 

 
28. Next Steps in Sustaining and Developing the Home Care Market.  

 
The Committee considered a report of the Director of Adults and Communities providing 
an update on the short-to-medium term actions for developing the home care market and 
of future joint commissioning priorities for home care.  A copy of the report, marked 
‘Agenda Item 11’ is filed with these minutes. 
 
Arising from the discussion, the following comments were made: 
 

i)  The Committee was pleased to see that some stabilisation had now taken 
place, and agreed that it was essential to ensure that previous mistakes with 
providers were not repeated.  The County Council wanted to work with 
providers who had a strong local presence and had the ability to provide 
stability and attractiveness to staff.  Where problems had arisen previously, it 
had been largely due to the fact that providers had been unable to recruit and 
retain staff.  In order for this to occur, it would be necessary to improve the 
conditions of employment for staff, and although there had been 
improvements, the service needed to remain an attractive means of 
employment. 

 
ii)  In response to a query around measuring service user outcomes, it was 

important that these were defined by service users.  Communication with 
carers was seen as essential in order to provide useful feedback as to what 
they required from the service. 

 

9



 
 

 

iii)  The Cabinet had decided not to sign up to a joint Sustainability and 
Transformation Programme (STP) with Health and agreed that this should be 
an NHS document with the County Council as a consultee.  The CCGs had 
recently published a refreshed paper on Better Care Together and the policy 
statement had now been published on the CCGs website with an updated 
statement around the STP.  Work continued on some of the work streams in 
the original STP development, in particular the reconfiguration of hospital beds 
and integrating health and social care services at the point of delivery.  The 
County Council was also working with Leicestershire Partnership Trust (LPT) to 
develop an integrated reablement and intensive support service, which would 
bring together the HART reablement service and the Intensive Community 
Support service within LPT and it was hoped that this would be operational by 
October. 

 
RESOVLED: 
 

(a) That the report be noted; 
 

(b) That a further update be presented to a future meeting of the Committee. 
 

29. Leicestershire and Rutland Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report.  
 
The Committee considered a report of the Independent Chair of the Leicestershire and 
Rutland Safeguarding Adult Board (LRSAB) presenting the draft Annual Report of the 
Board for 2017/18.  A copy of the report, marked ‘Agenda Item 12’, is filed with these 
minutes.  Any comments or proposed amendments would be addressed in the final report 
before it was presented to the LRSAB at its meeting on 25 October 2018. 
 
In response to questions the Committee was advised: 
 

i)  The final multi-agency discussion and analysis in relation to the Strategy 
Meeting audit had not taken place by the end of the year.  However, this had 
now been completed and actions arising from the audit were being 
implemented. 

 
ii)  The inaccuracies in the financial information within the Annual Report would be 

reviewed and put right. 
 

RESOLVED: 
 
That the report be noted. 
 

30. Annual Adult Social Care Complaints and Compliments Report 2017/18.  
 
The Committee considered a report of the Director of Adults and Communities providing 
a summary of the complaints and compliments for adult social care services 
commissioned or provided by the Adults and Communities Department in 2017-18.  A 
copy of the report, marked ‘Agenda Item 13’, is filed with these minutes. 
 
In introducing the report, the Lead Member for Adults and Communities stated that 
although this was a largely positive report, it highlighted that the department was not 
complacent about responding to complaints.  However, it was welcoming that the 
department was learning from the complaints received, and this would continue. 

10



 
 

 

 
RESOLVED: 
 
That the report be noted. 
 

31. Performance Report 2018/19 - April - June (Quarter 1).  
 
The Committee considered a joint report of the Chief Executive and the Director of Adults 
and Communities presenting an update of the Adults and Communities Department’s 
performance for the period April to June 2018.  A copy of the report, marked ‘Agenda 
Item 14’ is filed with these minutes. 
 
Arising from the discussion, the following comments were raised: 
 

i)  In response to a query around encouraging e-book loans for people in areas 
where mobile libraries no longer visited, it was stated that this was not currently 
the intention of the service.  However, it would be useful to consider whether 
there was a direct correlation between the increase in e-book loans and the 
locations of where mobile libraries had previously visited. 

 
ii)  It was agreed that libraries were multi-action spaces used for a variety of 

means, for example, using the internet and social interaction, as well as 
loaning a book.  It was felt important for libraries to promote and advertise what 
resources were available in the building.  Consideration was currently being 
given to expanding the commercial options within the Council, and this could 
include making libraries more commercial through the sale of appropriate 
merchandise.  Further work would take place around this. 

 
RESOLVED: 
 
That the report be noted. 
 

32. Dates of Future Meetings.  
 
It was noted that the next meeting of the Committee would be held on 6 November 2018 
at 11.00 am. 
 
Future meetings of the Adults and Communities Overview and Scrutiny Committee will be 
held at 2.00pm on the following dates: 
 
21 January 2019 
11 March 2019 
10 June 2019 
2 September 2019 
11 November 2019. 
 
 

2.00 – 4.00pm CHAIRMAN 
11 September 2018 

 

11



This page is intentionally left blank



Nomination  

ADULTS AND COMMUNITIES OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 

6 NOVEMBER 2018 

REVIEW OF LONG TERM RESIDENTIAL AND NURSING CARE FEES 
 

REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF ADULTS AND COMMUNITIES 
 

Purpose of the Report 
 
1. The purpose of this report is to seek the views of the Committee on the proposed 

changes to the way in which the Council agrees prices for residential care and 
residential nursing care and the associated consultation document. 

 
Policy Framework and Previous Decisions 
 
2. The Care Act 2014 places statutory duties on councils to establish a usual price for 

the care home placements they fund. This price needs to give due regard to ensuring 
that there are sufficient care and support services in the local market to meet the 
needs of all people who require care them.  It also places a duty on councils to give 
due regard to ensuring provider sustainability and viability to enable them to meet 
their employer duties and responsibilities and provide the agreed quality of care. 

 
3. The Adults and Communities Department undertakes an annual fee review process 

with the residential and nursing care market, but it has not fundamentally reviewed its 
pricing structure since 2011.  It is recognised that there have been significant 
changes to the way care and support is delivered since this time and that the 
demographic of people being permanently placed in residential care by the Council is 
now different. 

 
4. A fundamental review of the Council’s fee structure and fee levels is therefore 

necessary to ensure this remains fit for purpose and supports a sustainable care 
market across the County. 

 
5. The review of residential care and residential nursing care fees (the fee review) will 

contribute to the delivery of the following outcomes in the Council’s Strategic Plan for 
2018-22: 

 

  Strong Economy; Local residential and nursing care providers will be resilient, 
helping prevent provider failure; 

  Keeping People Safe; paying providers a sustainable price in Leicestershire will 
help contribute to keeping people safe, protected from harm, and ensure their 
wellbeing; 

  Affordable and Quality Homes; Leicestershire has a range of quality residential 
and nursing care homes. 

 
6. In December 2010, the Cabinet agreed to the introduction of a voluntary Quality 

Assessment Framework (QAF), under which qualifying providers of residential 
services are paid enhanced rates. 

 

13 Agenda Item 8



7. On 16 October 2018, the Cabinet authorised the Director of Adults and Communities 
to commence the two stage consultation exercise on the proposed changes to the 
way in which the Council agrees prices for residential care and residential nursing 
care, as detailed in paragraphs 13-21 of this report. 

 
Background 
 
8. The vision for adult social care is to reduce the number of long term admissions into 

residential care through increasing the supply and quality of community services as 
well as the range of alternative accommodation based provisions available.  
However, there will always be a need for residential care provisions for some 
individuals.  

 
9. During the financial year 2017/18, there were 852 permanent admissions into 

residential care in Leicestershire, the majority of which (816) were for people over 65.  
Placements were made into 161 private care homes and 24 voluntary and not for 
profit homes.  In total, there are approximately 2,100 people currently living in 
residential and nursing care - 1,700 older adults and 400 working age adults. The 
total gross Council expenditure for providing such care is projected at £86 million for 
2018/19. 

 
10. Residential and nursing care placements made by the authority for those aged 65+ 

are currently based on five banded rates as set out in the table below.  In reality, only 
two of these bands are routinely used - Band 3 and Band 5 - and are often increased 
by supplementary needs allowances, third party top ups, or a local authority assisted 
funding payment meaning the current banded rate payments often do not reflect the 
actual cost of care provided, or the total fee paid. 

 
Current Banding Banding Description Weekly Rate 

Band 1 Older People  £394 

Band 2  Mental Illness/Drug or Alcohol 
Dependency 

£417 

Band 3 Dependent Older People £466 

Band 4 Learning Disability £483 

Band 5 Highly Dependent People/Physical 
Disability 

£555 

NRS  (Nursing) £482 

 
11. Placements for working age adults are made using the Care Funding Calculator 

(national benchmarking tool) that gives an indicative cost band for the individual. The 
consistent application of this tool is challenging in practice and can lead to significant 
variations in pricing.  The relatively limited number of providers in the working age 
adult residential/nursing care market also contributes to additional pressure on costs. 

 
12. The proposed fee review will seek to establish a methodology that: 
 

  Reflects the actual cost of providing care efficiently in the local market; 

  Assures value for money and affordability of placements whilst ensuring 
compliance with the Council’s statutory duties under the Care Act 2014; 

  Can be used to calculate the cost of placements for people with complex care 
needs; 

  Can be altered to reflect changes in local and national requirements; 

14



  Includes a process for annual fee review. 
 
Proposals 
 
13. The proposed changes which are to be consulted upon are set out below: 
 

  The five band system for older adults, as described above, will be replaced by a 
simple two band system which will simplify the process and more accurately 
reflect the needs of residents; 

  The National Care Funding Calculator for Working Age Adults will be refreshed to 
reflect local costs; 

  A review of the Council’s standard cost template that will ensure that all relevant 
costs are included in the new model.  

  The current annual fee review will be updated in line with proposed fee setting 
process. 

  The approach to payments for those people who are placed out of county to 
reflect the Leicestershire fee rate and not the host local authority fee rate as is the 
current practice; 

  The existing core contract, specification and schedules will be refreshed to reflect 
current legislation and policy. This will include the proposed removal of the QAF 
premium payments. 

 
Consultation 
 
14.  A two stage process is being used to ensure that the structure for determining the 

costs is refined and verified before it is populated with actual figures.   The second 
consultation will build on the findings of the first.  Further detail on the consultation 
process can be found in the Appendix attached to this report. 

 
15. Both stages of the consultation will follow the guidance set out in the Council’s 

consultation principles, ensuring that it reaches all relevant stakeholders in 
appropriate formats, and is open and transparent in the use of information. The 
consultation will be informed by the findings of the Equalities and Human Rights 
Impact Assessment (EHRIA) screening, which will be undertaken to support Stage 1 
of the consultation, and a full EHRIA assessment will be completed during Stage 2.  
The results of the consultation will feed into the final EHRIA report, which will be 
presented to the Cabinet in June 2019. 

 
Consultation - Stage 1 
 
16. The first stage will relate to the proposed changes in the architecture of the fee 

process, ie the change from the current five band system used for older adult 
placements to a two band system; the removal of the QAF (a voluntary incentive 
scheme for providers to get an additional payment for achieving certain quality 
standards); and the intentions to standardise hotel costs for working age adults 
placements.  Updated standard cost templates, proposed changes to the 
specification and revised band descriptions will also form part of the first stage of the 
consultation. 

 
17. This first stage of the consultation will commence on 14 November 2018 and run to 9 

January 2019 to take account of the Christmas and New Year break.  The 

15



consultation documentation is in the process of being finalised and will be circulated 
to the Committee as soon as it is available. 

 
Consultation - Stage 2 
 
18. The second stage of the consultation will include the populated standard cost 

templates, and driven by those figures the proposed band rates, hotel costs and 
supplementary need rates. It will also seek views on transitional arrangements for 
existing Council funded residents and the process for annual uplifts. 

 
19. This stage of the consultation will commence in February 2019 for a period of six 

weeks. 
 

20. The Adults and Communities Overview and Scrutiny Committee will be consulted on 
the proposed changes at its meeting on 6 November 2018 and will be consulted on 
the second stage of the consultation process at its meeting on 11 March 2019. 
 

21. Feedback from the consultation and the final proposed fee structure will be presented 
to the Cabinet in June 2019. 

 
Resource Implications 
 
22. The estimated gross cost of residential care/nursing care for adults is forecasted to 

be £86 million in 2018/19.  However, the Council receives £25 million income from 
charging service users and £8 million from local health commissioning partners 
through joint arrangements. The net estimated cost is therefore approximately £53 
million. Any changes to the fees paid may impact on these costs. 

 
23. The Director of Corporate Resources and Transformation and the Director of Law 

and Governance have been consulted on the content of this report. 
 
Timetable for Decisions (including Scrutiny) 
 
24. Following the Cabinet’s approval, the first stage of the consultation, focusing on the 

architecture of the fee structure, will commence in early November 2018 for a period 
of six weeks.  The second stage of the consultation, including the proposed fee rates, 
will then commence in early 2019. 

 
25. The Adults and Communities Overview and Scrutiny Committee will be consulted on 

the proposed changes at its meeting on 6 November 2018 and will be consulted on 
the second stage of the consultation process at its meeting on 11 March 2019. 
 

26. The outcome of the consultation, proposals for a revised fee structure and the 
financial implications of this will be presented to the Cabinet in June 2019.  Subject to 
the Cabinet’s approval, implementation of the new rates will be back dated from 1 
April 2019. 

 
Background Papers 
 
Leicestershire County Council Strategic Plan 2018-22 
https://www.leicestershire.gov.uk/about-the-council/council-plans/the-strategic-plan 

 

16

https://www.leicestershire.gov.uk/about-the-council/council-plans/the-strategic-plan


Report to Cabinet: 14 December 2010 - Quality Assessment Framework for Older 
People’s Residential and Nursing Independent Care Providers 
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=135&MId=2914&Ver=4 
 

Promoting independence, Supporting Communities; Our vision and strategy for adult 
social care 2016–2020 
https://www.leicestershire.gov.uk/sites/default/files/field/pdf/2016/3/23/ASC_Strategy_2016_2020_0.pdf 

 
Report to Cabinet: 16 October 2018 – Review of Long Term Residential and Nursing Care 
Fees 
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/documents/s141196/Review%20of%20Long%20Term%20Residential%20and%20Nursing%20Care%20Fees.
pdf 

 
Circulation under the Local Issues Alert Procedure 
 
27. This report has been circulated to all Members of the County Council. 
 
Equality and Human Rights Implications 
 
28. An EHRIA screening will be undertaken to support the first phase of the consultation. 

It is likely that the screening will identify the need for a full EHRIA and the first stage 
of the consultation will be used to inform this.  A full assessment will be completed to 
support the second phase of the consultation.  
 

29. Changes in the fee structure will financially impact on those service users that have 
been assessed as full cost payers, but who have their care arranged by the County 
Council – these number approximately 170 at this time. In addition, given that the 
County Council is the single largest purchaser of residential and nursing care in the 
County, any changes to the fee rates paid by the authority are likely to have an 
impact on the wider self-funder market.  

 
Appendix 
 
Consultation Proposal 
 
Officers to Contact 
 
Jon Wilson, Director of Adults and Communities 
Adults and Communities Department 
Telephone: 0116 305 7454 
Email: jon.wilson@leics.gov.uk 
 
Sandy McMillan 
Assistant Director (Strategic Services) 
Adults and Communities Department 
Tel: 0116 305 7752 
Email: sandy.mcmillan@leics.gov.uk 
 

17

http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=135&MId=2914&Ver=4
https://www.leicestershire.gov.uk/sites/default/files/field/pdf/2016/3/23/ASC_Strategy_2016_2020_0.pdf
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/documents/s141196/Review%20of%20Long%20Term%20Residential%20and%20Nursing%20Care%20Fees.pdf
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/documents/s141196/Review%20of%20Long%20Term%20Residential%20and%20Nursing%20Care%20Fees.pdf
mailto:jon.wilson@leics.gov.uk
mailto:sandy.mcmillan@leics.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



 

APPENDIX 
 

CONSULTATION PROPOSAL 
 
Intended audience of the consultation 

 

 Residential and nursing care providers in Leicestershire. 

 EMCARE. 

 User representative organisations. 

 Current and potential future residents of residential and nursing care provision. 
 

Supporting information to be provided as part of the consultation 
 

 Background information will include why the change is being made, what is proposed, 

how to respond and by what date. 

 Details of the key policy/research that informs the approach will be outlined, in 

particular the Strategy: Promoting independence, Supporting Communities; Our Vision 

and Strategy for adult social care 2016–2020 and national report from the County 

Council Network and the Competition and Markets Authority. 

 Provider engagement to date will be explained and information about it provided 

including the meeting notes and interim engagement report. 

 A full explanation of the approach for each market; use of the Care Funding Calculator 

(CFC) for working age adult (WAA) placements and the band rates and Supplementary 

Needs Allowance (SNA) used in making older adult placements.  

 Details of the Equality and Human Rights Impact Screening Assessment . 

Key tools and methods to be used for the consultation 

 Web based content, dedicated page with links to documentation, frequently asked 

questions (FAQs), links to policy, key organisations and data sources. 

 An electronic response form. 

 Individual meetings with user representative organisations. 

 Opportunities for EMCARE and providers to engage via individual discussions as 

requested and locality based focus groups. 

 

Key areas for consideration as part of consultation one 

 

 The five band system for older adults will be replaced by a simple two band system 
which will simplify the process and more accurately reflect the needs of residents; in 
particular, can that approach cater for all older adults? 

 The National Care Funding Calculator for Working Age Adults will be refreshed to 
reflect local costs; 

19



 A review of the Council’s standard cost template that will ensure that all relevant costs 
are included in the new model.  

 The current Annual fee review will be updated in line with the proposed fee setting 
process. The approach to payments for those people who are placed out of county to 
reflect the Leicestershire fee rate and not the host local authority fee rate as is the 
current practice. 

 The existing core contract, specification and schedules will be refreshed to reflect 
current legislation and policy. This will include the proposed removal of the Quality 
Assessment Framework premium payments, clarifying whether the specification clearly 
sets out the minimum standards of care required.  

 
Key areas for consideration as part of consultation two 

 The proposed standard cost models developed for older adults and working age adult 

hotel costs. That is, the actual assumptions and figures in the framework that was 

agreed in stage 1. 

 Flowing from those cost models, the older adult band rates, the standard working age 

adult hotel costs and the standard SNA rates will be consulted upon. Providers will be 

asked for feedback on those fee levels. 

 Transitionary arrangements, including implementation dates and the risks and possible 

mitigations associated with that.  

 The process for annual price review, in relation to key cost drivers, such as Consumer 
Price Index and National Living Wage, and updating automatically each year using a 
formula based on those published indices. 

20



Nomination  
 

ADULTS AND COMMUNITIES OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE: 6 NOVEMBER 2018 

 
CAPITAL INVESTMENT INTO ADULT SOCIAL CARE 

ACCOMODATION BASED SUPPORT SERVICES 
 

REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF ADULTS AND COMMUNITIES 
 
Purpose of the Report 
 
1. The purpose of this report is to provide the Committee with an overview of the 

work being undertaken to develop a capital investment plan for adult social care 
accommodation based support services and the potential implications. 

 
Policy Framework and Previous Decisions 
 
2. The revenue costs of supporting those with social care needs are increasing 

and this is likely to continue annually for the foreseeable future.  
Accommodation based care is generally dependent on costs associated with 
the provision of accommodation, which itself is influenced by investment 
models within the private social care and investment markets.  By engaging 
with the market the Council will seek to validate its assumptions on 
accommodation costs and develop a strategic business case that will set out 
potential revenue cost savings and income generation through the use of 
capital investment. 

 
3. On 16 October 2018, the Cabinet agreed the development of a capital 

investment plan for adult social care accommodation based support services, 
including its aims and objectives as detailed in paragraph 10 of this report.  The 
Cabinet also approved the publication of the Public Information Notice (PIN) to 
initiate engagement with the adult social care and investment market be 
approved. 

 
4. No policy decisions result from the publication of the PIN. However, the full 

strategic business case, once developed, may require significant capital 
investment and/or for the Council to enter into partnership arrangements for the 
provision of accommodation based support options.  The full range of options 
being reviewed as part of the business case are detailed in the table below 
paragraph 13. 

 
Background 
 
5.  The average population of people over the age of 65 is set to increase by 75% 

by 2037, with a small increase of 2% for people under 65 years.  Population 
growth in Charnwood is significantly higher than the average at 80% and 10% 
respectively.  The only population that is predicted to shrink by 2037 is the 

21 Agenda Item 9



under 65 population in Melton, and Oadby and Wigston.  These figures are 
based on current population projections and do not take account of any large 
housing developments that may further increase the population.  Further detail 
broken down by district can be found in the Appendix attached to this report. 

 
6.  Using these population figures in conjunction with the strategic intention to 

reduce the use of residential care, it is estimated that by 2037 a further 750 
units of supported living and 1,200 units of extra care accommodation will be 
required.  The need for nursing care placements and residential placements will 
remain relatively stable, but those requiring services will have far more complex 
needs.  Further detail of the increased need by district can be found in the 
Appendix. 

 
7. Supporting people to remain within their own home for as long as possible not 

only provides people with the greatest level of independence, but is the most 
cost effective response for adult social care. This requires the right type of 
accommodation, with the right level of support to be available to meet need at 
the time it is required.  Where people cannot remain in their own home, 
community based accommodation options in the form of extra care and 
supported living can provide a cost effective and positive alternative to 
residential care. 

 
8. Active, healthy and engaged communities lead to reduced reliance on health 

and social care services, yet the provision of different models of housing and 
support options remain underdeveloped in the UK.  There is limited public 
knowledge of the housing and support options available and, in particular, there 
is a shortage in the supply of options offering a mix of tenure types. 

 
9. However, it is recognised there will still be an ongoing need for residential care 

that can meet the needs of some older people and a small proportion of 
younger age adults with complex needs.  Whilst the market is currently 
developing this provision, it is often at a high cost to the Council, driven by 
providers’ high borrowing costs and other requirements.  Investing in residential 
care is an opportunity for the Council to control the building design, associated 
costs, and quality of care service commissioned.  Investment in older persons 
residential accommodation would also allow the Council to influence the supply 
of residential care homes able to meet the needs of both Council funded 
residents and self-funders who continue to require support beyond their level of 
assets. 

 
10. The aims and objectives of the proposed capital investment plan are to: 
 

  Improve service user outcomes - Support the adult social care vision and 
strategy by promoting independence and avoiding long term institutional 
care by having a range of more suitable options. 

 

  Shape the market and ensure capacity – Have greater control in, and 
design of, property development for use as social housing and 
accommodation based support services (market shaping and development) 

22



and determine the most suitable locations based on local intelligence 
(housing needs analysis). 

 

  Contain demand growth - Manage demand by delaying and reducing the 
need for care, by the Council having a greater influence over the 
development of the care market ensuring it has the right mix of services to 
meet local demographic need. 

 

  Contain cost pressures – Transfer the emphasis from revenue 
expenditure (due to austerity measures) to improved use of capital 
expenditure as well as support cost avoidance of hotel costs incurred in 
purchase of residential/other specialist care/support. 

 

  Generate income - Get a return on investment and therefore generate 
income to offset challenges of austerity on available budgets. 

 
 
11. The capital investment plan seeks to meet these aims by: 
 

  Developing and enabling housing and care options that are aspirational, 
attractive and affordable with a full range of tenure options. 

 

  Facilitating and encouraging innovative approaches based on best practice 
and learning from others. 

 

  Working with partners to increase housing and care choices for residents in 
Leicestershire. 

 

  Exploring the full range of market leverage options available to realise the 
ambition including Council investment, land transfers, developer 
contributions through Section 106 and partnering arrangements. 

 

  Ensuring that residents of Leicestershire are widely informed of the range of 
housing options available and the different models of support. 

 
Proposals/Options 
 
12. The table below sets out a range of funding options that will be explored during 

the market engagement to inform the development of the full business case: 
 

Option Summary of opportunity 
 

Local 
authority 
capital 
funding 

The Council could assist in meeting the accommodation needs of 
Leicestershire residents over the coming years by funding the building of 
some of the accommodation. This may be necessary in some areas of 
specialist accommodation that the market will not provide or in any local 
communities where there is significant unmet need.  
 
The key advantages of the Council funding accommodation provision is that 

23



it enables it to build the type of accommodation that is required, it creates a 
valuable asset and the costs may be recovered in part by the Council selling 
some properties in a mixed tenure development. However, there would be 
the risk of lost investment return and the consideration of competing 
priorities contained within the Council’s Capital Investment Programme. 
 

Joint 
venture 
funding 
 

The Council could form joint venture partnerships or companies to fund the 
provision of accommodation. These models could potentially increase the 
funds available for development, but the Council would have to share the 
ownership of any assets and subsequent returns in the future. It is likely that 
the partnerships would need to be for a significant period of time in order for 
the investment to generate a meaningful return. 
 
Any partners would bring significant experience and expertise in the design 
and building of accommodation which could complement that already held 
within the Council. 
 
The partnership could also extend to the provision of care services in the 
accommodation and generate capital receipts by selling some units of 
accommodation as well as providing care to self-funders. 

Developer 
funding 

Private developers will continue to be the major provider of new 
accommodation across Leicestershire however, the market will not always 
provide specialist or flexible accommodation to meet the needs of 
Leicestershire residents in the future.  It is therefore essential that an 
element of the Council’s strategy for the provision of accommodation over 
the next 20 years is to work with developers and District Councils to engage, 
inform and influence investment decisions to ensure as far as possible that 
the housing needs of Leicestershire residents are met. 
 
The current situation that the authority finds itself in of having to pay 
increasing “hotel costs” as part of the overall costs of care for residents in 
privately developed and run accommodation is not sustainable in the long 
term. 
 

Local 
housing 
company 

There has been a significant number of local authorities establishing Local 
Housing Companies to build new homes for sale or rent.  These companies 
can be wholly owned by local authorities or be joint ventures with housing 
associations or developers. The benefits include the ability to develop 
affordable housing, produce a return back to the general fund and speed up 
the rate of housebuilding.  
 
As well as increasing the supply of housing for sale and rent the company 
could generate additional resources to contribute to the building of specialist 
housing alongside general needs housing. 
 

Social 
investment 

Social investment is an alternative way of raising capital rather than going to 
banks or the Public Works Loans Board (PWLB).  Interest rates are 
generally less than commercial rates but higher than borrowing from the 
PWLB.  
 

24



With this type of investment there is often expertise in specialist fields which 
can support the organisation requiring the investment.  From initial research 
most of the activity in this area has been focussed on projects providing 
accommodation to homeless people and/or people with poor mental health. 
 

Homes 
England or 
other 
partners 

Grants, contributions and/or joint initiatives may provide some contribution 
towards the funding to meet specific housing and care needs in the future. 

Section 106 
contributions 

There is currently a review taking place of the Section 106 requirements the 
Council makes of developers.  Historically, the Council has not asked for a 
contribution to fund accommodation for adult social care, but this has been 
addressed in the revised guidance and could potentially be a source of 
funding future provision. 
 

 
13. Over recent years the care market has changed significantly and with the 

introduction of the living wage and other legislative changes the differential 
between public and private sector pay and reward structures has reduced 
significantly.  This, combined with the successful commercial approach taken in 
some parts of the Council, means that a full range of options of how new 
accommodation provision could be developed will be considered as part of the 
full business case.  The table below sets out a range of delivery options that will 
be explored as part of the market engagement: 

 

Option Summary of opportunity 
 

Local 
authority 
commissions 
contractor, 
but design 
and manage 
the build 

Council officers have previous experience in undertaking housing 
developments and with this option the Council would retain control over the 
brief and design and have more scope to make alterations to the project. 
The Council would be able to specify accommodation design to meet the 
anticipated service user needs as defined by our work on demand.  The 
delivery of services within the accommodation could either be directly 
provided by the Council, a trading company or outsourced. 
 
However, internal design costs may be greater than if outsourced to a third 
party and there may need to be additional resources for any in-house 
design teams.  Any cost overruns and risks will ultimately be borne by the 
Council. 
 

Local 
authority 
commissions 
contractor to 
design and 
build 

This option could draw upon the design expertise and knowledge of 
contractors who may have particular experience of specific service user 
group's needs. External design may be less resource constrained and 
cheaper than in-house capacity and a contractor can be contract managed 
to build to a prescribed design and specification. In addition effective 
financial and contract management costs should be known and agreeable 
from the outset.  
 
However, success of the design is dependent on the provider expertise and 
competence, and/or the effectiveness of Council commission and contract 

25



management. External design capacity may be more expensive than in-
house provision and much of the risk of design issues still could be borne 
by the Council. 
 

Joint venture 
with 
developer 

There are a number of examples of local authorities entering into joint 
venture arrangements with developers to build accommodation. In some 
cases additional units are added onto the scheme and sold on the open 
market to subsidise the building of specialist units. Build costs can also be 
shared along with any revenue. The developer would bring significant 
commercial experience to the joint venture. 
 
It is likely that a greater proportion of the risk would be retained by the 
Council, particularly in terms of reputational risk; in addition, the final 
design of the scheme would have to be agreed between the different 
parties which may result in some compromises in terms of layout and 
quality. The exit strategy of the joint venture should also be considered 
before entering into any agreement. 
 

Joint venture 
with Housing 
Association/ 
Registered 
Social 
Landlord/ 
Care provider 

A number of large national housing associations and care providers are 
establishing joint venture partnerships with County Councils. The Council 
could form joint venture partnerships to build and operate new provision of 
accommodation. Any partners would bring significant experience and 
expertise in the design and building of accommodation which is not 
currently within the Council. 
The partnership could also extend to the provision of care services in the 
accommodation and also generate capital receipts by selling some unit of 
accommodation as well as providing care to self-funders. 
 

Developer 
design and 
builds 

This provides the Council with the least control over the type and cost of 
accommodation to meet the anticipated needs of Leicestershire residents 
now and in the future. However, the Council needs to engage with the 
market to make sure it understands the current and future supply so that it 
can amend and flex its own plan accordingly.  
 

 
The Public Information Notice (PIN) 
 
14. The PIN was issued on 24 October 2018.  Providers will be invited to complete 

a questionnaire to help shape the potential scheme and ensure consideration 
has been given to alternative delivery options. They will be reminded that this 
exercise is not a formal procurement process.  Providers will be asked to make 
contact with officers if they wish to discuss the proposals and a market 
engagement event will be held to feedback to the market the findings of the 
engagement. 

 
Resource Implications 
 
15. The capital investment requested from the Council will be identified in the full 

business case, but initial work to identify the total cost of creating the full range 
of accommodation based services required by 2037 is estimated at circa £200 

26



million.  The possible funding sources are detailed in the table below paragraph 
12. 

 
16. Although expected costs and benefits will be significantly influenced by findings 

from the PIN, some initial assumptions have been made on the possible 
revenue savings to adult social care through the use of accommodation based 
support services.  These have been calculated at an annual saving of £4,000 
per unit for supported living, £2,000 per unit for extra care, and £10,000 for 
residential care for working age adults. In addition to the revenue saving, there 
is a potential to generate income of £6,000 per unit for supported living and 
£5,000 per unit for extra care.  In total, it is estimated that the possible return on 
investment is between 4-9% for the different models of accommodation based 
support.  These assumptions will be further tested and refined through the 
market engagement. 

 
17. The Director of Corporate Resources and Transformation and the Director of 

Law and Governance have been consulted on the contents of this report. 
 
Timetable for Decisions  
 
18. The Committee will be provided with an update on the PIN engagement 

exercise and progress on the capital investment plan and strategic business 
case at its meeting on 11 March 2019. 

 
19. A further report will be submitted to the Cabinet in late spring 2019 which will 

detail the outcome of the PIN engagement exercise and present the capital 
investment plan and strategic business case for the future capital investment in 
adult social care accommodation for approval. 

 
Conclusion 
 
20. The Committee is invited to comment on the proposals to develop a capital 

investment plan for adult social care accommodation based support services. 
 
Background papers 
 

 Promoting Independence, Supporting Communities; Our vision and strategy for 
adult social care 2016–2020 
https://www.leicestershire.gov.uk/sites/default/files/field/pdf/2016/3/23/ASC_Strategy_2016_2020_0.pdf 

 Report to Cabinet: 16 October 2018 – Capital Investment into Adult Social Care 
Accommodation Based Support Services 

 
Circulation under the Local Issues Alert Procedure 
 
None. 
 
Equality and Human Rights Implications 
 
21. An Equality and Human Rights Impact Assessment (EHRIA) screening will be 

produced to support the development of the full business case.  It is anticipated 

27

https://www.leicestershire.gov.uk/sites/default/files/field/pdf/2016/3/23/ASC_Strategy_2016_2020_0.pdf


that the development of accommodation based support will have a positive 
impact overall.  

 
Appendix 
 
Capital Investment Plan Adult Social Care Accommodation Based Support 2019-
2037 
 
Officers to Contact 
 
Jon Wilson, Director of Adults and Communities 
Adults and Communities Department 
Telephone: 0116 305 7454 
Email: jon.wilson@leics.gov.uk 
 
Sandy McMillan 
Assistant Director (Strategic Services) 
Adults and Communities Department 
Tel: 0116 305 7752 
Email: sandy.mcmillan@leics.gov.uk 
 

28

mailto:jon.wilson@leics.gov.uk
mailto:sandy.mcmillan@leics.gov.uk


 

 

Capital Investment Plan 

Adult Social Care 
Accommodation Based Support 

2019- 2037 

  

29



Case for change  

• Increasing demographic pressures and reducing resources 

• ASC strategy to maximise independence and support people at home or 

as close to home as possible 

• Active, healthy engaging communities lead to reduced reliance on health 

and social care services, yet provision of different models of housing and 

support options remain underdeveloped in the UK 

• Care Act requires Councils to shape the whole market ensuring adequate 

provision for all, including for those people who fund their own care and 

support needs 

• Limited public knowledge of the housing and support options available 

• Limited supply of housing and support options offering a mix of tenure 

types 

30



Aims and Objectives 

Improve service user outcome - Support the ASC commissioning strategy by 

promoting independence and avoiding long term institutional care by having a 

range of more suitable options. 

Shape the market and ensure capacity – Have greater control in and design of 

property development for use as social housing and accommodation based 

support services (market shaping and development) and determine the most 

suitable locations based on local intelligence (housing needs analysis). 

Contain demand growth - Manage demand by delaying and reducing the need for 

care by LCC having a greater influence over the development of the care market 

ensuring it has the right mix of services to meet local demographic need. 

Contain cost pressures – Transfer the emphasis from revenue expenditure (due to 

austerity measures) to improved use of capital expenditure as well as support cost 

avoidance of exorbitant hotel costs incurred in purchase of residential /other 

specialist care/support. 

Generate income - Get a Return On Investment and therefore generate income to 

offset challenges of austerity on available budgets.  

 

 

 
 

31



How we intend to deliver the aims: 

 

• By developing and enabling housing and care options that are 

aspirational, attractive and affordable with a range of tenure options.  

 

• Facilitating and encouraging innovative approaches based on best 

practice and learning from others. 

 

• Working with partners to increase housing and care choices 

 

• Exploring the full range of market leverage options available to realise the 

ambition (investment, S106, assets…) 

 

• Ensure that residents of Leicestershire are widely informed of the range of 

housing options available and the different models of support.   

32



Types of accommodation 

 

 

 

 

 

.   

 

 

Mainstream Housing 

Individual homes to buy or rent.  Not designated for specific users; Lifetime 

Homes include age friendly features, wheelchair housing is specially 

designed.  Care and Support available within the community 

Specialised Housing 

Groups of homes (usually flats) to buy or rent with care /support 

available within the community.   

Eg, sheltered housing, retirement housing, downsizer housing.  

Registered Accommodation 

Eg. Care homes / nursing homes 

Specialised Housing with Support 

Groups of homes (usually flats) to buy or rent with care 

/support on-site 

Eg, extra care housing, retirement village, supported 

living.  

33



Population Change Forecasts 2017-2037 

0

20,000

40,000

60,000

80,000

100,000

120,000

140,000

2017 2022 2027 2032 2037

Age 20-65 

Blaby Charnwood

Harborough Hinckley and Bosworth

Melton North West Leicestershire

Oadby and Wigston Out of County

0

10,000

20,000

30,000

40,000

50,000

60,000

70,000

2017 2022 2027 2032 2037

Age 65+ 

Blaby Charnwood

Harborough Hinckley and Bosworth

Melton North West Leicestershire

Oadby and Wigston Out Of County

34



2018 - District Analysis of current placements 

Based on current availability of services there is an identified shortage of: 

• Supported Living in Blaby, Harborough, Melton, NW Leics 

• Extra Care in Hinckley and Bosworth, NW Leics, Oadby and Wigston (but 

demographic pressure will require more Extra Care in all areas) 

• 339 people in residential care out of county 
 

35



Strategic Change & Placement Impact 

District Nursing Residential Supported Living Extra Care 

2017 2027 2037 2017 2027 2037 2017 2027 2037 2017 2027 2037 

Blaby 27 29 32 193 166 183 32 74 81 77 184 202 

Charnwood 102 113 129 374 336 383 93 180 206 33 226 258 

Harborough 32 36 41 164 146 168 26 62 72 25 121 139 

Hinckley & 

Bosworth 

46 50 55 265 223 245 65 116 128 0 136 150 

Melton 17 18 20 109 90 101 39 55 61 36 96 108 

NW Leics. 52 56 62 190 163 182 25 64 71 0 109 121 

Oadby & 

Wigston 

15 16 17 152 121 132 40 64 70 0 83 90 

TOTALS 
(including current 

OOA) 365 398 445 1784 1379 1544 339 668 748 211 1068 1194 

• Proposed significant strategic changes 
– Increase the proportion of under 65s accommodated in Supported Living 

instead of requiring Residential (15% change target) 

– Increase the proportion of over 65s accommodated in Extra Care instead of 

requiring Residential (30% change target) 

36



Estimated build costs to meet need 

District 
Supported 

Living 
Extra Care 

2027 £m 2037 £m 2027 £m 2037 £m 

Blaby 5.6 6.5 17.1 20.0 

Charnwood 11.6 15.0 30.9 36.0 

Harborough 4.8 6.1 15.4 18.2 

Hinckley & Bosworth 6.8 8.4 21.8 24.0 

Melton 2.1 2.9 9.6 11.5 

NW Leics. 5.2 6.1 17.4 19.4 

Oadby & Wigston 3.2 4.0 13.3 14.4 

Total (Excluding OOA) 39.2 49.1 125.4 143.5 

TOTALS (including current 

OOA) 
43.8 54.4 137.1 157.3 

 

Residential/Nursing 

Working Aged Adults – targeting a small number of places for working aged adult residential places is 

expected to provide a return through providing an alternative to high cost independent provision.  It is 

assumed that 30 places would be needed by 2027 rising to 40 by 2037; the estimated build cost would be 

£3.3m and £4.4m respectively. The location is unknown at this time. 

Older People – opportunities are expected particularly at higher cost dementia places.  Potential 

numbers, build cost and possible returns will be informed by fee review process during Autumn/Winter 

2018. 

37



Potential savings/income 

2027 Potential Annual 

Returns 

2037 Potential Annual 

Returns 

Cumulative Units ASC 

saving 

Property 

income 

Total ASC 

saving 

Property 

income 

Total 

2027 2037 £m £m £m £m £m £m % 

Supported Living 329 409 
                   

1.3  

                   

2.0  
3.3 

                   

1.6  

                   

2.5  
4.1 7.4% 

Extra Care 857 983 
                   

1.7  

                   

4.3 
6.0 

                   

2.0  

                   

54.9  
6.9 4.5% 

Residential – WAA 30 40 TBC 0.3 0.3 TBC 0.4 0.4 9.1% 

Assumptions: 
• Potential to save £4k per unit annually from ASC revenue through use of Supported Living 

for working age adults 

• Potential to save £2k per unit annually from ASC revenue through use of Extra Care 

• Potential income of £6k per unit annually for landlord/owner of Supported Living 

• Potential income of £5k per unit annually for landlord/owner of Extra Care 

• No saving from reducing levels of service commissioned (Newton Europe work) 

38



Additional benefits of Extra Care 

Good quality housing has demonstrable impacts on health and 

wellbeing  

Research by Aston University demonstrated benefits and reduced cost 

to both health and social care ; 

- Of the residents who arrived at Extra Care in a pre-frail condition 19% had 

returned to a resilient state. 

- Routine GP appointments fall by 46% after a year 

- After 18 months residents experienced 10% improvement in their 

autobiographical memory 

- NHS costs reduced by 38% over 12 months by reduction in health contacts 

(GPs, A&E, district nurses) 

Design and build can foster integration into the wider community ; 

social interactions combat negative impact of loneliness 

Mixed tenure schemes can provide an option for older homeowners 

39



Options to Consider 

 

 

 

 

Funding Options Build and Delivery Options 

• Leicestershire County Council Investment 

• Joint Venture Funding 

• Developer Funding 

• Local Housing Company 

• Social Funding 

• Homes England or other partners 

• District contributions eg. Right to buy 

receipts 

• S106 Funding 

  

  

  

  

• Commission contractor but design and 

manage the build 

• Commission contractor to design and build  

• Joint Venture with developer 

• Joint venture with Housing 

Association/Registered Social Landlord/ 

Care provider 

• Developer designs and builds  

• Partnership with Districts 

• In-house delivery 

• Procurement of care provider 

  

40



Learning from other areas 

Local Authority 

  

Summary of Approach 

North Yorkshire  Roll out of extra care to all major towns and locations (22 schemes) 

 Investment: An initial £9m capital funding contribution in the extra care programme 

alongside Council sites 

 Framework approach to recruiting development partners 

  

Warwickshire  Overall need for approx. 4500 units, inc 25% rental; 550 as direct  alternative to residential 

care.  

 Framework Partnership – inc Housing 21 

 Investment: 6 Council sites spread out across the County in 4 Districts 

 Mixed tenure approach to developments 

  

Worcestershire  Projected need of approximately 4000 housing units for older people by 2026 across all 

tenures 

 Plans to develop 12 extra care schemes in all key towns   

 Seeking at least 2 large scale retirement villages 

 Investment: initial £5m capital funding contribution available to support 

 specialised housing development and Council sites in future 

  

Oxfordshire  2016 onwards have plans for further 1400 units of extra care at various strategic and 

brownfield sites 

 Strategy based on: Replacement for most residential care, a different ‘care at home’ choice 

and prevention / wellbeing 

  

41



Next Steps  

• Seek CMT and Cabinet approval to issue a Prior Intention 

Notice (PIN) to engage with the market to: 

–Outline estimated current and future demand  

–Test market interest and experience of different models 

–Test our required outcomes and success criteria. 

–Test our assumptions 

• Contact other authorities to capture key learning 

• Establish required resources to develop business case 

including commissioning, property, care pathway, finance, 

commercial, public health, legal, communications, project 

management.  

• Develop a full strategic business case 

 

 

  

 

 

42



 
 

ADULTS AND COMMUNITIES OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE: 6 NOVEMBER 2018 

 
ADULT SOCIAL CARE TARGET OPERATING MODEL 

 
JOINT REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF ADULTS AND COMMUNITIES 

AND THE DIRECTOR OF CORPORATE RESOURCES AND 
TRANSFORMATION 

Purpose of Report 

 
1 The purpose of this report is to advise the Committee of the output of an assessment 

informing the development of a future target operating model for adult social care in 
Leicestershire, and to inform of the next steps in implementing the model. 

Policy Framework and Previous Decisions 

 
2 The Adults and Communities Department is engaged in multiple streams of work to 

integrate services with health bodies. During 2017, services were restructured in 
support of the new locality arrangements for integrated health and care services 
across Leicestershire. The Department has been instrumental in addressing the high 
impact changes for delayed transfers of care. 

 
3 Leicestershire County Council’s Strategic Plan 2018-22, ‘Working together for the 

benefit of everyone’ has been developed by the Council to focus on the issues that 
will make life better for people in Leicestershire.  

 
4  Five strategic outcomes describe the Council’s vision for people in the county: 

 

 Strong Economy: Leicestershire’s economy is growing and resilient so that people 
and businesses can fulfil their potential; 

 Wellbeing and Opportunity: The people of Leicestershire have the opportunities 
and support they need to take control of their health and wellbeing; 

 Keeping People Safe: People in Leicestershire are safe and protected from harm; 

 Great Communities: Leicestershire communities are thriving and integrated places 
where people help and support each other and take pride in their local area; 

 Affordable and Quality Homes: Leicestershire has a choice of quality homes that 
people can afford. 

 

5 A further strategic ‘enabling’ outcome supports the delivery of these objectives to 
ensure that the authority remains a sustainable and successful organisation leading 
modern, highly effective services. 
 

6 The Adult Social Care Strategy 2016-2020 underpins delivery of all the Council’s 
strategic outcomes, and provides the strategic context for the transformation and 

43 Agenda Item 10



delivery of adult social care services in Leicestershire.  The aim of the Strategy is to 
increase people’s independence, reduce the reliance on formal social care provision, 
and develop new ways of working to meet the demands going forward. It is focussed 
on preventing, reducing, delaying and meeting essential social care need. 

 
7 Local authorities have a duty arising from the Care Act 2014 to deliver joined up 

services for local people by integrating their services with health and other partners, 
both operationally and with respect to strategy and commissioning. The Department 
of Health and Social Care requires that each area has set a plan for integration 
between social care and the NHS for implementation by 2020/21. 

 
8 Other relevant policy framework includes: 
 

 Leicestershire Communities Strategy 2014; 

 Leicestershire County Council Medium Term Financial Strategy 2018/19-2021/22; 

 The Leicestershire Health and Care Integration Programme; 

 Better Care Together (the Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland Sustainability and 
Transformation Plan). 

Background 

 
9 In order to support Leicestershire’s vision for health and care integration, the Adults 

and Communities Department was reorganised at an operational level during 2017 to 
a locality based Care Pathway footprint, aligned with the new locality structures for 
primary care, in conjunction with Leicestershire Partnership NHS Trust’s Community 
Nursing Services and the County’s two Clinical Commissioning Groups. 

 
10 Having completed this restructuring, the Department is now reviewing other operating 

systems, processes and practice. It aims to articulate a new ‘target operating model’ 
to assure alignment to its strategic approach, improve service user experience, and 
operate as effectively and efficiently as possible. 

 
Financial Context 
 
11 Within the Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) 2018/19-2021/22 considered by 

the meeting of the County Council on 21 February 2018, the demands on adult social 
care services arising from demographic growth and increasing needs were noted. 
The profile of service users and their care needs are changing, which is likely to 
impact on the type and scale of services to be commissioned and/or the income 
received. 
 

12 The current MTFS includes a saving requirement of £50m over the four years to 
2021/22 of which £13m is still to be identified.  An additional year of austerity, growth 
and inflation causes a financial gap in the region of £10-£15m.This increases the 
MTFS shortfall to £20-£30m by 2022/23.  To help bridge the gap a number of 
initiatives are under development to generate further savings. The development of a 
target operating model will ensure that the Council can continue to manage demand 
within the context of financial constraints to keep services financially sustainable for 
the future. 

 
 
 

44



 
Diagnostic Assessment 
 
13 In order to appraise the current position for adult social care prior to developing a 

target operating model, the County Council commissioned independent specialist 
consultancy, Newton Europe, to undertake a diagnostic analysis in partnership with 
the service. 

 
14 The assessment comprised activity modelling, case reviews, frontline staff 

workshops, meeting with third party providers, financial analysis, and benchmarking 
against other local authorities, across services for both older adults and working age 
adults. 

 
15 The approach used was not about cutting services, but about placing the best and 

most independent outcome for the service user at the heart of any changes to enable 
joint improvement of outcomes, staff ways of working and financial performance. 

16 The outputs produced a set of evidence-based opportunities for the Department to 
consider, which were evaluated as follows: 

 

 Gaining a shared overall understanding of the rationale for the opportunities 
arising from analysis and their suitability and strategic fit; 

 Supporting local evidence; 

 Achievability of financial profiles; 

 An appraisal of how change could be implemented; 

 Validation or re-validation of assumptions and what a realistic target to aim for 
would be, led by financial and operational leads; 

 Most importantly, an understanding of how the opportunities would best help the 
authority to promote people’s independence and improve outcomes, and deliver 
the overall vision for adult social care. 

 
17  It should be noted that the diagnostic analysis was undertaken in the context that: 

 

 The County Council is already an efficient organisation with a good track record 
in delivering transformational change and savings; 

 There is a clear vision for adult social care, with a set of activities already in 
progress to deliver this vision; 

 Some elements of transformation and restructuring have already been carried 
out, with a view to moving to the new vision and a new target operating model for 
adult social care; 

 A range of efficiencies and savings from some of these activities are already 
profiled and assumed to be delivered within the existing MTFS period (identified 
in paragraph 27 below); 

 The outputs and findings have been reviewed, validated and iterated, in order to 
provide the Council with an evidence-based, realistic view of the opportunities 
that could be pursued, which extend beyond the Department’s existing plans. 

 
18 The diagnostic identified an initial long list of areas for further exploration. These were 

subject to further validation and prioritised into a short list for the Department and the 
Council corporately to consider. 

 
 

45



 
Proposals/Options 
 
Validation 
 
19 A gateway review workshop was held in September which was attended by 

representatives from across adult social care and corporate departments.  
 

20 This session assessed each opportunity in turn, seeking assurance on the validity of 
the operational and financial analysis, taking an initial view on the deliverability of 
each of the priorities, rating their potential impact, complexity and the likely timescale 
for realising the benefits, and confirming if the opportunity was an extension of 
existing work or represented a new area of work for the Department.  

 
Overview of the Proposals 

 
21 As a result of the gateway review, seven opportunities are being recommended for 

further work, with a view to implementation by the Department. The rationale for 
selecting these is that they will maximise the improvements that can be made to the 
Department’s target operating model, and support the Department to achieve and 
sustain a high level of performance across all its care pathways. 

 
22  Broadly, the seven opportunities can be categorised into three main themes: 
 

 Improvements to reablement and enablement approaches, for specific cohorts of 
service users; 

 Reducing variation in practice and improving decision making across practitioners 
for both older adults and working age adults; 

 Improved ways of working within the adult social care and supporting business 
function. 

 
23 It is important to highlight that the opportunities demonstrate a combination of 

potential benefits, spanning cost and demand avoidance, enhancing quality and 
outcomes for service users, improved productivity, and in some cases, releasing 
cashable savings. The total additional annual ongoing  benefits are estimated to be in 
the region of £8m, in addition to savings already planned within the current MTFS. 

 
24  The opportunities have been assessed for the ability to deliver on the following: 

 

 How, by focusing on further changes to practice, lasting cultural change can be 
achieved, this being such a critical part of delivering the Department’s vision and 
target operating model; 

 How, and in which services, should the Department support service users to 
access and achieve increased levels of reablement and independence; 

 How, and where, capacity could be released from within the Department’s existing 
resources, so that more hours can be directed to frontline care and help mitigate 
growth in demand; 

 How, and where, any potential further cashable savings could be identified, for 
consideration as needed, in the next phase of the Council’s MTFS; 

 How the approach used could be used to identify further opportunities across the 

broader Council services. 

 

46



Transformation Opportunities 

 
25  The opportunities within older adults’ services are judged to be as follows: 

 

OLDER 
ADULTS 

Description Estimated 
Financial 
Opportunity 

New Work or an 
Extension of Existing 
Work 

OA1 
Reablement 

Ensure additional people 
who could benefit from 
reablement are 
systematically identified 
and referred into the care 
pathway 
 
Make further 
improvements to the 
reablement care pathway 
and outcomes to ensure 
consistency 
 

£3,780,000 New 
 
Interdependency with 
existing work plans for 
HART and domiciliary 
care 

OA2 
Consistent and 
enhanced 
decision 
making 

Prevent inappropriate 
admissions to residential 
care  
 
Improve the consistency 
of allocating domiciliary 
care and direct payments 
 

£1,700,000 Extension of existing work 
(already within the MTFS) 

OA3 
Quality 
Improvements 

Improvements to the 
quality and consistency of 
assessments and reviews 
(across both the 
Customer Service Centre 
and locality based 
practitioners) 
 

£1,420,000 New 
 
Introduction of a focused 
workstream for the target 
operating model, which 
will affect a large number 
of staff culturally and 
operationally 
 

 
26  The opportunities within services for working age adults are considered to be: 
 

WORKING 
AGE ADULTS 

Description Estimated 
Financial 
Opportunity 

New Work  
Extension or change to 
Existing Work 

WAA1 
Enablement 

Improve the 
independence of an 
identified cohort of 
service users in the 
community 
 

£430,000 Extension to Existing  

47



WORKING 
AGE ADULTS 

Description Estimated 
Financial 
Opportunity 

New Work  
Extension or change to 
Existing Work 

WAA2 
Change to 
setting of care 

Move an identified cohort 
of people from residential 
care to supported living 
 

£740,000 Existing 
 
Dependency on capital 
programme and 
accommodation strategy 
 

WAA3 
Consistent and 
enhanced 
decision 
making  

Improve the consistency 
of allocating support 
packages to mental 
health and learning 
disability service users, 
and enable more 
independent living where 
appropriate 
 

£1,140,000 Change to existing work 

WAA4 
Quality  
Improvements 

Improvements to the 
quality and consistency of 
assessments and reviews 
(across both the 
Customer Service Centre 
and locality based 
practitioners) 
 

£1,240,000 New 
 
Introduction of a focused 
workstream for the target 
operating model, which 
will affect a large number 
of staff culturally and 
operationally 
 

 
27  The total opportunities can be summarised as: 

 
 

Estimated 
annual value 

Estimated cashable/demand offset savings 
(OA1, OA2, WAA1, WAA2, WAA3 above) 

£7,790,000 

Less savings already identified within MTFS 2018 £2,300,000 

Estimated total annual cashable savings £5,490,000 

Plus estimated total annual quality improvements  
(OA3, WAA4 above) 

£2,660,000 

  

Overall additional total annual savings and efficiency 
and quality improvements  

£8,150,000 

 
Assumptions and Dependencies 
 
28 The assumptions underpinning the opportunities included benchmarking with other 

authorities, applying confidence factors to the opportunities, eliminating any double 
counting across existing programmes and benefits, including those already in the 
Council’s MTFS, applying other local operational factors based on the operational 
and financial assessments of officers involved in the diagnostic work, and gateway 
review. 

 
29 The Council’s current MTFS includes programmed activity estimated to be in the 

region of £2.3m which will need to be netted off the estimated annual cashable 

48



savings outlined in paragraphs 25 and 26 above. The authority’s existing 
transformation projects and trajectories will be baselined alongside the potential new 
opportunities to be taken forward to inform the savings attributable to the new target 
operating model. 

 
30 The estimated quality improvement gain of £2.7m will be used to help improve 

outcomes for service users and underpins the ability to realise the cashable savings. 
Areas for improvement will include expanding the number of service users who 
receive an annual review of their care needs, more timely assessment and support 
planning, reducing  demand through promotion of independence,  and support to 
relieve pressures such as hospital discharges, transitions from children’s services 
and carers. 

 
31 At this stage of the analysis, the impact that implementing one opportunity could have 

on other parts of the care system, or on other parts of the authority’s transformation 
programme, have not been modelled or quantified. However, this was recognised at 
the gateway review session as something that should be addressed. For example, 
changes in settings of care may result in alternative support being required, but 
modelling the impact of this on the capacity of the specific alternative services 
affected, and the capacity of the market, will need further analysis during the delivery 
phase of the work. 

 
Resulting Change to Transformation Activities, Operations and Culture 
 
32 The proposed areas of work set out in these opportunities are, for the most part, in 

addition to existing and planned activity within adult social care and will entail a 
fundamental change to the ongoing transformation activity within the Department.  
 

33 This new proposed programme of work will be focused more on practice-based 
cultural change to improve quality and efficiency. The target operating model will 
therefore have significant implications for staff in terms of operational and cultural 
change. For example, there will be a much greater emphasis in their practice on 
maximising reablement and enablement with service users, a more robust and 
consistent approach to assessment and review, and a systematic adoption, and 
deeper understanding and appreciation of business intelligence and performance 
management methods, analysis and tools across all aspects of the Department’s 
business.  

 
34 The Department recognises the scale of the change that this will entail, and is 

presently appraising the internal capacity available, together with external support 
required to implement and sustain the change. 

 
Resource Implications 
 
35 The programme of work outlined in the report involves considerable service 

transformation. To succeed appropriate resources will need to be made available 
through the MTFS process. It is likely internal resources will be required in addition to 
the cost of a strategic development partner. 
 

36 The Director of Law and Governance has been consulted on the content of this 
report. 

49



Timetable for Decisions 

 
37 A detailed implementation plan is being prepared, which will be subject to the 

validation and agreement of the Director of Adults and Communities and Director of 
Corporate Resources, prior to consideration at the Cabinet on 23 November 2018. 
The report will seek approval to procure a strategic development partner to support 
the Department in its implementation of the target operating model, and to build 
transformation capacity and capability in the authority’s own workforce. 

Conclusion 

 
38 The new target operating model is being designed to improve service user 

experience, and to ensure that the Department operates as effectively and efficiently 
as possible. 

 
39 A diagnostic analysis and gateway review process undertaken between July and 

September 2018 resulted in seven areas of either new or expanded work for the 
County Council’s Adults and Communities Department to consider, which are given 
in paragraphs 25 and 26 above. 

 
40 The areas outlined are recommended by the Director of Adults and Communities and 

the Director of Corporate Resources and Transformation for inclusion in the Adults 
and Communities Department’s transformation programme, to support delivery of the 
vision and optimum target operating model for adult social care. 

 
41 The rationale for the recommendation is that these opportunities demonstrate 

additional benefits beyond the Department’s existing transformation activities in the 
areas of cost or demand avoidance, enhancing quality and outcomes for service 
users, improved productivity, and releasing cashable savings.  

 
42 The total estimated annual benefit from these areas of work is in the region of 

£10.44m, of which £2.3m has already been identified in the current MTFS and a 
further £5.49m is expected to be new cashable savings.  The work will necessitate a 
delivery plan of an estimated 16-18 months, with a phased release of the benefits 
spanning three financial years from 2019/20. 

 
43 The delivery of the work will require an additional allocation of resource and the 

support of an external strategic development partner. On 23 November 2018, the 
Cabinet will be asked to approve the proposed areas of transformation and resources 
for mobilising the changes required, including the procurement of external support. 

 
44 The Committee is asked to consider the assessment work undertaken and to 

comment on the areas of opportunity identified. 
 
Background Papers 
 

 Report to Cabinet: 5 February 2016 – Adult Social Care Strategy 2016 – 2020 - 
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/documents/g4599/Public%20reports%20pack%20Friday%2005-Feb-
2016%2014.00%20Cabinet.pdf?T=10 

 Report to Cabinet: 13 December 2016 – NHS Sustainability and Transformation Plan –  
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/documents/s125045/NHS%20Sustainability%20and%20Transformation%20Plan.pdf 

50

http://politics.leics.gov.uk/documents/g4599/Public%20reports%20pack%20Friday%2005-Feb-2016%2014.00%20Cabinet.pdf?T=10
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/documents/g4599/Public%20reports%20pack%20Friday%2005-Feb-2016%2014.00%20Cabinet.pdf?T=10
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/documents/s125045/NHS%20Sustainability%20and%20Transformation%20Plan.pdf


 Report to Cabinet: 8 February 2018 – Medium Term Financial Strategy 2018/19 – 
2021/22 - http://politics.leics.gov.uk/documents/g5177/Public%20reports%20pack%20Friday%2009-Feb-

2018%2011.00%20Cabinet.pdf?T=10  
 
Circulation under the Local Issues Alert Procedure 
 
45 None. 

Equality and Human Rights Implications 

 
46 Public authorities are required by law to have due regard to the need to: 

 

 Eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation; 

 Advance equality of opportunity between people who share protected 
characteristics and those who do not; 

 Foster good relations between people who share protected characteristics and 
those who do not. 

 
47 Aspects of the County Council’s MTFS, and the adult social care target operating 

model, may affect service users who have a protected characteristic under equalities 
legislation.  

 
48 An assessment of the impact of emerging proposals on the protected groups must be 

undertaken at a formative stage prior to any final decisions being made on activities 
within the future transformation programme. Such assessments will be undertaken in 
light of the potential impact of proposals and the timing of any proposed changes.  

 
49 Those assessments will be revised as the proposals are developed to ensure 

decision makers have information to understand the effect of any service change, 
policy or practice on people who have a protected characteristic. 
 

50 Specific proposals will be therefore be subject to robust engagement with service 
users and other people affected, and Equality and Human Rights Impact Assessment 
screening at the appropriate time. 

Other Relevant Impact Assessments 

Partnership working 
 
51 The delivery of adult social care relies on close partnership working, in particular with 

the NHS. The transformation programme for the Department includes activities which 
support the delivery of care and care packages to people who will be in receipt of 
both social care and NHS support. There are well established partnership 
arrangements operationally between NHS partners and the local authority including 
for hospital discharge and community based teams. 
 

52 The vision and target operating model for adult social care has been designed to 
deliver against the strategic outcomes of the Council as well as support the overall 
health and care integration developments in Leicestershire, and across Leicester, 
Leicestershire and Rutland as a whole. 

 
53 There will be opportunities through the work of the Leicestershire Integration 

Executive to improve joint commissioning and integrated service models with the 

51

http://politics.leics.gov.uk/documents/g5177/Public%20reports%20pack%20Friday%2009-Feb-2018%2011.00%20Cabinet.pdf?T=10
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/documents/g5177/Public%20reports%20pack%20Friday%2009-Feb-2018%2011.00%20Cabinet.pdf?T=10


NHS and transfer learning from the adult social care target operating model across 
agencies. 

 
Procurement 
 
54 Procurement implications are to be determined from an understanding of the internal 

and external resources required to deliver the target operating model programme. 
The report to the Cabinet on 23 November 2018 will seek approval to procure a 
strategic development partner to support the Department in delivering the proposed 
transformational change, and to embed relevant skills within the authority’s own 
workforce for the future. 

 
Officers to Contact 
 
Jon Wilson 
Director of Adults and Communities 
Adults and Communities Department 
Tel: 0116 305 7454 
Email: jon.wilson@leics.gov.uk 
 
Chris Tambini 
Director of Corporate Resources and Transformation 
Corporate Resources Department 
Tel: 0116 305 6199 
Email: chris.tambini@leics.gov.uk 

52

mailto:jon.wilson@leics.gov.uk
mailto:chris.tambini@leics.gov.uk


 
 

ADULTS AND COMMUNITIES OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 
6 NOVEMBER 2018 

 
PROGRESS WITH SMART LIBRARY IMPLEMENTATION 

 
REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF ADULTS AND COMMUNITIES  

 
Purpose of report 
 
1. The purpose of this report is to update the Committee of progress on the 

implementation of smart library technology. 
 
Policy Framework and Previous Decisions 

 
2. On 18 July 2016, the Cabinet approved the Communities and Wellbeing Strategy 

2016-20, “Providing Less: Supporting More” following a period of consultation.  This 
authorised the Director of Adults and Communities to develop a strategy 
implementation plan, subject to further reports being made to the Cabinet and this 
Committee.  Part of the implementation was the exploration of technology as a 
means of sustaining library services. 
 

3. In November 2016, the Cabinet authorised the Director of Adult and Communities to 
undertake a pilot of smart library technology at Syston library. 

 
4. On 22 February 2017, the Council approved a Medium Term Financial Strategy 

(MTFS) saving of £1.3 million for the Communities and Wellbeing Service to be 
delivered by 2020/21. 
 

5. On 12 September 2017, the Adults and Communities Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee considered a report, including the results of the Syston pilot and the full 
business case for smart libraries, which recommended that the Cabinet authorised 
the Director of Adults and Communities to implement smart library technology, where 
possible, within the following libraries: Ashby de la Zouch, Blaby, Birstall, Broughton 
Astley, Coalville, Earl Shilton, Glenfield, Hinckley, Loughborough, Lutterworth, Melton 
Mowbray, Oadby, Shepshed and Wigston Magna.  The Cabinet subsequently 
approved this recommendation on 15 September 2017. 

 
Background  
 
6. The installation of smart library technology enables residents to “swipe” their library 

card to obtain entry to and exit from a library and provides self-service kiosks for 
borrowing, returning and renewing items (including the payment of charges) without 
staff support.  This offers the potential for increasing opening hours, whilst enabling a 
reduction in staffing costs. 
 

7. The full business case, together with the experience collected from the Syston pilot, 
identified that the full implementation of smart library technology (including the 
replacement of existing self-service kiosks) would deliver an annual saving of 
£230,000, predominantly from a reduction in staffed hours.  In addition, it would 

53 Agenda Item 11



increase customer access to libraries through extending (unstaffed) opening hours by 
approximately 30 hours per week at each library. 

 
Progress 

 
8. Since September 2017, progress on the implementation of smart library technology 

has been as follows: 
 
Kiosk Replacement 
 
9. Between February and April 2018, 30 self-service kiosks at the Council’s 16 libraries 

were replaced and are now operational.  The kiosks enable library users to borrow, 
return and renew books, including the payment of charges through cash and card 
transactions. 

 
Smart Library Implementation  
 
10. Between April and October 2018, smart library technology has been installed at 10 

libraries (Birstall, Blaby, Broughton Astley, Earl Shilton, Glenfield, Hinckley, Oadby, 
Shepshed, Syston, and Wigston).  Installation for the remaining four libraries (Ashby 
de la Zouch, Coalville, Loughborough and Lutterworth) is due to be completed by the 
end of December 2018. 

 
11. To support the implementation of smart library technology, a CCTV monitoring 

service has been established by Leicestershire Traded Services (LTS), based at 
County Hall, to monitor customer activity in libraries during unstaffed opening hours.  
A service level agreement for this service is in the process of being agreed between 
LTS and the Communities and Wellbeing Service. 
 

12. Since the initial pilot of smart library technology at Syston library, provision has 
continued with an additional 30 unstaffed hours being provided each week.  The 
same extended opening hours have also been made available at Birstall library since 
August 2018.  
 

13. There are currently two libraries where the installation is not currently possible - 
Market Harborough and Melton Mowbray. 
 

14. The smart libraries business case identified that due to shared use arrangements 
and an open plan layout it would not be possible to implement the technology at 
Market Harborough library. 
 

15. Work is in progress to identify whether potential savings at Market Harborough library 
can be delivered through alternative means, for example though a reduction in 
opening hours, with a view to a recommendation being made to the Cabinet in 
January 2019 about this. 
 

16. In addition, the Council was obliged to seek permission from the Landlord for building 
adaptations at its leasehold properties at Glenfield, Lutterworth, Melton Mowbray and 
Oadby.  Of these, permission was declined by the landlord for Melton Mowbray 
library (Brooksby Melton College). 
 

54



17. Melton Mowbray library is located on the Brooksby Melton College campus.  Positive 
discussions have been ongoing with the college to identify options for the 
redevelopment of the existing site, or relocation of the library on the college campus 
as part of the emerging asset strategy.  It is too early to determine the outcome of 
these discussions, but it is anticipated that further information will be available for the 
Cabinet report in January 2019. 
 

18. Discussions have also been held with North West Leicestershire District Council 
(NWLDC) regarding plans to develop Ashby de la Zouch library as a 
community/cultural hub for the town.  This would bring closer together the library, 
museum and tourism functions shared between the two councils and volunteer 
organisations.   These plans are currently in exploratory stages and are unlikely to be 
confirmed before the end of the year.  Therefore the implementation of smart library 
technology at Ashby de la Zouch will continue.   

 
Staff Restructure 
 
19. In order to deliver the savings from the smart library implementation, an HR Action 

Plan was launched on 2 October 2018.  Following the end of the HR Action Plan 
consultation period on 8 November 2018, library service assistants will be recruited 
to new contracts based on the revised staffed opening hours.  These will become 
operational in April 2019. 

 
Consultation 
 
20. As part of the implementation, stakeholder engagement activity was undertaken from 

16 July to 12 August 2018 regarding the proposed staffed and unstaffed (smart) 
opening hours for each of the 14 libraries. 
 

21. The engagement took the form of 14 individual questionnaires (one for each of the 
affected libraries) detailing the proposed staffed and unstaffed opening hours for the 
library.  The surveys then asked members of the public to answer questions about 
their current use of the library and how the proposed changes to opening would 
affect this (see Appendix A to this report).  To assist in the completion of the 
questionnaires a Frequently Asked Questions document “What is a smart library” was 
provided (see Appendix B to this report). The questionnaire was available in print and 
online format and publicised within the libraries. 
 

22. In addition, all groups using the libraries, or organisations hiring rooms from the 
libraries were contacted and informed of how they could complete the survey.  
Contact was also made with a number of county wide organisations representing 
various equality groups, including RNIB, Mencap, Age UK, Vista, Mosaic and the 
Youth Parliament.  Officers also attended a meeting organised by Oadby and 
Wigston Residents’ Forum. 
 

23. A total of 457 responses were received with varying response rates across the 
libraries.  Overall 50% of respondents said that the revised hours would either make 
no difference to their use of the library or make them more likely to use it (includes ‘a 
lot more likely’ and ‘a little more likely’).   38% of respondents said they would be 
‘very’ or ‘somewhat’ likely to use the library during unstaffed (smart) opening hours. 
 

55



24. As a result of the outcome of the engagement, the proposed staffed and unstaffed 
opening hours were amended for Broughton Astley, Earl Shilton, Glenfield, 
Loughborough, Lutterworth and Shepshed libraries (see Appendix C to this report). 

 
Resource Implications 
 
25. An allocation of £1.01 million from the capital budget has been made to enable the 

implementation of smart library technology.  Current forecast anticipates a spend of 
£800,000.  This will enable revenue savings of approximately £230,000 per annum to 
be achieved via reductions in staffing and kiosk support and maintenance costs, 
offset against increased property related costs (utilities, CCTV monitoring) and 
additional costs for support and maintenance of smart library technology. 
 

Timetable for Decisions 
 
26. A report regarding progress on smart library implementation together with 

recommendations for Market Harborough and Melton Mowbray libraries will be 
submitted to the Cabinet on 15 January 2019. 

 
Conclusion  
 
27. Based on the information within this report, the service remains on schedule to 

deliver £230,000 savings from the implementation of smart library technology.  This is 
in addition to a range of non-financial benefits including increased access to libraries 
for local communities by extending opening (unstaffed) opening hours. 
 

28. The Committee is invited to comment on the progress of the implementation of smart 
library technology. 

 
Background Papers 
 

 Report to the Cabinet to County Council, 18th July 2016 “Communities and Wellbeing 
Strategy 2016-2020” - 
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/documents/s120759/Communities%20and%20Wellbeing%20
Strategy%202016-20.pdf 

 Report to the Cabinet to County Council, 23rd November 2016 “Progress Report on 
Implementation for Communities and Wellbeing Strategy 2016-2020” -
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/documents/s124248/Communities%20and%20Wellbeing%20
Strategy%202016-20%20Progress%20FINAL.pdf 

 Report of the Cabinet, 22nd February 2017 “Medium Term Financial Strategy 2017/18 – 
2020/21” - http://politics.leics.gov.uk/documents/s126527/MTFS%202017%20-2021.pdf 

 Report to the Adults and Communities Overview and Scrutiny Committee, 12th 
September 2017: 

 Report to the Cabinet to County Council, 15th September 2017 “Progress Report on 
Implementation for Communities and Wellbeing Strategy 2016-2020” - 
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/documents/s131563/Comms%20and%20Wellbeing%20Strat
egy.pdf 

 
Circulation under the Local Issues Alert Procedure 
 
29. This report has been circulated to all Members. 
 

56

http://politics.leics.gov.uk/documents/s120759/Communities%20and%20Wellbeing%20Strategy%202016-20.pdf
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/documents/s120759/Communities%20and%20Wellbeing%20Strategy%202016-20.pdf
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/documents/s124248/Communities%20and%20Wellbeing%20Strategy%202016-20%20Progress%20FINAL.pdf
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/documents/s124248/Communities%20and%20Wellbeing%20Strategy%202016-20%20Progress%20FINAL.pdf
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/documents/s126527/MTFS%202017%20-2021.pdf
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/documents/s131563/Comms%20and%20Wellbeing%20Strategy.pdf
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/documents/s131563/Comms%20and%20Wellbeing%20Strategy.pdf


Equality and Human Rights Implications 
 
30. An Equalities and Human Rights Impact Assessment has been completed for smart 

library implementation and is attached as Appendix D.  This indicates that the 
protected groups most likely to be affected are children and young people, and 
people with disabilities.  
 

31. Improvement plans are being completed for each library which will identify mitigating 
actions that reflect local circumstances and need.  To assist in this, the service has 
met with Vista, Leicestershire Equalities Challenge Group and the Adult Learning 
Curriculum Manager for students with learning disabilities to understand the impact 
and investigate potential mitigating actions. 

 
Appendices 
 

 Appendix A – Stakeholder Engagement Questionnaire 

 Appendix B – FAQ document “What is a Smart Library?” 

 Appendix C – Current and Revised Library Opening Hours 
 Appendix D – Equalities and Human Rights Impact Assessment  
 
Officers to Contact 
 
Jon Wilson, Director of Adults and Communities 
Adults and Communities Department 
Tel: 0116 305 7454 
Email: jon.wilson@leics.gov.uk 
 
Nigel Thomas, Assistant Director – Strategic Services 
Adults and Communities Department 
Tel: 0116 3057379 
Email: nigel.thomas@leics.gov.uk 

57

mailto:jon.wilson@leics.gov.uk
mailto:nigel.thomas@leics.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Have your say on the proposed self-access and 
staffed hours at XXX Library

‘Smart Library’ technology is currently being rolled out across 14 libraries in Leicestershire to 
enable library customers to access the building when there are no staff present. Smart Libraries 
work through remote control of library buildings, including automatic doors, lighting, self-service 
kiosks and public computers. This technology will enable us to keep libraries open, extend the 
opening hours and encourage more community use of library buildings.

Introducing self-access technology will allow us to increase opening hours whilst making savings 
at the same time by reducing staffed hours. We recognise that some library users might need 
more support in order to make full use of library facilities, so we are proposing to concentrate the 
staffed hours at times when these customers are more likely to use the service.

Where possible, we have tried to complement the staffed hours of nearby council run libraries so 
that when one is open in Smart Library mode, the other is staffed for the majority of that time.  

We are interested in your views on these proposed staffed hours and would appreciate it if you 
could spare 10-15 minutes to complete a survey about the proposed staffed hours for this library.

Thank you for your assistance. Your views are important to us.

Please note: Your responses to the main part of the survey (including your comments) may be 
released to the general public in full under the Freedom of Information Act 2000. Any responses to 
the questions in the 'About you' section of the questionnaire will be held securely and will not be 
subject to release under Freedom of Information legislation, nor passed on to any third party.

Q1 In what role are you responding to this survey? Please tick ALL applicable

I am a library user

I am a local resident

I am a member of library staff or library volunteer

I represent a stakeholder organisation or business

Other (please specify)

Please specify 'Other'

59



Q2 If you indicated that you represent a stakeholder organisation or business, please provide 
your details.

Name:

Role: 

This information may be subject to disclosure under the Freedom of Information Act 2000

Organisation:

Your library use

Q3 Over the last 12 months, how often on average have you visited...? Please tick one per row

This library

Several 
times a 
week

About once 
a week

About once 
a fortnight

About once 
a month

Every few 
months

About once 
a year

Less than 
once a 
year Never used

Another library

Q4 Over the last 12 months, how often on average have you done the following at this library...? 
Please tick one per row

Borrowed a book 

Several 
times a 
week

About 
once a 
week

About 
once a 

fortnight

About 
once a 
month

Every 
few 

months

About 
once a 
year

Less 
than 

once a 
year

Never 
used

Hired a DVD

Used the public computers

Used the printing/photocopying 
services

Used the library for 
study/reference/education

Accessed information 

Used the library space to meet 
people

60



Our proposals

We propose to introduce a revised pattern of opening hours for this library. Please see the 
supporting information for details.  

Q5 Would the revised pattern of opening hours (of staffed and self-access hours) make it easier 
or harder for you to...? Please tick one per row

Borrow a book 

Much 
easier

Somewhat 
easier

No 
difference

Somewhat 
harder

Much 
harder Don't know

Use the public computers

Use the printing/photocopying services

Use the library for 
study/reference/education

Access information 

Use the library space to meet people

Characters remaining: left

Why do you say this?

Q6 Would the revised pattern of opening hours (of staffed and self-access hours) make you 
more or less likely to use the library?

A lot more likely

A little more likely

No difference

A little less likely

A lot less likely

Don't know

61



Characters remaining: left

Why do you say this?

Q7 How likely are you to use the library during self-access (Smart Library) hours in the future?

Very likely

Somewhat likely

Somewhat unlikely

Very unlikely

Don't know

Characters remaining: left

Why do you say this?

Characters remaining: left

Q8 What, if any, concerns do you have about using the library when it is in self-access (Smart 
Library) mode?

Characters remaining: left

Q9 What, if any, advantages do you see of using the library during self-access (Smart Library) 
hours?

62



Characters remaining: left

Q10 Is there anything that could be done to make it more likely for you to use the library during 
self-access (Smart Library) hours?

Any other comments

Characters remaining: left

Q11 Do you have any other comments?

About you

Leicestershire County Council is committed to ensuring that its services, policies and practices 
are free from discrimination and prejudice and that they meet the needs of all sections of the 
community. 

We would therefore be grateful if you would answer the questions below. You are under no 
obligation to provide the information requested, but it would help us greatly if you did. 

Q12 What is your gender identity?

Male

Female

Other (e.g. pangender, non-binary etc.)

Q13 Is your gender identity the same as the gender you were assigned at birth?   

Yes

No

Q14 What was your age on your last birthday? (Please enter your age in numbers not words)

63



Q15 What is your full postcode? 
This will allow us to see how far people live from their local library. It will not identify your 
house.

Q16 Are you a parent or carer of a young person aged 17 or under?

Yes

No

Q17 If yes, what are the ages of the children in your care? Please tick all applicable  

0-4

5-10

11-15

16-17

Q18 Are you a carer of a person aged 18 or over?

Yes

No

Q19 Do you have a long-standing illness, disability or infirmity?

Yes

No

Q20 What is your ethnic group? Please tick one box only.

White

Mixed

Asian or Asian British

Black or Black British

Other ethnic group

Q21 What is your religion?

No religion

Christian (all 
denominations)

Buddhist

Hindu

Jewish

Muslim

Sikh

Any other religion

64



Q22 In total, how many cars or vans are owned or available for use by members of your 
household?   

None

One

Two

Three

Four or more

Don't know

Q23 What is your highest level of qualification you have obtained? 

No qualifications

GCSEs/O-levels or equivalent

A-levels or equivalent

Diploma in higher education

Lower degree or PGCE (e.g. BA or BSc etc)

Higher degree (e.g. MSc, Phd etc)

Professional, vocational or work-related 
qualifications

Other

Q24 Which of these activities best describes what you are doing at present? 

Employee in full-time job (30 hours plus per 
week)

Employee in part-time job (less than 30 hours 
per week)

Self employed full or part-time

On a government supported training 
programme - e.g. Modern Apprenticeship / 
Training for Work

Full-time education at school, college or 
university.

Unemployed and available for work

Permanently sick / disabled

Wholly retired from work

Looking after the home

Doing something else

Q25 Are you an employee of Leicestershire County Council?

Yes

No

Q26 Many people face discrimination because of their sexual orientation and for this reason we 
have decided to ask this monitoring question. You do not have to answer it, but we would be 
grateful if you could tick the box next to the category which describes your sexual orientation.

Bi-sexual

Gay

Heterosexual / straight

Lesbian

Other

Thank you for your assistance. Your views are important to us.

When this survey closes on 5 August 2018, we will analyse the results and use these to inform 
the future opening hours for this library once 'Smart Library' technology is installed and 
operational (date to be confirmed).

65



Please click the 'Submit' button to send your responses to us. Please click the button only once.

Data Protection: Personal data supplied on this form will be held on computer and will be used in accordance with 
the Data Protection Act 1998. The information you provide will be used for statistical analysis, management, 
planning and the provision of services by the county council and its partners. Leicestershire County Council will not 
share any information collected from the ‘About you’ section of this survey with its partners. The information will be 
held in accordance with the council’s records management and retention policy. Information which is not in the 
‘About you’ section of the questionnaire may be subject to disclosure under the Freedom of Information Act 2000.

66



 

 

What is a Smart 

Library? 
Answers to frequently asked questions about 

the changes taking place in your library 

 

 

67



 

 

Leicestershire Library Services recently took the decision to install smart 

library technology in 14 of its biggest libraries.  This technology will 

enable us to keep libraries open, extend the opening hours and 

encourage more community use of library buildings.  The decision 

followed a consultation on the Communities and Wellbeing Strategy 

which confirmed that respondents were supportive of the introduction of 

self-access technology as a new way of delivering library services.   

This booklet is designed to provide some answers to questions you may 

have about how this will work at your library. 

 

What is a smart library? 

A library fitted with ‘Smart Library’ technology is able to be open to library users 

without being staffed. The technology enables remote control of library buildings, 

including automatic doors, lighting, self-service kiosks and public computers. This 

allows us to significantly extend library opening hours, so more people can use the 

library at times that is convenient for them. 

 

How does it work? 

Library members can have their library card activated for use when the library is in 

self-access (Smart Library) mode. A short induction will be required before your 

library card is activated.  This induction will provide all the details you need on how 

the system works and how to use the Smart Library safely and responsibly. 

The induction will be available in a number of ways – in person at the library whilst 

the library is staffed, or as part of a dedicated induction session in the evening.  We 

are also intending to introduce an online induction in the near future.   

To access a Smart Library, you scan your library card at the door and enter your 

PIN.  The door will then open and you can use the library in the normal way.  15 

minutes before closure audio loud speaker announcements will begin warning that 

the library is due to close and the public computers will switch off 10 minutes before 

closure. Lights will go out once the library is closed. 

 

68



 

 

What can I do in a smart library? 

During Smart library hours you can: 

 Borrow, return and renew library items and pay charges using the self-service 

kiosks. 

 Collect reserved items that are awaiting collection at the reservation collection 

point and borrow them using the self-service kiosks. 

 Use the public PCs and free library WiFi 

 Print from the public PCs, photocopy and scan documents.  

 Access and browse the public library catalogue on public PCs 

 Meet as a group free of charge in the open library space 

 Hire a meeting room (pre booking required) 

 

What can’t I do in a smart library? 

During Smart library hours you won’t be able to: 

•  Make general enquiries and access staff support including help to use library        

facilities such as public computers, self-service kiosks and photocopiers.  

•  Make changes to your personal library membership details  

• Access public toilets unless you have a radar key.  Radar keys enable access 

to locked disabled toilets for people with a disability.  

• Access meeting rooms unless you have pre booked them 

• Access local studies reference collections.  

• Hire DVDs  

Services that are not available during Library Plus hours can still be accessed during 

staffed opening times. 

 

 

69



 

 

Who can access the library when it’s in smart mode? 

People aged 16 and over are eligible for smart library membership, unless they have 

been barred from using the library or are on a final warning.  Young people under the 

age of 16 can still access the library during smart hours but they will need to be 

accompanied by a parent or guardian over the age of 18. 

 

Does the introduction of smart library technology mean that the library will be 

open for 24 hours? 

No, currently the technology does not allow us to do this.  It is the intention at the 

moment to allow access no later than 9.30pm. Currently most libraries close at 5 or 

6pm. 

 

What if I need staff support to use the library? 

We recognise that there are customers who won’t be able to use the library in smart 

mode or who require the support of our staff in order to make full use of library 

facilities.   We will therefore make sure that customers can still access staff support 

most days of the week.   We will also plan the staffed hours so that when one library 

is in smart mode, a library nearby is being staffed. 

 

What about my safety when I’m in the library and there are no staff there? 

For your safety and security, all smart libraries will be monitored by CCTV during 

smart hours.  

 In addition, a phone will be on the library counter with the numbers available 

displayed next to it. This will include 999, 101 and the County Council property help 

desk in case of any problems with the library building. 

There will also be a first aid box provided for any minor injuries. 

During the induction you will be made aware of emergency evacuation procedures 

and the location of emergency exits.  All libraries will be fitted with fire alarms that will 

both sound and flash in the event of a fire. 

 

70



 

 

Will the library still hold events like author talks in the evenings? 

Yes - the smart library system is very flexible and will enable us to open up the 

library for evening events in the usual way.  Events can also take place during the 

allocated staffed hours during the day. 

 

Can I still hire a library room or have a meeting in the library? 

Yes in most cases room hire is still possible during smart library hours; if you speak 

to library staff they will be able to discuss this with you.  We view the library as an 

important community space and would encourage groups to meet in the public area, 

both in smart library and staffed hours.   Free space to hold meetings (for instance 

for book / craft or support groups) is often difficult to find in a community so we would 

like to encourage local residents to take advantage of the opportunity that extended 

opening hours will bring.  Please contact your library for further details. 

 

I am a student with the adult learning service, but my class is held in the 

library – how will this affect me? 

Leicestershire Adult Learning Service holds many classes in our libraries and we are 

in discussion with them about how classes will be run during smart library mode.  We 

do not foresee that this will present any major problems as we can adjust smart 

library times to reflect when the building needs to be open.  This will not affect any 

classes until after the summer of 2018. However if your class will be taking place in a 

library you will be required to register with the smart library service.    Details of this 

process will be shared at the time of your enrolment.  If you have any queries about 

how you will be affected please speak to your tutor. 

 

Has this technology been used anywhere else in the country? 

Smart access was first introduced in Denmark some years ago and many of their 

libraries now use it.  In the UK, a lot of public library authorities are starting to 

introduce smart technology, for instance in Peterborough all ten of their libraries 

have had smart libraries for a number of years now.  Managers from Leicestershire 

have visited a couple of authorities to learn from their experiences in preparation for 

the work in Leicestershire. 

71



 

 

 

Has the technology been tested anywhere in Leicestershire? 

Yes, Syston library had the technology fitted in March last year and has been 

operating as a smart library ever since.  A user survey was conducted after a 3 

month trial of the system which revealed a generally positive response and informed 

the decision to roll out the system across a further 13 libraries. 

 

Will my library be closed when the technology is installed? 

Yes, depending on the amount of work required, your library will be closed for 2-3 

weeks.  We will let you know 6 weeks in advance of closure through notices in the 

library, on our website and on social media.  

 

When will this affect my library? 

An up to date list of expected dates of closure for each library is available on our 

website www.leics.gov.uk/libraries 

 

How will you decide when the library will be staffed? 

In order to decide on the best hours for staffing we are taking the following things 

into consideration: 

•  Book borrowing and computer usage patterns by library for customer groups 

who may require additional support, eg children under 16, people over 60, 

people with a disability 

•   Existing activity in the library (eg Wriggly Readers, Shared Reading groups) 

•   Staffed hours at neighbouring libraries  

We will undertake engagement activities in each community to discuss these 

proposed hours 

 

 

72



 

 

What will happen to the staff? 

We recognise that staff are an important part of the service that libraries offer which 

is why we will be retaining a number of staffed hours at each library. However in the 

current financial climate we need to find a way of delivering the service differently in 

order to keep our libraries open whilst at the same time making savings. Any further 

consideration of this would only happen following consultation with staff and no 

decisions have been taken as to redundancies and numbers of redundancies. 

 

How do I register for smart library membership? 

If you are already a member of the library you can go into your library during staffed 

hours to request an induction.  The online induction will be available from the autumn 

of 2018, please visit our website for details www.leicestershire.gov.uk/smart-

libraries 

If you are not a library member you will need to join the library first you can do this in 

the library during staffed hours, or visit our website 

www.leicestershire.gov.uk/smart-libraries 

 

What if I have further unanswered questions? 

If you have a question or questions that we haven’t addressed in this leaflet, please 

contact smartlibraries@leics.gov.uk  

 

 

 

73

http://www.leicestershire.gov.uk/smart-libraries
http://www.leicestershire.gov.uk/smart-libraries
http://www.leicestershire.gov.uk/smart-libraries
mailto:smartlibraries@leics.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix C – Current and Revised Library Opening Hours 
 

Ashby  

Day Current Opening Hours 

  

Monday  10.00-17.00 

Tuesday 13.00-18.00 

Wednesday Closed 

Thursday 10.00-17.00 

Friday 10.00-17.00 

Saturday 10.00-15.00 

Sunday Closed 

Total Opening Hours 31.00 

 
 

Ashby 
      8am - 10am AM PM Evening* 

Monday  Smart 
Staffed 10am - 

1pm Smart 1pm - 5pm Smart  

Tuesday Smart  Smart 10am - 2pm Staffed 2pm - 5pm Smart  

Wednesday Smart all day 

Thursday Smart  Smart 10am - 2pm Staffed 2pm - 5pm Smart  

Friday Smart  
Staffed 10am - 

1pm Smart 1pm - 5pm Smart  

Saturday Smart  
Staffed 10am - 

2pm Smart 2pm - 6pm Smart  

Sunday Closed all day 

 
Birstall 

Day Current Opening Hours 

  

Monday  10.00-17.00 

Tuesday 10.00-17.00 

Wednesday Closed 

Thursday 10.00-17.00 

Friday 13.00-18.00 

Saturday 10.00-15.00 

Sunday Closed 

Total Opening Hours 31.00 

 
 

Birstall 
      8am - 10am AM PM Evening* 

Monday  Smart 
Staffed 10am - 

1pm Smart 1pm - 5pm Smart  

Tuesday Smart  Smart 10am - 2pm Staffed 2pm - 5pm Smart  

75



Wednesday Smart  
Staffed 10am - 
1pm Smart 1pm - 5pm Smart  

Thursday Smart  Smart 10am - 2pm Staffed 2pm - 5pm Smart  

Friday Smart all day 

Saturday Smart  
Staffed 10am - 

2pm Smart 2pm - 6pm Smart  

Sunday Closed all day 

 
Blaby 
 

Day Current Opening Hours 

  

Monday  13.00-18.00 

Tuesday 10.00-17.00 

Wednesday Closed 

Thursday 10.00-17.00 

Friday 10.00-17.00 

Saturday 10.00-15.00 

Sunday Closed 

Total Opening Hours 31.00 

 

Blaby 
      8am - 10am AM PM Evening* 

Monday  Smart Smart 10am - 2pm Staffed 2pm - 5pm Smart  

Tuesday Smart  
Staffed 10am - 

1pm Smart 1pm - 5pm Smart  

Wednesday Smart all day 

Thursday Smart  
Staffed 10am - 

1pm Smart 1pm - 5pm Smart  

Friday Smart  Smart 10am - 2pm Staffed 2pm - 5pm Smart  

Saturday Smart  
Staffed 10am - 

2pm Smart 2pm - 6pm Smart  

Sunday Closed all day 

 
Broughton Astley 

Day Current Opening Hours 

  

Monday  10.00-17.00 

Tuesday 10.00-17.00 

Wednesday Closed 

Thursday 13.00-18.00 

Friday 10.00-17.00 

Saturday 10.00-15.00 

Sunday Closed 

Total Opening Hours 31.00 

 
 

 

76



 

 

 Broughton Astley 
   

  8am - 10am AM PM Evening* 

Monday  Smart 
Staffed 10am - 

1pm Smart 1pm - 5pm Smart  

Tuesday Smart  Smart 10am - 2pm Staffed 2pm - 5pm Smart  

Wednesday Smart all day 

Thursday Smart  Smart 10am - 2pm Staffed 2pm - 5pm Smart  

Friday Smart  
Staffed 10am - 

1pm Smart 1pm - 5pm Smart  

Saturday Smart  
Staffed 10am - 

2pm Smart 2pm - 6pm Smart  

Sunday Closed all day 
 

 

 

 

  
Coalville 
 

Day Current Opening Hours 

  

Monday  10.00-18.00 

Tuesday 10.00-18.00 

Wednesday Closed 

Thursday 10.00-18.00 

Friday 10.00-18.00 

Saturday 10.00-16.00 

Sunday Closed 

Total Opening Hours 38.00 

 

Coalville 
      8am - 10am AM PM Evening* 

Monday  Smart 
Staffed 10am - 

1pm Smart 1pm - 5pm Smart  

Tuesday Smart  Staffed 10am - 5pm Smart  

Wednesday Smart  Staffed 10am - 5pm Smart  

Thursday Smart  Staffed 10am - 5pm Smart  

Friday Smart all day 

Saturday Smart  
Staffed 10am - 

2pm Smart 2pm - 6pm Smart  

Sunday Closed all day 

Earl Shilton 

Day Current Opening Hours 

77



  

Monday   10.00-17.00 

Tuesday 10.00-17.00 

Wednesday Closed 

Thursday 13.00-18.00 

Friday 10.00-17.00 

Saturday 10.00-15.00 

Sunday Closed 

Total Opening Hours 31.00 

  

Earl Shilton 
  

 
 
 
 

  8am - 10am AM PM Evening* 

Monday  Smart 
Staffed 10am - 

1pm Smart 1pm - 5pm Smart  

Tuesday Smart  Smart 10am - 2pm Staffed 2pm - 5pm Smart  

Wednesday Smart all day 

Thursday Smart  Smart 10am - 2pm Staffed 2pm - 5pm Smart  

Friday Smart  
Staffed 10am - 

1pm Smart 1pm - 5pm Smart  

Saturday Smart  
Staffed 10am - 

2pm Smart 2pm - 6pm Smart  

Sunday Closed all day 

 
 
Glenfield 

Day Current Opening Hours 

  

Monday   10.00-17.00 

Tuesday 13.00-18.00 

Wednesday 10.00-17.00 

Thursday Closed 

Friday 10.00-17.00 

Saturday 10.00-15.00 

Sunday Closed 

Total Opening Hours 31.00 

 

Glenfield 
      8am - 10am AM PM Evening* 

Monday  Smart Smart 10am - 2pm Staffed 2pm - 5pm Smart  

Tuesday Smart  
Staffed 10am - 

1pm Smart 1pm - 5pm Smart  

Wednesday Smart 
Staffed 10am - 

1pm Smart 1pm - 5pm Smart  

Thursday Smart all day 

Friday Smart  Smart 10am - 2pm Staffed 2pm - 5pm Smart  

78



Saturday Smart  
Staffed 10am - 

2pm Smart 2pm - 6pm Smart  

Sunday Closed all day 

 
Hinckley 

Day Current Opening Hours 

  

Monday   10.00-18.00 

Tuesday  10.00-18.00 

Wednesday  10.00-18.00 

Thursday Closed 

Friday 10.00-18.00 

Saturday 10.00-16.00 

Sunday Closed 

Total Opening Hours 38.00 

Hinckley 
      8am - 10am AM PM Evening* 

Monday  Smart Staffed 10am - 5pm Smart  

Tuesday Smart  
Staffed 10am - 

1pm Smart 1pm - 5pm Smart  

Wednesday Smart  Staffed 10am - 5pm Smart  

Thursday Smart all day 

Friday Smart  Staffed 10am - 5pm Smart  

Saturday Smart  
Staffed 10am - 

2pm Smart 2pm - 6pm Smart  

Sunday Closed all day 

 
 

Loughborough 
     8am - 10am AM PM Evening* 

Monday  Smart  
Staffed 10am - 

1pm Smart 1pm - 5pm Smart  

Tuesday Smart  Staffed 10am - 5pm Smart  

Wednesday Smart all day 

Thursday Smart  Staffed 10am - 5pm Smart  

Friday Smart  Staffed 10am - 5pm Smart  

Saturday Smart  
Staffed 10am - 

2pm Smart 2pm - 6pm Smart  

Sunday Closed all day 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

79



Lutterworth 
 

Day Current Opening Hours 

  

Monday   10.00-17.00 

Tuesday  13.00-18.00 

Wednesday  Closed 

Thursday 10.00-17.00 

Friday 10.00-17.00 

Saturday 10.00-15.00 

Sunday Closed 

Total Opening Hours 31.00 

 
 
 

Lutterworth 
     8am - 10am AM PM Evening* 

Monday  Smart 
Staffed 10am - 

1pm Smart 1pm - 5pm Smart  

Tuesday Smart  Smart 10am - 2pm Staffed 2pm - 5pm Smart  

Wednesday Smart all day 

Thursday Smart  
Staffed 10am - 

1pm Smart 1pm - 5pm Smart  

Friday Smart  Smart 10am - 2pm Staffed 2pm - 5pm Smart  

Saturday Smart  
Staffed 10am - 

2pm Smart 2pm - 6pm Smart  

Sunday Closed all day 

 
 
 
 
Oadby 
 

Day Current Opening Hours 

  

Monday   10.00-18.00 

Tuesday  10.00-18.00 

Wednesday  10.00-18.00 

Thursday Closed 

Friday 10.00-18.00 

Saturday 10.00-16.00 

Sunday Closed 

Total Opening Hours 38.00 

 

Oadby 
      8am - 10am AM PM Evening* 

Monday  Smart 
Staffed 10am - 

1pm Smart 1pm - 5pm Smart  

80



Tuesday Smart  Staffed 10am - 5pm Smart  

Wednesday Smart  Staffed 10am - 5pm Smart  

Thursday Smart all day 

Friday Smart  Staffed 10am - 5pm Smart  

Saturday Smart  
Staffed 10am - 

2pm Smart 2pm - 6pm Smart  

Sunday Closed all day 

 
 
 
 
 
Shepshed 
 

Day Current Opening Hours 

  

Monday   13.00-18.00 

Tuesday  10.00-17.00 

Wednesday  Closed 

Thursday 10.00-17.00 

Friday 10.00-17.00 

Saturday 10.00-15.00 

Sunday Closed 

Total Opening Hours 31.00 

 
 

Shepshed 
     8am - 10am AM PM Evening* 

Monday  Smart all day 

Tuesday Smart  Smart 10am - 2pm Staffed 2pm - 5pm Smart  

Wednesday Smart 
Staffed 10am - 

1pm Smart 1pm - 5pm Smart  

Thursday Smart Smart 10am - 2pm Staffed 2pm - 5pm Smart  

Friday Smart  
Staffed 10am - 

1pm Smart 1pm - 5pm Smart  

Saturday Smart  
Staffed 10am - 

2pm Smart 2pm - 6pm Smart  

Sunday Closed all day 

 
 
Syston 

Day Current Opening Hours 

  

Monday   10.00-17.00 

Tuesday  13.00-18.00 

Wednesday    Closed 

Thursday 10.00-17.00 

Friday 10.00-17.00 

81



Saturday 10.00-15.00 

Sunday Closed 

Total Opening Hours 31.00 

 

Syston 
      8am - 10am AM PM Evening* 

Monday  Smart Smart 10am - 2pm Staffed 2pm - 5pm Smart  

Tuesday Smart  
Staffed 10am - 

1pm Smart 1pm - 5pm Smart  

Wednesday Smart all day 

Thursday Smart  
Staffed 10am - 

1pm Smart 1pm - 5pm Smart  

Friday Smart  Smart 10am - 2pm Staffed 2pm - 5pm Smart  

Saturday Smart  
Staffed 10am - 

2pm Smart 2pm - 6pm Smart  

Sunday Closed all day 

 
 
Wigston Magna 
 

Day Current Opening Hours 

  

Monday 10.00-18.00 

Tuesday 10.00-18.00 

Wednesday 10.00-18.00 

Thursday 10.00-18.00 

Friday Closed 

Saturday 10.00-16.00 

Sunday Closed 

Total Opening Hours 38.00 
 

Wigston 
      8am - 10am AM PM Evening* 

Monday  Smart Staffed 10am - 5pm Smart  

Tuesday Smart  
Staffed 10am - 

1pm Smart 1pm - 5pm Smart  

Wednesday Smart  Staffed 10am - 5pm Smart  

Thursday Smart  Staffed 10am - 5pm Smart  

Friday Smart all day 

Saturday Smart  
Staffed 10am - 

2pm Smart 2pm - 6pm Smart  

Sunday Closed all day 

 

82



1 
 

 

Equality & Human Rights Impact Assessment (EHRIA) 
 

This Equality and Human Rights Impact Assessment (EHRIA) will enable you to 
assess the new, proposed or significantly changed policy/ practice/ procedure/ 
function/ service** for equality and human rights implications.  
 
Undertaking this assessment will help you to identify whether or not this policy/ 
practice/ procedure/ function/ service** may have an adverse impact on a particular 
community or group of people. It will ultimately ensure that as an Authority we do not 
discriminate and we are able to promote equality, diversity and human rights.  
 
Before completing this form please refer to the EHRIA guidance, for further 
information about undertaking and completing the assessment. For further advice 
and guidance, please contact your Departmental Equalities Group or 
equality@leics.gov.uk  
 
**Please note: The term ‘policy’ will be used throughout this assessment as 
shorthand for policy, practice, procedure, function or service. 

 

 

Key Details 
 

Name of policy being assessed: 
 
 
 

Implementation of Smart Library technology 

Department and section: 
 
 
 

Adults & Communities, 
Communities & Wellbeing Service.  

Name of lead officer/ job title and 
others completing this assessment: 

 
 

Linsey Vincent 
Project Manager 
Transformation Unit 
 
Liz Evans  
Locality Manager 
Communities and Wellbeing 

Contact telephone numbers: 
 
 
 

0116 305 6155 

Name of officer/s responsible for 
implementing this policy: 

 
 

Nigel Thomas 
Head of Service 
Communities & Wellbeing 

Date EHRIA assessment started: 
 
 
 

20th December 2016 

Date EHRIA assessment completed: 
 

 

83

http://intranet/us_and_partners/equality_and_diversity/equality_and_diversity_groups_and_meetings.htm
mailto:equality@leics.gov.uk


2 
 

 

 

Section 1: Defining the policy 
 

 
Section 1: Defining the policy  
You should begin this assessment by defining and outlining the scope of this policy. 
You should consider the impact or likely impact of the policy in relation to all areas of 
equality, diversity and human rights, as outlined in Leicestershire County Council’s 
Equality Strategy. 
 

 

1 What is new or changed in this policy? What has changed and why? 
 
Smart library technology allows a library to open and function in self-service mode by: 

1. Enabling customers to “swipe” their library card to obtain entry to and exit from 
the library when staff are not present. 

2. Provision of self-service issue and discharge kiosks which enable customers 
to borrow, return and renew items (including the payment of charges). 

 
This enables reductions in staffing requirement and the delivery of associated savings 
whilst also offering the potential to increase opening hours.  
 
Self-service issue and discharge kiosks have been in place in the council’s 16 market 
town and shopping centre libraries since 2009/10 and the current contract for their 
provision expires at the end of February 2018.  However, due to “wear and tear” and 
future support and maintenance costs these kiosks now require replacement. 
 

2 Does this relate to any other policy within your department, the Council or with 

other partner organisations? If yes, please reference the relevant policy or EHRIA. 

If unknown, further investigation may be required. 

The implementation of smart library technology contributes to MTFS line AC21 – 
Implementation of the Revised C&W Service.  Smart libraries are one of the 
transformation projects to be delivered as part of the delivery of AC21. 

The delivery of AC21 is informed by the Communities & Wellbeing Strategy 
(“Providing Less: Supporting More – Our Vision and Strategy for Communities & 
Wellbeing 2016-20) which was approved by Cabinet in July 2016. 

The strategy identifies that exploring “the use of technology to increase self-service at 
some venues” is one of the ways in which people can be supported to access 
services.  

3 Who are the people/ groups (target groups) affected and what is the intended 
change or outcome for them?  
 
Potentially, all current and future users of the Council’s market town and shopping 
centre libraries will be affected.  The likely changes or outcomes for users are: 

1. Improved performance, reliability and user friendliness of self service kiosks. 
2. Increased accessibility of the library due to increased opening hours. 
3. Increased opportunities for libraries to be used as a meeting space for 

community groups due to increased opening hours.  
4. Availability of contactless card payment facilities at self service kiosks. 

84



3 
 

5. Requirement to register and receive an induction in order to access the library 
when it is operating in self-access mode. 

6. Access to support from library staff during staffed hours only. 
 
However, in order to test both the technology and the potential outcomes for users 
and staff, an early implementation of smart library technology at Syston Library was 
proposed by the C&W Strategy Board in May 2016.  This was subsequently agreed 
by Cabinet in November 2016.  The early implementation started on 14th March 2017. 
 
It is anticipated that the protected groups who will be most affected by the strategy 
are: 
 

 Older people: who may be reluctant to use the self-access technology 
 

 Children under 16: who due to safeguarding issues would not be able to 
register for use of self service, and would not be able to gain access to the 
library in self-access mode unless accompanied by a responsible adult. 
 

 People with disabilities 
 

4 Will this policy meet the Equality Act 2010 requirements to have due regard to 
the need to meet any of the following aspects? (Please tick and explain how) 

 Yes No How? 

Eliminate unlawful 
discrimination, 
harassment and 
victimisation 

 
 
 
 
 

X  

Advance equality 
of opportunity 
between different 
groups 

 
X 
 
 
 

 The Council’s market town and shopping 
centre libraries are available to all 
Leicestershire residents. The implementation 
of smart library technology will enable the 
continued provision of targeted support 
and/or services for specific groups.   Without 
this groups might not otherwise be able to 
access these services. 

Foster good 
relations between 
different groups 

X 
 
 
 

 The Council’s market town and shopping 
centre libraries are available to all 
Leicestershire residents thereby attracting 
people from different communities and 
groups.  

 
 

Section 2: Equality and Human Rights     
Impact Assessment (EHRIA) Screening 
 

Section 2: Equality and Human Rights Impact Assessment Screening 
The purpose of this section of the assessment is to help you decide if a full EHRIA is 
required.  
 
If you have already identified that a full EHRIA is needed for this policy/ practice/ 
procedure/ function/ service, either via service planning processes or other means, then 

85



4 
 

please go straight to Section 3 on Page 7 of this document.  

 

Section 2  
A: Research and Consultation  

5. Have the target groups been consulted about the 
following?  
 

a) their current needs and aspirations and what is 
important to them; 
 

b) any potential impact of this change on them 
(positive and negative, intended and unintended); 

 
c) potential barriers they may face 

 

Yes No* 

 
 
 

X 

 
 

 

X 

 
 
 

X 

6. If the target groups have not been consulted directly, 
have representatives been consulted or research 
explored (e.g. Equality Mapping)? 
 

X  

7. Have other stakeholder groups/ secondary groups (e.g. 
carers of service users) been explored in terms of 
potential unintended impacts? 
 

 X 

8. *If you answered 'no' to the question above, please use the space below to outline 
what consultation you are planning to undertake, or why you do not consider it to 
be necessary. 
 

A formal 12 week consultation on the draft Communities and Wellbeing Strategy 
was held between 8th February and 2nd May 2016.  This consultation included a 
survey questionnaire, stakeholder events and a public event.  In addition a 
designated telephone helpline and email address to enable people to receive 
further information about the consultation, support to complete the survey 
questionnaire or register any comments.  
 
The consultation identified that: 

 People place a high value on services.  Libraries were valued (a great deal 
or to some extent) by 96% of respondents. 

 44.3% of respondents agreed with the option to introduce self-access 
technology to allow access to library venues.  This is compared with low 
levels of support (less than 25%) for reducing the number of council 
libraries and/or opening hours.  This option may need to be considered 
should a decision be made not to implement smart library technology or if it 
does not deliver the required level of savings.  

 Supporting children’s learning and vulnerable people were identified as key 
areas of activity. 

 Respondents identified that the introduction of self-access technology may 
present barriers for some groups such as older people or those with 
disabilities.  

 
In addition, council officers have been working with colleagues from Peterborough 
City Council and Stockport Council to share experiences and lessons learned 
regarding the implementation of smart library technology.  

86



5 
 

 
During the early implementation of smart library technology at Syston library 
feedback will be sought from those registering as “smart library users”.  This will 
provide information about users’ experiences and help to identify any potential 
barriers to using the library.  
 
This feedback received will be used to inform the report to Cabinet in Autumn 
2017 regarding the Syston early implementation and recommendations regarding 
the wider implementation of smart library technology.  

 

Section 2 
B: Monitoring Impact 

9. Are there systems set up to: 
 

a) monitor impact (positive and negative, intended 
and unintended) for different groups; 
 

b) enable open feedback and suggestions from 
different communities 

Yes No 

X  

X 
 

 

Note: If no to Question 8, you will need to ensure that monitoring systems are 
established to check for impact on the protected characteristics. 

Section 2 
C: Potential Impact 

10.  
Use the table below to specify if any individuals or community groups who identify 
with any of the ‘protected characteristics’ may potentially be affected by this policy 
and describe any positive and negative impacts, including any barriers.   
 

 Yes No Comments 
 
 

Age 
 
 

X  Analysis of library user data 
indicates that 36% of all users of 
market town and shopping 
centre libraries are aged 0-17.  
In comparison 20% of all library 
users are aged 60 plus.   
 
The Smart Libraries Project 
Board has agreed that in order 
to mitigate risks relating to 
health and safety and the 
safeguarding of children and 
young people, it will not be 
possible for under 16s to 
register as “smart library users” 
However, they would be able to 
visit the library with a registered 
user aged over 16 during these 
times. 
 
In addition, increased library 

87



6 
 

opening hours as a result of 
self-access would provide 
additional opportunities for 
young people to visit the library 
(e.g. with a parent/carer before 
school).  
 
Therefore, consideration would 
need to be given to the timings 
of staffed opening hours to 
consider the possible 
correspondence with those 
times children and young people 
use the library the most.  
Analysis of library user data 
indicates that this would be 3-
5pm. 
 
Similarly, analysis indicates that 
older people, who may require 
additional support to use self-
access technology, are more 
likely to use the library between 
10am – 12 noon.  Again, the 
library service would need to 
take this into account when 
making decisions on staffed 
opening hours.  
 
In addition, attention should also 
be paid to formatting of 
information and other materials 
regarding smart library 
technology in order to effectively 
engage with users of different 
age groups. 

Disability 
 

 

X  Analysis of library user data 
indicates that 3% of all users of 
market town and shopping 
centre libraries identify being 
disabled.    
 
Therefore, in order to provide 
the necessary support to 
disabled users, the service 
would need to take this into 
account when deciding on 
staffed opening hours.  Analysis 
of library user data indicates that 
this would be 10am -12 noon or 
3-5pm. 
 

88



7 
 

However, extending (unstaffed) 
opening hours has the potential 
to increase accessibility for 
some disabled users by 
enabling them to use the library 
at times that meet their needs. 
For example, those with learning 
disabilities or autistic spectrum 
disorders may prefer to use the 
library at the beginning or end of 
the day when it is less busy.  
 
In addition, attention should also 
be paid to formatting of 
information and other materials 
regarding smart library 
technology in order to effectively 
engage with users with different 
types of disability.  
 
Attention should also be paid to 
the health and safety risks 
associated with people with 
disabilities accessing the 
libraries if there are no members 
of staff present in the event of 
an emergency. 

Gender Reassignment 
 

  

X  Analysis of current library user 
data suggests that there are 4 
users who identify as 
transgender.   
 
Extending opening hours could 
increase or decrease 
accessibility for transgender 
users by impacting on feelings 
of vulnerability and preferences 
about when to use the library. 

Marriage and Civil 
Partnership 

 

 X No disadvantage identified. 

Pregnancy and Maternity 
 

 

X  Libraries provide a useful 
information point for women in 
pregnancy and during maternity. 
Although this type of information 
may be provided elsewhere e.g. 
GP surgeries, 
pregnancy/maternity services.  
 
Therefore, extending opening 
hours could increase or 
decrease accessibility 

89



8 
 

depending upon preferences 
about when to use the library. 

Race 
 

 

X  Analysis of current library user 
data indicates that 
approximately 10% of users are 
non-white.  However, this varies 
between the different library 
locations. 
 
The C&W Service is committed 
to providing culturally and 
racially appropriate services 
across its libraries (and all other 
services).  
 
Therefore, attention should also 
be paid to formatting of 
information and other materials 
regarding smart library 
technology in order to effectively 
engage with users from different 
races.  

Religion or Belief 
 

 

X  Analysis of current library user 
data indicates that 
approximately 70% of users 
identify as having a religion.  Of 
these the most commonly 
recorded religions is Christian.  
 
The C&W Service is committed 
to providing services across its 
entirety appropriate to those of 
all religions and beliefs.  
 
Therefore, extending opening 
hours could increase 
accessibility for those of 
particular religions allowing 
them to visit outside the times of 
religious observance.  
 
Similarly when undertaking user 
engagement activities (e.g. 
induction open evenings) 
attention needs to be paid to 
days/times of religious 
observance in order to engage 
with users of different religions.  

Sex 
 

 

 X Analysis of library user data 
shows that approximately 60% 
of all library users are female 

90



9 
 

and 40% are male. 
  
Therefore, any potential impacts 
of smart technology may be 
disproportionately greater on 
female rather than male library 
users.  Although this will have to 
be further investigated following 
early implementation at Syston 
as the increased opening hours 
may attract a different audience 

Sexual Orientation 
 

   

 X Analysis of library user data 
shows that approximately 3% of 
library users identify as being 
gay, lesbian or bisexual.  
 
The C&W Service is committed 
to providing services across its 
entirety appropriate to those of 
all sexual orientations.  

 
Therefore, any potential impacts 
of smart technology on this 
group of users will need to be 
further investigated following 
early implementation at Syston. 

Other groups  
e.g. rural isolation, 
deprivation, health 

inequality, carers, asylum 
seeker and refugee 

communities, looked after 
children, deprived or 

disadvantaged 
communities 

X  Smart library technology could 
potentially impact on a number 
of other groups, but it could 
have a positive or negative 
impact depending on how and 
when those groups choose to 
access a library.   Potentially 
these could include those at risk 
of rural isolation, deprived or 
disadvantaged communities, 
those with particular health 
conditions and carers. 
 

Community Cohesion 
 

X  Libraries provide an opportunity 
for individuals, groups and 
communities to come together 
to share experiences and learn 
from each other.  These types of 
cultural activities enable people 
to find out about themselves and 
where they have come from as 
well as leading to greater 
understanding of other groups 
and communities.   Thereby 
enhancing people’s quality of life 
by developing their sense of 

91



10 
 

belonging and by bringing 
communities together and 
making them stronger.  
Self-access technology may 
provide additional opportunities 
for community groups to use the 
library, but it will also restrict the 
social interaction with staff. 

11.  
Are the human rights of individuals potentially affected by this proposal? Could 
there be an impact on human rights for any of the protected characteristics? 
(Please tick) 
 
Explain why you consider that any particular article in the Human Rights Act may 
apply to your policy/ practice/ function or procedure and how the human rights of 
individuals are likely to be affected below: [NB. Include positive and negative 
impacts as well as barriers in benefiting from the above proposal] 
 

 Yes No Comments 
 

 
Part 1: The Convention- Rights and Freedoms  
 

Article 2: Right to life   X  

Article 3: Right not to be 
tortured or treated in an 
inhuman or degrading way  

 X  

Article 4: Right not to be 
subjected to slavery/ forced 
labour 

 X  

Article 5: Right to liberty and 
security  

 X  

Article 6: Right to a fair trial   X  

Article 7: No punishment 
without law  

 X  

Article 8: Right to respect for 
private and family life  

X  Libraries are an important source 
of information, knowledge and 
opportunities to assist some 
people (e.g. in low income 
households) to enjoy a similar 
quality of home life to more 
wealthy neighbours. 

Article 9: Right to freedom of 
thought, conscience and 
religion  

X  Libraries are an important source 
of impartial information which may 
be difficult to obtain elsewhere, 
e.g. concerning legal rights for 
minority cultures and religions. 

Article 10: Right to freedom 
of expression 

 X  

Article 11: Right to freedom 
of assembly and association  

 X  

92



11 
 

Article 12: Right to marry  X  

Article 14: Right not to be 
discriminated against  

 X  

 
Part 2: The First Protocol  
 

Article 1: Protection of 
property/ peaceful 
enjoyment  

 X  

Article 2: Right to education  
  

X  Libraries provide access to a range 
of educational resources which 
may be difficult to obtain 
elsewhere. 

Article 3: Right to free 
elections  

 X  

Section 2 
D: Decision 

12. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Is there evidence or any other reason to 
suggest that: 
 

a) this policy could have a different 
affect or adverse impact on any 
section of the community; 
 

b) any section of the community may 
face barriers in benefiting from the 
proposal 

Yes 
 

No 
 

Unknown 

 
 

X 
 

  

X   

13. 
 

Based on the answers to the questions above, what is the likely impact of this 
policy 
 

  
No Impact  

 
Positive Impact 

 
Neutral Impact 

 
Negative Impact or 
Impact Unknown 

 
Note: If the decision is ‘Negative Impact’ or ‘Impact Not Known’ an EHRIA Report 
is required. 

14. 
 
 

Is an EHRIA report required? 
 

 
       Yes 

 
            No 

 

 

 
Section 2: Completion of EHRIA Screening  
 
Upon completion of the screening section of this assessment, you should have identified 
whether an EHRIA Report is requried for further investigation of the impacts of this 
policy.  
 
Option 1: If you identified that an EHRIA Report is required, continue to Section 3 on 
Page 7 of this document to complete.     
 

  X  

 X 

93



12 
 

Option 2: If there are no equality, diversity or human rights impacts identified and an 
EHRIA report is not required, continue to Section 4 on Page 14 of this document to 
complete.    
 

 
 

Section 3: Equality and Human Rights 
Impact Assessment (EHRIA) Report 

 
 

Section 3: Equality and Human Rights Impact Assessment Report 
 
This part of the assessment will help you to think thoroughly about the impact of this 
policy and to critically examine whether it is likely to have a positive or negative impact 
on different groups within our diverse community. It is also to identify any barriers that 
may detrimentally affect under-represented communities or groups, who may be 
disadvantaged by the way in which we carry out our business. 
 
Using the information gathered either within the EHRIA Screening or independently of 
this process, this EHRIA Report should be used to consider the impact or likely impact 
of the policy in relation to all areas of equality, diversity and human rights as outlined in 
Leicestershire County Council’s Equality Strategy. 
 

 

Section 3 
A: Research and Consultation  

When considering the target groups it is important to think about whether new data 
needs to be collected or whether there is any existing research that can be utilised. 
 

15. Based on the gaps identified either in the EHRIA Screening or independently of 
this process, how have you now explored the following and what does this 
information/data tell you about each of the diverse groups? 
 

a) current needs and aspirations and what is important to individuals and 
community groups (including human rights); 
 

b) likely impacts (positive and negative, intended and unintended) to 
individuals and community groups (including human rights); 

 
c) likely barriers that individuals and community groups may face (including 

human rights) 

94



13 
 

Analysis of the user profile of those library customers who registered for library plus is 
shown in the table below and compared to the existing profile of Syston library: 
 

  
% of Syston 

library members 

% of Syston 
Library Plus 
members 

Under 12 31.2% 0% 

Under 15 3.7% 0% 

Under 18 1.5% 4% 

18-60 37.8% 38% 

60+ 19.2% 44% 

Disabled 2.6% 3% 

Housebound 0.9% 0% 

Staff 0.6% 10% 

Unwaged / student 0% 0.60% 

Children in care 0.1% 0% 

Online 1.6% 0% 

CYPS groups 0.5% 0% 

Adult groups 0.1% 0% 

 
Following the Syston library pilot, a survey was commissioned to gather views on 

self‐access libraries, whether or not members have used Syston library during the 
Library Plus hours. The survey was made available on the council website from 8th May 
2017 and closed on 23rd June 2017. A printed (offline) version was also made available. 
A freepost return address was provided for completed surveys to encourage responses. 
 
The survey asked people for feedback on their use of the library service, their 
awareness and current use of Library Plus, and their likely use of the scheme in the 
future. 
 
Communications and media activity 
The council communicated the Syston Library Plus Survey in a number of ways, 
including: 

 Email to all Syston library users (with a recorded email address) 

 Publicity in Syston library 

 Publicity during induction events for people signing up to use Library Plus 
Communications activity was carried out as part of a wider communication plan about 
the pilot at Syston Library. This includes local television and press releases, library 

posters, e‐blasts to a range of stakeholders, information on the County Council website 
and leaflet distribution to the local community. 
 
Responses and respondent profile 
Overview of responses 
During the consultation period, 46 people responded to the survey. The majority (41) 
took part by completing an online survey, with the remainder returning a paper response 
(5). 
Respondent profile 
The questionnaire included a range of demographic questions. 
The sample size does not allow for statistical analysis of results across different 
demographic groups; however the demographic profile of those responding to the 

95



14 
 

survey is as follows: 
Age 
7% under 24 
16% 25-44 
25% 45-64 
52% 65 plus 
Disability 
16% had a long standing illness or disability 
Gender reassignment 
No respondents had a different gender identity to that which they had been assigned at 
birth 
Race 
100% white 
Religion or belief 
56% Christian 
44% No religion 
Sex 
65% female; 35% male 
Sexual orientation 
100% heterosexual 
Other groups 
9% of respondents were carers of individuals aged 18 or over 
 
Key themes from the feedback received can be summarised as follows: 
Current aspirations: 

 31 out of the 46 respondents had signed up for the self-access scheme, giving 
the following reasons: 

To be able to visit the library more often (19) 
The Library Plus hours suit me more than current staffed opening hours 
(14) 
Because using the library during the current staffed opening hours is 
difficult for me (10) 
To try something new (9) 
Because I think the library will be quieter during the Library Plus hours (4) 
To be able to take my children to the library after work/school (3) 
To be able to take my children to the library before school/work (1) 

Impact: 

 Most respondents felt that the introduction of smart library technology made no 
difference to how easy or difficult it was to access the service.  Activities that 
were more likely to be affected were using the library to access information or to 
photocopy/print.   

 There were 19 positive responses to using the library during self-access, and 5 
negative concerning equipment not working or staff not being available for help. 

 18 out of 22 respondents rated their experience of using the library in self-access 
as good or very good 

 Of the 8 respondents who hadn’t yet used the library in self-access, 6 hadn’t had 
the need, 2 hadn’t yet been on the induction and 1 didn’t have the confidence 

 35 out of 46 people said they would be likely or very likely to use the system 
again.  5 people said they wouldn’t 

Barriers: 

 When asked about concerns regarding the use of self-access people cited being 
on their own, security, issues with other members, no staff being available, issues 

96



15 
 

with equipment and the risk of vandalism 
 
The proposal to roll out smart library technology across 15 council run libraries would 
enable the Library Service to meet some of the MTFS savings targets by reducing the 
number of hours staff are present in the library.  Respondents were asked what impact a 
reduction of staffed hours to 3 hours a day and an increase in self-access hours would 
have on their library use.  Over half the respondents (24 out of 44) said it would make 
no difference to the likelihood of them using the library.  Accessing information or using 
public computers were the activities which received most responses indicating they 
might find this harder. 
 
Respondents were asked to select up to 10 Library Plus hours and up to 3 staffed 
hours.  The most popular times for staffed hours were between 10am and midday. 
 
Additional evaluation of the pilot revealed that no incidences of anti-social behaviour, 
security or theft were reported during self-access times at the library. 
 

16. Is any further research, data collection or evidence required to fill any gaps in your 
understanding of the potential or known affects of the policy on target groups?  
 

 
As detailed in the implementation plan for smart libraries, engagement activity was 
undertaken with local communities from 16th July to 12th August 2018 regarding the 
proposed staffed and unstaffed (smart) opening hours for each of the 14 libraries.  The 
purpose of the engagement was to inform decisions regarding revised staffed and 
unstaffed opening hours at each library ensuring that they meet the needs of both the 
public and the C&W Service.  
 
The engagement took the form of 14 individual questionnaires (one for each of the 14 
affected libraries) detailing the proposed staffed and unstaffed opening hours for the 
library.  The surveys then asked members of the public to answer questions about their 
current use of the library and how the proposed changes to opening would affect this.  
To assist in the completion of the questionnaires a FAQ document “What is a smart 
library” was provided. The questionnaire was available in print and online format and 
publicised within the libraries. 
 
All groups using the library, or organisations hiring rooms from the library were 
contacted and informed of how they could complete the survey.  Contact was also made 
with a number of county wide organisations representing various equality groups. These 
included RNIB, Mencap, Age UK, Mosaic and the Youth Parliament. 
 
A total of 457 responses were received with varying response rates across the libraries.  
Overall 50% of respondents said that the revised hours would either make no difference 
to their use of the library or make them more likely to use it (includes ‘a lot more likely’ 
and ‘a little more likely’).  Whilst 38% of respondents said they would be ‘very’ or 
‘somewhat’ likely to use the library during unstaffed (smart) opening hours.   
 
As a result of the outcomes of the engagement, the proposed staffed and unstaffed 
opening hours were amended for Broughton Astley, Earl Shilton, Glenfield, 
Loughborough, Lutterworth and Shepshed libraries.  
 

97



16 
 

 

When considering who is affected by this proposed policy, it is important to think about 
consulting with and involving a range of service users, staff or other stakeholders who 
may be affected as part of the proposal. 
 

17. Based on the gaps identified either in the EHRIA Screening or independently of 
this process, how have you further consulted with those affected on the likely 
impact and what does this consultation tell you about each of the diverse groups? 
 

 
As part of this engagement process detailed above, the service has met with Vista, 

Leicestershire Equalities Challenge Group (LECG) and Leicestershire Adult Learning 

Service (LALS) to understand the impacts of smart library implementation. These 

meetings identified a number of mitigating actions which are currently being investigated 

and/or implemented by the service  

18. Is any further consultation required to fill any gaps in your understanding of the 
potential or known effects of the policy on target groups?  
 

  
At this stage no further consultation is required.  However, it is planned that a post 
implementation review of smart library implementation is undertaken at the end of 
2019.  This review may include some further consultation/engagement to assess 
the impacts on target groups and effectiveness of mitigating actions.    
 

 
 

Section 3  
B: Recognised Impact 

19. Based on any evidence and findings, use the table below to specify if any 
individuals or community groups who identify with any ‘protected characteristics’ 
are likely be affected by this policy. Describe any positive and negative impacts, 
including what barriers these individuals or groups may face. 
 

 Comments 
 

Age 
 
 

Children under the age of 16 are not able to 
register for self-access due to concerns 
around health and safety and safeguarding. 
However they are able to access the library 
during these times if accompanied by an 
adult. In addition, the survey revealed that 
some adults had registered with the scheme 
so that they could take advantage of the 
additional hours, which enabled them to take 
their children to the library both before and 
after school. So an increase in convenience 
may lead to an increase in use. 
 
Children aged 8 and above are currently 
allowed to access the library in staffed hours 

98



17 
 

on their own, so a replacement of staffed 
hours with self-access hours may affect their 
use of the library. However, there are no 
statistics available to inform how many 
children this is likely to affect. 
 
The proportion of young people aged 16-17 
who registered to use the library during self-
access is higher than that found in the 
general profile of Syston library users, which 
suggests that it may be more popular with this 
age group.  Anecdotal evidence suggests that 
this may be due to the library being less busy 
and better for study / homework. 
 
Older people (aged 60 plus) accounted for 
44% of those registering for self-access.  This 
compares to only 19% of the general 
customer profile for Syston library which 
would suggest that this age group were not 
as reluctant to use self-access as anticipated. 
 
Some responses to the survey might suggest 
that barriers could involve lack of confidence 
in using a self-access solution and worries 
over security, although the survey report does 
not link specific answers with any particular 
demographic group. 
 

Disability 
 
 

The proportion of people with a disability 
using self-access was slightly higher than that 
of the general profile of Syston library users 
(3% as against 2.6%).  This would seem to 
suggest that using a self-access system was 
not a barrier to the existing disabled library 
users.  In addition, the further telephone 
consultation undertaken with users who have 
a disability profile revealed that they were 
happy with the system.   
 
However the numbers are small and it is 
difficult to know the level of disability 
experienced by these users.  There may 
therefore still be disabled users who might 
have concerns over self–evacuation, security 
or lack of staff support to access services.  
 
Discussions with Vista have identified a 
number of ways to support those with visual 
impairments to use the library during 
unstaffed opening hours, e.g. referral to 
Vista’s Orientation Service. 

99



18 
 

Gender Reassignment 
 
 
 

Analysis of current library user data suggests 
that there are 4 users who identify as 
transgender.  No one who registered for self-
access identified as transgender so no further 
information is available on this group,  
 
Whilst there is no evidence to indicate 
whether extending opening hours would 
increase or decrease accessibility for 
transgender users. The change could impact 
on feelings of vulnerability, as well as 
individual preferences about when to use the 
library. 

Marriage and Civil Partnership 
 
 

No specific impacts or barriers identified. 

Pregnancy and Maternity 
 
 

Libraries provide a useful information point for 
women in pregnancy and during maternity. 
Although this type of information may be 
provided elsewhere e.g. GP surgeries, 
pregnancy/maternity services.  
 
There is no evidence to indicate whether 
extending opening hours would increase or 
decrease accessibility. However, it is 
acknowledged that a library user in the later 
stages of pregnancy may feel less 
comfortable using a library with no staff 
present. 
 
To encourage library use by nursing mothers 
the provision of signs stating that 
breastfeeding is “allowed” was recommended 
by LECG. 
  

Race 
 
 

Analysis of current library user data indicates 
that approximately 10% of users are non-
white.  However, this varies between the 
different library locations.   
 
11% of the general Syston library user base 
is non-white, but analysis of the self-access 
users reveals only 6% as being non-white. As 
none of the respondents to the survey were 
non-white it is difficult to draw conclusions 
about how this section of the community view 
self-access and whether they would be more 
or less likely to use the library during these 
times. 
 

Religion or Belief 
 

Analysis of current library user data indicates 
that approximately 70% of users identify as 

100



19 
 

 having a religion.  Of these the most 
commonly recorded religion is Christian. The 
percentage for Syston library is slightly higher 
at 73%.   
 
Of those people who registered for self-
access only 29 had answered the question on 
religion.  Of these 48% were Christian, 10% 
Hindu and 41% had no religion.  With 
numbers so small it is difficult to be able to 
draw any definite conclusions. 
 
Extending opening hours could increase 
accessibility for those of particular religions 
allowing them to visit outside the times of 
religious observance.  
 

Sex 
 
 

Analysis of library user data shows that 
approximately 60% of all library users are 
female and 40% are male.  
 
The Syston library user base has a slightly 
higher percentage of females and the self-
access user base is higher still at almost 69% 
female. However when considering actual 
visits during self-access hours, 46% of visits 
were by males.  This may be related to 
preference for different ways of using the 
library. 
 
Any potential impacts of smart technology 
may still be disproportionately greater on 
female library users, although fears over 
personal security which might be assumed to 
be higher amongst females has not seemed 
to have translated into fewer registrations for 
the service. 

Sexual Orientation 
 
 

Analysis of library user data shows that 
approximately 3% of library users identify as 
being gay, lesbian or bisexual.  
 
None of the library users who registered for 
self-access identified as LGBT, but as only 
6% registered any kind of sexual orientation 
at all it is difficult to draw any conclusions 
from this data. 
 
No evidence has been forthcoming that would 
suggest a disinclination on the part of the 
LGBT community to use the library during 
self-access.  Extending opening hours could 
increase or decrease accessibility for these 

101



20 
 

users by impacting on vulnerability and 
preferences about when to use the library. 

Other groups  
e.g. rural isolation, deprivation, 

health inequality, carers, 
asylum seeker and refugee 
communities, looked after 

children, deprived or 
disadvantaged communities 

 
 

Smart library technology could potentially 
impact on a number of other groups, but it 
could have a positive or negative impact 
depending on how and when those groups 
choose to access a library.  Potentially these 
could include those at risk of rural isolation, 
deprived or disadvantaged communities, 
those with particular health conditions and 
carers. 
 
LECG identified that the smart library 
induction process should be made accessible 
to those for whom English is not a first 
language.  This is particularly the case for 
market town libraries (Loughborough, Oadby, 
Wigston, Coalville and Hinckley) which 
service a multi-ethnic community including 
recent arrivals to the UK.  This could be 
achieved by providing induction materials in a 
range of community languages.  

Community Cohesion 
 
 

Libraries provide an opportunity for 
individuals, groups and communities to come 
together to share experiences and learn from 
each other.   
 
These types of cultural activities enable 
people to find out about themselves and 
where they have come from as well as 
leading to greater understanding of other 
groups and communities.   Thereby 
enhancing people’s quality of life by 
developing their sense of belonging and by 
bringing communities together and making 
them stronger.  
 
Self-access provides an opportunity to extend 
opening hours and increase community use 
of the space in the evenings and during day 
time closed periods.  This could therefore 
have a positive effect on community 
cohesion.  Evidence from other authorities 
suggests that self-access can foster a sense 
of community and personal responsibility for 
the library space which isn’t present when the 
library is staffed. 

 
 
 
 
 

102



21 
 

20. Based on any evidence and findings, use the table below to specify if any 
particular Articles in the Human Rights Act are likely apply to your policy. Are the 
human rights of any individuals or community groups affected by this proposal? Is 
there an impact on human rights for any of the protected characteristics? 
 

 Comments 
 

 
Part 1: The Convention- Rights and Freedoms 
  

Article 2: Right to life  
 

Unlikely to apply  

Article 3: Right not to be 
tortured or treated in an 
inhuman or degrading way  

Unlikely to apply 

Article 4: Right not to be 
subjected to slavery/ forced 
labour 

Unlikely to apply  

Article 5: Right to liberty and 
security  

Unlikely to apply  

Article 6: Right to a fair trial  
 

Unlikely to apply  

Article 7: No punishment 
without law  

Unlikely to apply  

Article 8: Right to respect for 
private and family life  

Whilst there is no evidence this policy will 
impact this article, it is acknowledged that 
libraries are an important source of 
information, knowledge and opportunities to 
assist some people (e.g. in low income 
households) to enjoy a similar quality of home 
life to more wealthy neighbours. 

Article 9: Right to freedom of 
thought, conscience and 
religion 

Whilst there is no evidence that this policy will 
impact this article, libraries are an important 
source of impartial information which may be 
difficult to obtain elsewhere, e.g. concerning 
legal rights for minority cultures and religions. 

Article 10: Right to freedom of 
expression 

Unlikely to apply  

Article 11: Right to freedom of 
assembly and association  

Unlikely to apply  

Article 12: Right to marry 
 

Unlikely to apply  

Article 14: Right not to be 
discriminated against  

Unlikely to apply  

 
Part 2: The First Protocol 
 

Article 1: Protection of property/ 
peaceful enjoyment  
 

Unlikely to apply 

Article 2: Right to education 
   

Libraries provide access to educational 
resources, however for most children the 

103



22 
 

 main responsibility for education lies with 
schools. Some home educated children 
might be affected and extended opening 
hours could have a positive effect. Similarly 
adults using the library for educational 
purposes may find it easier due to increased 
opening hours or harder to use the library 
during self-access according to their 
preferences and need for staff support. 

Article 3: Right to free elections  
 

Unlikely to apply 

Section 3  
C: Mitigating and Assessing the Impact  

Taking into account the research, data, consultation and information you have reviewed 
and/or carried out as part of this EHRIA, it is now essential to assess the impact of the 
policy. 
 

21. If you consider there to be actual or potential adverse impact or discrimination, 
please outline this below. State whether it is justifiable or legitimate and give 
reasons. 

Self-access technology presents many opportunities, but there is potential for it to have 
an adverse effect on some individuals with protected characteristics, in particular those 
over 60, 16 and under and those with a disability.  The Library Service will seek to 
mitigate any negative impact in the following ways: 
 

 By maintaining some staff presence at the library and prioritising this time to 
coincide with those times most often used by people over 60, people with a 
disability and families with children 16 and under.  Analysis of usage patterns by 
subsets of the customer profile has identified these times as being 10am – 12 
noon and 3pm-5pm.  This was further endorsed by the data from the pilot 
evaluation survey and stakeholder engagement.  

 

 By providing a CCTV system which is monitored during self–access hours to 
enhance security.  To investigate future development of this CCTV system to 
enable CCTV operators to communicate with library users via a PA system.  

 

 By providing a phone for use in an emergency or for reporting issues with the 
building. 

 

 By providing a feedback system which enables users to alert staff to any 
concerns about the use of the building. 

 

 By installing additional safety devices such as a fire alarm which is both audible 
and with visible flashing beacons to ensure all users are adequately warned in 
the event of evacuation. 

 

 Through the provision of a toilet controlled by a radar key. Toilets are usually 
locked during self-access times and this will enable people with a radar key to be 
able to access the toilet. 

 

 By enabling the use of the library by community groups and local public sector 
workers, for instance the PCSO and other council staff during unstaffed hours. 

104



23 
 

 

 By providing a thorough induction to the self-access system which explains all the 
measures above, provides refresher information on how to access the self-
service kiosks and pcs / photocopier without staff assistance and outlines the 
evacuation procedures for the building.   

 

 By providing inductions at times which are suitable for people to attend and which 
are inclusive (i.e. available in different formats/languages).  

 

 By providing information and other materials in a format which is useful to all 
customers.  

 

 By reconsidering the ICT infrastructure provided for libraries with the aim of 
reducing the number of current issues and making it easier to use without staff 
support. 

 

 By replacing and upgrading the self-service kiosks. 
 

N.B.  
 
i) If you have identified adverse impact or discrimination that is illegal, you are required 
to take action to remedy this immediately.  
 
ii) If you have identified adverse impact or discrimination that is justifiable or legitimate, 
you will need to consider what actions can be taken to mitigate its effect on those 
groups of people. 
 
 
 

22. Where there are potential barriers, negative impacts identified and/or barriers or 
impacts are unknown, please outline how you propose to minimise all negative 
impact or discrimination. 
 

a) include any relevant research and consultations findings which highlight 
the best way in which to minimise negative impact or discrimination 
 

b) consider what barriers you can remove, whether reasonable adjustments 
may be necessary, and how any unmet needs that you have identified can 
be addressed 
 

c) if you are not addressing any negative impacts (including human rights) or 
potential barriers identified for a particular group, please explain why 

 

 
Improvement plans for each library where self-access is installed, will allow for the 
consideration of the specific make-up of that local community and for any necessary 
mitigation measures to be identified. 
 

Section 3 
D: Making a decision    

23. Summarise your findings and give an overview as to whether the policy will meet 
Leicestershire County Council’s responsibilities in relation to equality, diversity, 

105



24 
 

community cohesion and human rights. 

 
Following analysis of existing user data and feedback from the Syston pilot and 
stakeholder engagement, it is felt that this policy will meet the County Council’s 
responsibilities in relation to equality, diversity, community cohesion and human rights, 
because the: -  
 

 network of 16 libraries will be retained 

 the number of hours when people can access the library will increase  

 measures will be put in place to ensure that the library is a safe space during 
unstaffed hours 

 
However, it is still recognised that there is potential for negative impact for young people 
and those with a disability, this will be mitigated through the production of individual 
actions for each library where the technology will be introduced. 

 

Section 3 
E: Monitoring, evaluation & review of your policy  

24. Are there processes in place to review the findings of this EHRIA and make 
appropriate changes? In particular, how will you monitor potential barriers and any 
positive/ negative impact? 
 
Further monitoring of any library customer user profiles will be undertaken to 
estimate if the introduction of self access has had an effect on the profile of 
people using the library and any implications for future service provision. 
 
In addition, feedback mechanisms have been introduced (forms, email address, 
feedback to staff when available, white board in the library) will continue to be 
monitored in order to address any particular issues with access. 
 
A post implementation review of smart library technology will be undertaken to 
assess its overall impact on library use. It is proposed to undertake a light touch 
review at 6 months and a fuller review at 12 months from the implementation date 
of April 2019. 
 

25. How will the recommendations of this assessment be built into wider planning and 
review processes? 
e.g. policy reviews, annual plans and use of performance management systems 
 
Recommendations from the review process will be addressed through the C&W 
Service Annual Plan and where appropriate reflected in individual library business 
plans 
  

106



25 
 

Section 3: 
F: Equality and human rights improvement plan  

 

 
Please list all the equality objectives, actions and targets that result from the Equality and Human Rights Impact Assessment (EHRIA) 
(continue on separate sheets as necessary). These now need to be included in the relevant service plan for mainstreaming and 
performance management purposes. 
 

 
Equality Objective 

 
Action 

 
Target 

 
Officer Responsible 

 
By when 

 

 
ALL 
 

Engagement/dialogue  
with library users and 
stakeholder in advance 
of Smart library 
technology being 
implemented 

To inform understanding 
of individual community 
needs, so these can be 
reflected in library plus 
and staffed hours   

Nigel Thomas / Liz Evans Dec 2018 

 
ALL 
 

Development of 
individual action plans for 
each library where smart 
library technology will be 
implemented 

To ensure the model for 
staffed and library plus 
hours best reflect local 
need; to ensure any 
other mitigation 
measures are identified 

Nigel Thomas / Liz Evans Dec 2018 

ALL Provision of visual and 
written instructions for 
using library technology 

To enable those who 
need help to access 
technology to be able to 
take advantage of non-
staffed hours  

Nigel Thomas / Liz Evans  Dec 2019 

ALL Investigate the possibility 
of volunteers or friends 
groups having greater 
involvement in the 

To provide reassurance 
for people who may feel 
vulnerable using an 
unstaffed library 

Nigel Thomas / Liz Evans Dec 2019 

107



26 
 

running of a library 
building 

Disability / Age Investigate possibility of 
developing a ‘library 
buddy’ volunteer role as 
an extension of the 
Home Library Service 

To provide 1:1 support 
for those who need help 
to access the library 
during non-staffed hours 

Nigel Thomas / Liz Evans Dec 2019 

ALL Submit capital bid to 
provide a facility for 
CCTV monitors to speak 
to library customers 

To provide reassurance 
for those who may feel 
vulnerable using an 
unstaffed library; to alert 
potential offenders to the 
presence of CCTV in 
order to prevent crime or 
ASB 

Nigel Thomas / Liz Evans November 2018 

Disability / Age Provide access to toilets 
for known groups who 
meet in the library for a 
period of time 

To enable use of the 
toilets  

Nigel Thomas / Liz Evans April 2019 

ALL Provide inductions at a 
variety of times  

To enable all potential 
users to access an 
induction at a time which 
is suitable for them 

Nigel Thomas / Liz Evans From October 2018 

Age Provide greater flexibility 
in collecting Summer 
Reading Challenge 
awards from any 
Leicestershire library 

To facilitate participation 
in a scheme to improve 
children’s reading 

Nigel Thomas / Liz Evans July 2019 

Age Provide additional 
activities for children 
during summer smart 
times 

To increase access to 
the library for children 
and families during main 
school holidays 

Nigel Thomas / Liz Evans July 2019 

108



27 
 

Disability Make staff aware of 
freely available VISTA 
orientation sessions 

Visually impaired people 
are able to access the 
library during smart 
library times 

Nigel Thomas / Liz Evans October 2018 

Disability; Race Provide 1:1 inductions 
where required 

To enable people with 
particular needs or 
requirements to receive 
an induction suitable to 
their needs  

Nigel Thomas / Liz Evans October 2018 

Disability Undertake suggested 
amendments to door 
access panel where 
possible; report other 
suggestions to 
manufacturer 

To make it easier for 
people with a visual 
impairment to use the 
library in smart mode 

Nigel Thomas / Liz Evans December 2018 

Disability Undertake suggested 
amendments to self- 
service kiosk where 
possible; report other 
suggestions to 
manufacturer 

To make it easier for 
people with a visual 
impairment to use the 
library in smart mode 

Nigel Thomas / Liz Evans December 2018 

Disability Undertake suggested 
amendments to self- 
service kiosk where 
possible; 

To make it easier for 
people with a visual 
impairment to use the 
library in smart mode 

Nigel Thomas / Liz Evans December 2018 

Disability  Provide an easy read 
version of the FAQ 
document 

To provide information 
relevant to people’s 
needs 

Nigel Thomas / Liz Evans October 2018 

Disability Provide an alternative 
version of the customer 
use agreement for those 
who would need to have 

To provide 
documentation in a way 
that is relevant to 
people’s needs 

Nigel Thomas / Liz Evans October 2018 

109



28 
 

the agreement read or 
explained to them 

Gender Alert CCTV monitors to 
the occurrence of up-
skirting 

To enable the correct 
reporting and follow up of 
incidents  

Nigel Thomas / Liz Evans October 2018 

Gender Provide notices 
supporting breastfeeding 
in libraries 

Mothers feel comfortable 
to breast feed and know 
that library policy 
supports them. 

Nigel Thomas / Liz Evans October 2018 

 
ALL 
 

Undertake post 
implementation review of 
Smart library technology 
after 1 year of operation 

To identify successes 
and weaknesses and 
seek to address within 
resources available 

Nigel Thomas / Liz Evans Dec 2019 

110



29 
 

 

Section 4: Sign off and scrutiny  
 
 

Upon completion, the Lead Officer completing this assessment is required to sign the 
document in the section below. 
 
It is required that this Equality and Human Rights Impact Assessment (EHRIA) is 
scrutinised by your Departmental Equalities Group and signed off by the Chair of the 
Group. 
 
Once scrutiny and sign off has taken place, a depersonalised version of this EHRIA 
should be published on Leicestershire County Council’s website. Please send a copy of 
this form to louisa.jordan@leics.gov.uk, Members Secretariat, in the Chief Executive’s 
department for publishing. 

 

Section 4 
A: Sign Off and Scrutiny 

 
Confirm, as appropriate, which elements of the EHRIA have been completed and are 
required for sign off and scrutiny. 
 
Equality and Human Rights Assessment Screening 
 
 
Equality and Human Rights Assessment Report 
 

 
1st Authorised Signature (EHRIA Lead Officer): ……………………………………………… 
 
Date: …………………………. 
  
 

 
2nd Authorised Signature (DEG Chair): ………………………………………………………. 
 
Date: …………………………… 
 
 

 
 
 

X 

X 

111

mailto:louisa.jordan@leics.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

 
CABINET – 16 OCTOBER 2018 

 
REPORT OF THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE  

 

THE DEVELOPMENT OF A UNITARY STRUCTURE FOR LOCAL 
GOVERNMENT IN LEICESTERSHIRE 

 
Purpose of the Report 

 
1. To respond to the Cabinet resolution of 6 July 2018 to enable the Cabinet to 

consider outline proposals for the development of a unitary structure for local 
government in Leicestershire and, in light of that consideration, stakeholder 
engagement.  The report also provides an update on the development of a 
Strategic Alliance for the East Midlands. 

 
 Recommendation  
 
2. It is recommended that: 
  

(a) the outline proposals for the development of a unitary structure for local 
government in Leicestershire and subsequent stakeholder engagement be 
considered; 
 

(b) the proposed terms of reference for the working party established by the 
County Council on 26 September be considered; 

 
(c) the present position in respect of a Strategic Alliance for the East Midlands 

be noted. 
 
Reasons for Recommendation  
 
3. To enable consideration to be given to the next steps in the development of a 

unitary structure for local government in Leicestershire.  
 
Timetable for Decisions (including Scrutiny) 
 
4. Subject to agreement by the Cabinet, this report will be considered by the Scrutiny 

Commission and the Overview and Scrutiny Committees during November, as 
follows:- 

 

Children and Families - Monday 5 November  
Adults and Communities - Tuesday 6 November  
Health – Wednesday 7 November  
Environment and Transport - Thursday 8 November 
Scrutiny Commission - Wednesday 14 November 

 

113 Agenda Item 12



 
 

5. The Cabinet has left open the opportunity to consider comments of the Scrutiny 
bodies, stakeholders and the working party (referred to in paragraphs 130 to 133) 
at its meeting on 23 November 2018.  

 
Policy Framework and Previous Decisions 
 
6. The Cabinet at its meeting on 6 July requested officers to undertake work on the 

development of a unitary structure for local government in Leicestershire and to 
prepare outline proposals. The Cabinet also authorised the Chief Executive and 
Director of Corporate Resources to work with regional counterparts to develop a 
Strategic Alliance for the East Midlands. 
   

7. At its meeting on 26 September the County Council set up a politically balanced 
working party on a unitary structure for local government in Leicestershire. 

 
Resource Implications 
 
8. Work on the development of a unitary structure for local government has been 

undertaken within existing resources.  The financial implications of unitary local 
government in Leicestershire are set out in the report. 

 
Legal Implications 
 
9. The outline proposals and recommendations under consideration are ‘Executive 

Functions’ and are therefore a matter for the Cabinet.  However, given the 
significance of the decision it is planned that the matter should be referred to the 
full Council for consideration and debate.  The Leader has given a separate 
commitment to consideration by the full Council. 

 
10. The Director of Law and Governance has been consulted on the content of this 

report.  The legislative position in respect of unitary reorganisation is set out later 
in the report. 

 
Circulation under the Local Issues Alert Procedure 
 
11. As this is a matter which will affect all areas of the county, a copy of this report is 

being circulated to all members of the County Council. 
 

Officers to Contact 
 

John Sinnott 
Chief Executive 
Tel: 0116 305 6000 Email: john.sinnott@leics.gov.uk 
 

Chris Tambini 
Director of Corporate Resources 
Tel: 0116 305 6199 Email: chris.tambini@leics.gov.uk 
 

Simon Lawrence, Major Programmes Manager 
Chief Executive’s Department 
Tel: 0116 305 7243   Email: simon.lawrence@leics.gov.uk 

114

mailto:john.sinnott@leics.gov.uk
mailto:chris.tambini@leics.gov.uk
mailto:simon.lawrence@leics.gov.uk


 
 

PART B 
 
Background 
 
Recent history of Local Government Structures in the UK and Leicestershire 
 
12. The reorganisation of 1974 following the Local Government Act 1972 established 

a two-tier structure of counties and districts throughout England.  Successive 
reorganisations have increasingly dismantled that structure, through the 
introduction of unitary authorities, starting in 1986. Of the current membership of 
the County Councils’ Network, 25% are unitary councils. 

 
13. Scotland, Wales and Northern Ireland all have unitary structures of local 

government. 
 
14. In 1997, Leicester City and Rutland became unitary authorities, while the rest of 

Leicestershire retained the two-tier county and district councils.  There were other 
reorganisations elsewhere in 1997 and 1998. 

 
15. Following the Local Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 2007, there 

was a further round of local government reorganisation.  It included the creation of 
county unitary authorities in Northumberland, Durham, Cornwall, Wiltshire and 
Shropshire.  The counties of Cheshire and Bedfordshire were also reorganised 
using a two-unitary model, acknowledging that parts of both counties, namely 
Luton, Warrington and Halton, had previously become unitary authorities in 1997.  
The first elections for those new unitary authorities took place in 2008 or 2009. 

 
16. Currently, unitary reorganisation is most advanced in Dorset and 

Northamptonshire.  A reorganisation has been approved in Dorset for two unitary 
councils, one rural and one urban/suburban to reflect the nature of the area, one 
building on an existing unitary.  It is widely known that the splitting of two-tier 
Northamptonshire into two unitaries is not a model for any other reorganisation 
since a single unitary would have been perceived as replacing a failed council with 
another on the same footprint.  

 
Combined Authority Proposal 
 
17. In May 2015 a decision was taken to pursue a Combined Authority proposal for 

Leicester and Leicestershire, bringing the eight councils in the county area 
together with Leicester City Council under a new governance arrangement in order 
to deliver a range of strategic services focused on economic growth and transport 
planning across the area. 

 
18. The Combined Authority proposal for Leicester and Leicestershire, supported by 

the Leicester and Leicestershire Local Enterprise Partnership and the three 
Universities, was submitted to Government in December 2015. However due to 
changes in Government and the prioritisation of combined authority proposals 
which included having an elected mayor, the Leicester/Leicestershire Combined 
Authority proposal was not progressed by Government.  

 

115



 
 

Financial Situation 
 
19. In the circumstances set out below the Cabinet is considering the use of powers 

available to the County Council to establish a unitary structure of local 
government. 
 

20. The principal driver for change through a unitary structure is the financial situation 
facing the County Council and the impact on front-line services. 

 
21. The nation’s public finances have been in a perilous state since the financial crisis 

a decade ago. The crisis instigated the deepest recession in the UK since the 
Second World War. The effects of the recession are still being experienced today. 

 
22. The tax increases and spending cuts that followed the crisis have reduced the 

public sector’s budget deficit to a relatively low level. However, slow economic 
growth over the previous eight years has left public debt at double its pre-crisis 
level, relative to the size of the economy. The expenditure on public debt is 
equivalent to it being the fourth largest government “department” after social 
security, health and education. This level of debt is problematic even though 
Government borrowing costs are at historically low levels. It is a structural problem 
that needs fixing before borrowing costs inevitably increase.   

 
23. To quote the Institute of Fiscal Studies: “With public debt twice its pre-crisis level, 

economic growth remaining sluggish and the population ageing rapidly there will 
be no shortage of tough decisions over the coming decade.”. 

 
24. These tough decisions come in three forms: 

 Boosting economic growth; 

 Tax increases; 

 Cost control. 
 

25. Faster economic growth would be the preferred option for the Government, but 
achieving this has proven elusive. Most medium term economic forecasts suggest 
modest growth, below historic averages, should be expected, which pushes the 
emphasis onto the other two options.  

 
26. There has been some softening of public attitudes towards tax increases and this 

may afford the Government some respite. However, as the funding would be used 
to deal with existing and predicted demand and not service improvement, public 
acceptance is limited. National political uncertainty around Brexit may further 
constrain the Government’s choices. 

 
27. This leaves the Government’s most likely option to be further cost control. The 

acceptance that welfare and NHS expenditure are very difficult to control leaves all 
other Government Departments apprehensive in advance of the Comprehensive 
Spending Review in 2019 (CSR19). Education, Defence and Police are all putting 
forward compelling arguments for additional funding.  The NHS is likely to join this 
chorus to push their annual increase towards the historic average of 4% above 
inflation, compared to the current (unfunded) commitment of 3.4%. 

 

116



 
 

28. Recognition of local government financial problems are mixed at best. The 
interdependency between the NHS and Adult Social Care means that it cannot be 
ignored, although at the time of writing no long term solution has been proposed 
by Government.  The larger problems of Children’s Social Care and Special 
Education Needs do not appear to be grasped outside of the local government 
sector. 

 
29. Local government has not traditionally fared well in spending prioritisation 

decisions against departments such as Health, Education, and Defence. The 
working assumption, for financial planning, is that this situation will continue. 

 
30. CSR19, which will have to reflect the Prime Minister’s statement at the 

Conservative Party Conference ‘that the end of austerity is in sight’, should go 
some way to validating this assumption, although the time period of funding 
projections may be too short to give any lasting certainty. The County Council 
therefore has to keep financial sustainability in its own hands through: 

 Local tax generation; 

 Management of service growth;  

 Development of savings and investment initiatives. 
It is also reasonable in the circumstances to propose wider transformation and 
reform. 

 
31. The local government press and more recently the national media report stories of 

councils who have not planned ahead with the consequence of greater levels of 
service cuts than otherwise would have been required. 

 
32. Northamptonshire County Council is at the forefront of struggling councils. Poor 

leadership and financial management undoubtedly accelerated its decline, but the 
underlying issues of funding cuts coupled with rising demand for services and 
National Living Wage driven cost pressures are the same for all councils with 
social care responsibilities. This leads to the view that Northamptonshire County  
Council’s experience is an insight into the future. 

 
33. The National Audit Office’s financial sustainability report echoes this sentiment. 

The report identifies a 49.1% real terms reduction in Government funding for local 
authorities between 2010/11 and 2017/18 (equating to a 28.6% real terms 
reduction in ‘spending power’, i.e. what the Government defines as the main 
sources of Government funding plus Council Tax) and warns that one in 10 
English Councils (15 in total) with social care responsibilities will not be able to 
balance their budgets within three years. The BBC recently attempted to identify 
the councils most at risk, publishing a list of 11 authorities. The list included eight 
County Councils, all of whom are better funded by the Government than 
Leicestershire County Council. These eight account for nearly one third of the total 
number of County Councils in England, demonstrating the disproportionate 
financial strain being placed on authorities such as Leicestershire. 

 
34. Although deprivation is at a low level in Leicestershire, compared to the rest of 

England, it is not the least deprived county area. There are seven other county 
areas with lower deprivation, but a higher level of funding. The most extreme 
example is Surrey that has lower deprivation, but benefits from £150 per resident 

117



 
 

of additional funding. If Leicestershire was funded by the Government at the same 
level as Surrey it would be £100m better off each year. Surrey is one of the 
councils identified as being in financial difficulty.  It is facing a funding gap rising to 
£94m in 2020/21.  

 
35. Despite being poorly funded Leicestershire County Council is faring better than 

most, due to a proactive approach to planning and savings delivery. The approach 
taken locally is set out in the following paragraphs. 

 
Funding 
 
36. In Leicestershire County Council, being realistic about what resources 

Government is willing and able to assign to local government has ensured that the 
reductions received were not unexpected. A key component of the County 
Council’s strategy has been to campaign for a funding settlement that is 
representative of the needs of the county area.   

 
37. The fair funding campaign has been very successful in gaining national recognition 

that the current system for funding local government is broken. However, the need 
to continue the repair of the nation’s finances will mean sustained additional 
funding for the local government sector is very unlikely. The implementation of fair 
funding will require the reallocation of resources away from highly funded areas. 
The consequence of this and the proposed phased implementation indicate that 
the financial benefit is likely to be relatively disappointing. Hence the potential 
financial benefits of the campaign have not been included in the Council’s Medium 
Term Financial Strategy (MTFS). 

 
Service Demand 
 
38. The County Council has accepted that whilst all services can be made more 

efficient and effective it is not always possible to put a cap on cost increases.  
 
39. Care for elderly adults is the largest expenditure area in the County Council’s 

budget. Demographic projections predict continued growth in this area 
compounded by the fact that the average length of time for which people require 
care is increasing. 

 
40. Children’s Social Care, although a smaller portion of the budget than Adult Social 

Care, is the main driver of financial growth. The looked after children population in 
Leicestershire is growing at a rate of 8% per annum. The supply of interventions 
cannot keep pace with demand, driving up costs further. 

 
41. Provision of Special Education Needs has experienced cost growth for some time. 

However, to date this has been contained within the Dedicated School Grant. 
Recent Government changes in the rules around funding and continued increase 
in the number of pupils requiring support have restricted the County Council’s 
ability to manage this budget. This is further compounded by the impact of the 
national funding formula on schools. Schools are required to make savings to 
maintain their current level of provision. This will make it harder to engage schools 

118



 
 

in identifying solutions and it is not unreasonable to expect them to look for ways 
to mitigate savings by seeking to charge costs to other organisations. 

 
42. The current four year MTFS includes £90 million for cost and demand increases. It 

is reasonable to expect that a similar level of increase will be required in the future. 
Taking a realistic estimate of unavoidable demand allows the necessary Council 
Tax increases and savings plans to be put in place. It also allows demand 
management activity to be performed rather than having to deal reactively with 
overspends through emergency cuts. 

 
Savings 
 
43. Since the start of austerity the County Council has recognised the need to invest in 

change and make early decisions in difficult areas. This has allowed the emphasis 
to be kept on efficiency savings, which form 70% of the current savings plans.  
The technical delivery of further efficiency projects is getting more risky requiring 
either significant financial investment, for example the asset investment fund, 
implementation of new solutions, e.g. technology, or more transformational change 
to front-line services. 

 
44. By the end of this financial year the County Council will have delivered £200m of 

savings since the start of austerity in 2010. The majority of these savings have 
been used to fund the rising cost of social care services. 

 
45. Despite these significant savings, which have not been achieved easily, the latest 

financial forecasts predict that a balanced budget will only be achieved for the next 
two years. Beyond this point significant new savings will have to be identified and 
maximum Council Tax increases implemented. This is clearly a worrying scenario 
requiring serious attention. 

 
46. Low funding for Leicestershire is a significant problem making further savings 

difficult and more likely to result in cuts or additional charges rather than 
efficiencies. In short the County Council’s financial position is not sustainable. If 
the financial pressures continue then the visible detrimental impact upon residents 
and partners will inevitably increase through service reduction or cost increases. 

 
47. Even if Government stopped the anticipated future funding reductions, the known 

service demand and inflationary pressures will create a cost pressure of £20 
million p.a. ongoing. If housing growth continues in the county and Government 
allows 1.99% annual council tax increases (without a referendum), only half of this 
cost pressure will be funded, leaving a £10million annual savings requirement. 
Saving at this level is not sustainable on a long term basis and continued 
increases in Council Tax for a reduction in services would not be acceptable to the 
public. 

 
Countywide Finances 
 
48. Financial pressures have not been spread evenly across the different tiers of local 

government organisations. District councils do not have responsibility for social 
care services and Government incentives for new homes and business rate 

119



 
 

growth have disproportionately benefited many districts. The result is that the 
savings requirement has not been on the same scale or had the same impact as 
for county councils. The Government has already signalled its intention to reform 
the New Homes Bonus (currently £18.2m p.a. for Leicestershire), with some 
reductions already implemented. In addition the retained business rate growth 
(currently £15m p.a.) is expected to be removed from annual budgets as part of 
the national funding reforms in 2020/21. The combination of these two funding 
reforms and the several high profile examples of struggling councils with social 
care responsibility are likely to increase the financial pressure on district councils. 

 
49. Using published financial plans and an assumption that cost and funding 

pressures continue at a similar rate to the current planning period, an estimate has 
been made of the savings challenge to the middle of the next decade. This fits with 
the Government’s current aspiration for delivering a balanced budget. 

 

 
 
50. Savings in the chart from 2018/19 to 2021/22 are taken from the latest published 

budgets of the councils in Leicestershire.  The district council savings have been 
averaged, due to different planning periods and use of reserves that distorts the 
timing of savings.  It should be noted that individual councils have taken different 
approaches to the potential changes in future funding. 

 

51. The estimate is for £62 million of savings to be required in Leicestershire (both 
County Council and District Councils).  This estimate already assumes that £57 
million is raised through Council Tax increases, which continue at the maximum 
level permitted by Government. Only two thirds of the estimated savings across 
the County Council and District Councils have formed plans over this period. 

 
Future Uncertainty 
 
52. Current forecasts assume that economic growth continues. However there has 

been a recession in every decade since the 1950s.  As the last was in 2009 it 
would not be surprising for a recession to hit before austerity ends. 

120



 
 

 
53. Taking a more pessimistic view of the economy increases the savings requirement 

significantly, as medium term plans assume a significant level of income growth 
related to new housing and business rates. In the event of a recession housing 
and business growth are likely to stall. 

 
54. There continues to be uncertainty over what agreement will be reached for 

Britain’s exit of the European Union. Regardless of the eventual deal reached 
most commentators believe that there will be an impact on the country’s economic 
activity and the way domestic organisations need to operate. Local government is 
not insulated from these changes. Service departments are dependent upon a fully 
functioning labour market; the local economy is dependent upon business 
investment and consumer confidence; Government funding is dependent upon the 
state of the nation’s finances. 

 
55. Adoption of a unitary structure could be seen as a positive step to financial 

sustainability, as uncertainties could be dealt with more effectively. There is 
thought to be strength in the argument that aside from the financial benefits of re-
organisation, unitary organisations are more responsive to significant changes 
(fewer organisations), make better decisions (preventative services aligned to the 
services they support) and are able to deploy more resources rather than hold 
contingencies (County Council reserve level is 38% versus 97% for the District 
Councils). 

 
Action open to the County Council  

 
56. Adoption of sound financial management has kept Leicestershire County Council 

out of the first wave of crisis councils. This has not been without significant impact 
on the residents of Leicestershire both in the level of council tax and reduction of 
services.  
 

57. As mentioned earlier (paragraph 30) in the financial circumstances identified it is 
reasonable for the County Council to consider transformation and reform which go 
beyond actions in its own hands.  This has been recognised in MTFS reports to 
Council budget meetings.  It is a fact that Leicestershire has an expensive 
structure of local government.  

 
58. At least three of the County Councils identified by the BBC have started to work 

toward a core offer that focuses on statutory requirements and protection of 
vulnerable children and adults. The cuts tend to focus on the universal services 
that the majority of the population value. Examples of services commonly cut 
include: 

 Bus subsidies, highways maintenance, road gritting and road safety 

 Prevention services that promote wellbeing 

 Libraries and heritage 

 Trading Standards service 

 Early Help and Prevention Services, in particular Children’s Centres 
 
59. Whilst some of the service reductions made in Leicestershire have been in these 

areas they are not as severe as they would have been had decisions been 

121



 
 

delayed. Time is important.  The experience of Northamptonshire is that delaying 
simply increases the level of cuts required. By way of example the County Council 
has £270m of debt, and is looking for ways to reduce; other councils have higher 
debt burdens that are likely to increase, for example Northamptonshire County 
Council (£789m) and Surrey County Council (£759m.) 
 

60. District councils have avoided the worst effects of austerity due to their different 
funding mix and nature of services delivered.  As mentioned earlier in the report 
(paragraph 48) the funding pressures on district councils look set to increase and 
some demand pressures, such as homelessness, are also increasing. Should the 
financial pressure increase service provision in key services such as Leisure 
Centres, Waste Collection and Parks would inevitably come under review. 

 
61. Reforming local government in Leicestershire would make cuts to county and 

district services in Leicestershire less likely. 
 
62. In addressing this scale of financial challenge it is a sound principle that demand-

led services create a constant requirement for efficiency improvements to keep 
council tax at an acceptable level, but at the same time wider reform should focus 
on protecting and investing in front line services, provided now by both the County 
Council and the district councils. 

 
 
Joining Up Services 
 
63. A second driver for change through a unitary structure is to join up front-line 

services. 
 
64. Criticism of moving to a unitary structure from a two tier structure is often based on 

a claim that ‘services would no longer be delivered at the local level.’  In any 
structure services are delivered locally, whether personal social care or waste 
collection.  The structure in which they are delivered can help or hinder their 
effectiveness. 

 
65. It is believed that there is a good case to be made that a unitary structure provides 

an opportunity to redesign service delivery in a way which would be better for 
residents, local businesses and partner organisations, as well as bringing benefits 
in financial savings.  Service redesign could be informed by the following 
principles:- 

 Fit for the future, with the agility to adapt to the changing landscape of local 
government; 

 Focus on outcomes, supported by a robust evidence base; 

 Continued value for money, maximising the use of the Leicestershire pound; 

 Simplified service provision; 

 Strengthened relationships with strategic partners and businesses, leading to 
more effective multi-agency decision making and delivery of services. 

 
66. Similarly, there is a good case to be made that fragmentation in service delivery 

and responsibility inevitably can lead to frustration and confusion for members of 
the public and that a unitary structure can correct that. 

122



 
 

 
67. Last year the County Council recorded more than 130,000 web visits where 

someone was confused between the county and district council services.  
Similarly, 11,000 out of 200,000 calls to the Customer Service Centre at the 
County Council were redirected to district councils.  This is inefficient in terms of 
time and money and also slows down the response to the public.  A unitary 
structure would address public enquiries more effectively and make transactions 
quicker and clearer. 

 
Partnership working 
 
68. The creation of a unitary structure for Leicestershire would also improve the 

effectiveness of partnership working across local government, health, business, 
the voluntary and community sector and other local partners.   

 
69. Leicestershire forms part of a wider geographic footprint for key partners: 

Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland (LLR) for NHS and emergency services 
except the regional ambulance service; Leicester and Leicestershire for the Local 
Enterprise Partnership.  This can be clumsy and fragmented.  It can be difficult for 
partners to engage in a co-ordinated way with local government services. There 
are examples of an individual council delaying or frustrating a policy initiative, 
causing reputational damage to local government. 

 
 
Services in a Unitary Structure 
 
70. Appendices A - I to this report have been prepared by Chief Officers to show the 

potential benefits of a unitary structure. The appendices also reflect best practice 
examples drawn from County Unitary Councils with a particular focus on service 
delivery models in Cornwall, Wiltshire and Durham. 

 
 
Model Unitary Structure 
 
71. A suggested model unitary structure has been developed for the purposes of this 

report and subsequent stakeholder engagement.  Feedback from this 
engagement, including from the County Council’s Overview and Scrutiny bodies, 
can be used to develop the model further.  For the purposes of exemplification it 
has been based on a single unitary council but this should not be seen as 
indicative of anything other than a position from which discussion can be initiated.  
The County Council recognises that a decision to propose restructuring in 
Leicestershire assumes an invitation from the Secretary of State, and the form 
which any proposal took would be subject to public consultation and further 
development. 

 
72. The model recognises best practice, it utilises research material and seeks to 

address the following:- 
 

 The risk that a removal of a tier of governance could result in a loss of local 
involvement and identity; 

123



 
 

 

 The need to ensure that local accountability is a key building block of the new 
council; 

 

 The perception that the establishment of a unitary structure would create what 
is sometimes called a ‘democratic deficit’; 

 

 The EY Report (2016), referred to later, finding that the transition from two tier 
to single tier worked best where the ambition of increasing community 
participation was explicit from the outset; 
 

 National evidence which shows that community engagement develops social 
networks which can lead to improved health outcomes. 

 
73. The model unitary structure will need to demonstrate the strongest strategic and 

local leadership.  To deliver this, the proposed model adopts the following 
approaches:- 

 
(i) To employ the ‘Cabinet and Strong Leader’ model of governance. 
(ii) To ensure that all councillors act as community leaders and bring that 

experience to strategic decision making for the benefit of the county. 
(iii) To have a clear and simple structure for local partners to engage with. 

 
74. Where a councillor serves on both county and district councils, conflicts of interest 

can arise in decision making.  This model allows a better balance between local 
and strategic issues in the decision making process and the removal of conflict 
between tiers. 

 
75. The removal of a tier of governance for Leicestershire would lead to a reduction in 

the number of councillors.  Such a reduction gives rise to criticism of a ‘democratic 
deficit’ in a unitary structure compared to a two tier structure.  Whilst the role of the 
councillor is not wholly related to the responsibilities of the councillor’s particular 
local authority, it is noted that in two-tier areas, the numbers of district councillors 
will significantly outnumber the county councillors.  In the case of Leicestershire, 
the County Council (55 members) is responsible for 81% of local government 
expenditure and the district councils collectively (254 members) are responsible 
for 19% of that expenditure.  At this stage and subject to the views of the 
Boundary Commission at a later stage, it is suggested that a single unitary council 
for Leicestershire would have 110 councillors; twice the size of the existing County 
Council but reducing the overall number of councillors (across the current county 
and district councils) by 199. 

 
76. Analysis has been undertaken to compare council size and number of electors for 

single tier local authorities, and a ‘line of best fit’ developed. That analysis 
suggests that a council size of 110 would be in line with the council size of other 
unitary authorities comparable in size. This is illustrated in the chart below. 

 
 

124



 
 

 
 
77. The Boundary Commission also considers factors such as governance, scrutiny 

and the role of the councillor when undertaking a review. 
 
78. To strengthen local leadership, recognising that there will be a reduction in the 

number of local elected representatives, it is proposed that the unitary councillor 
would be supported to undertake an enhanced role in supporting the council’s 
strategic direction and a higher profile community leadership role, which would 
include the following:- 

• To act as ‘steward of the place’, i.e. a more identifiable local leadership role, 
working across the locality in partnership with others; 

• To be proactive in supporting, encouraging and enabling community capacity 
building; 

• To build and maintain relationships with local partners and facilitate their 
involvement in the community; 

• To oversee the use of an individual budget for community capacity building/to 
support local projects.  

 
79. It is also proposed that local leadership would be strengthened through the 

development of Local Area Committees.  The building blocks used to define Area 
Committees would be electoral divisions, local delivery arrangements such as the 
health and social care Integrated Locality Teams and parliamentary 
constituencies.  They would also need to have roughly similar sized populations.  

125



 
 

In addition it is crucial that the areas should reflect natural communities in terms of 
the economic and local interests and identities. 

 
80. A suggested role for the Area Committees could be:- 

(i) To provide a locality focus to strategic decision making and be able to 
influence strategic outcomes such as a county-wide Local Plan by acting as a 
key consultee; 

(ii) To set local priorities over and above the core service offer which will be 
consistent across the county; 

(iii) To produce an ‘Area Priority Plan’ reflecting the local priorities and to allocate 
a devolved revenue budget to support delivery of local priorities;  

(iv) To agree some Traffic Regulation Orders and be responsible for some 
delegated funding for local highways measures; 

(v) To engage local residents, organisations and stakeholders in the best way it 
sees fit. 

 
81. Through funding a local priority set out in the Area Priority Plan, an Area 

Committee could also commission an additional service for its locality.  This might 
include areas such as:- 

 Public realm (publicly accessible free and open spaces); 

 Supporting the local economy; 

 Capacity building; 

 Community services (including leisure, culture and art); 

 Promoting community cohesion and wellbeing; 

 Supporting the local voluntary and community sector; 

 Community transport; 

 Community safety measures. 
 
82. It is important that the Area Committees would be able to take decisions which 

have been delegated to them, so they would be formally constituted committees of 
the Unitary Council, although there is no requirement for them to be politically 
balanced.  Each Area Committee could co-opt additional members as it saw fit, 
such as Town and Parish Council representatives or business, voluntary sector 
and statutory partners. 

 
83. In addition to the Area Committees, it is proposed to establish separate Area 

Development Management Sub Boards, spanning the footprint of two or more 
Area Committees, which would be responsible for the local determination of 
planning applications when the Officer Scheme of Delegation does not apply.  The 
membership of these Sub Boards does not need to reflect political balance, 
provided that their remit is limited to local matters. 

 
84. Based on analysis of the current level of business undertaken by District Planning 

Committees, four Area Development Management Sub Boards would determine 
approximately nine planning applications per month, whereas five Area 
Development Management Sub Boards would determine approximately seven 
planning applications per month. 

 
85. The proposed governance model for Planning is set out in the table below.  It is 

acknowledged that there would need to be a regional or sub-regional level to take 

126



 
 

into account the relationships with neighbouring councils, particularly Leicester 
City Council, in terms of economic growth and development. 

 

Level Governance 
Proposal 

Remit 

Unitary 
Level 

Cabinet/ 
Council 

• Development Plan Making:- 
• Single Local Plan (strategic and non-

strategic policies, minerals and waste, 
mineral safeguarding, infrastructure plan)  

• Neighbourhood Plans 
• Local Transport Plan 
• Supplementary Planning Documents (housing, 

energy, historic environment, biodiversity, 
design, green space, landscape) 

• Community Infrastructure Levy (or S106 policy) 
• Other Policy Documents (e.g. Conservation Area 

Appraisals, Development briefs) 

Strategic 
Development 
Management 
Board 

• Response to the impact of major developments 
outside Leicestershire on county residents 

• Determination of Planning Applications for:- 
• Strategic and/or Large scale major 

developments (including Minerals and 
Waste) 

• Developments that are a significant 
departure from policy 

Officers 
(delegated 
decision 
making powers) 

• Planning and other applications (e.g. Listed 
Building Consent, Tree Preservation Orders, 
Rights of Way, Advertisement Control etc.) and 
discharge conditions unless the local member 
makes a sound request that it be considered by 
the Development Management Sub-Board 

• Enforcement Matters  
• Appeals 

Local 
Level 

5 Area 
Development 
Management 
Sub-Boards 
(average 7 
applications per 
month) 

• Planning Applications referred by local members 
• Designation and amendment of conservation 

areas 
• Public Rights of Way 
• Tree Preservation Orders 

Parish 
Level 

Town and 
Parish 
Councils 

• Potential for competent councils (within the 
meaning of the Localism Act 2011) to determine 
minor applications 

• Ability to prepare Neighbourhood Plans 
• Consultee on planning applications 

127



 
 

86. The diagram below illustrates the proposed unitary structure:- 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

U
n
it
a
ry

 L
e
v
e
l 

L
o
c
a
li
ty

 L
e
v
e
l 

P
a
ri
s
h
 

L
e
v
e
l 

Development 
Management 

Board 

Area 
Development 
Management 
Sub-Boards 

Cabinet Overview and 
Scrutiny 

Committees 

Area 

Committees 

Parish and Town Councils  

Regulatory Executive Scrutiny  

Full Council 

1 

Licensing 
Committee 

Possible responsibilities 

• Strategic, area wide decision making including social care, 
education, strategic planning, environment and transport, 
regulatory services, housing, leisure and recreation, public health, 
strategic management of revenue and benefits; 

• National, regional and strategic partner engagement. 

• To provide a locality focus to strategic decision making and be able 
to influence strategic outcomes;  

• To set local priorities over and above the core county-wide service 
offer; 

• To produce an ‘Area Priority Plan’ reflecting the local priorities and 
to allocate a devolved revenue budget to support delivery. Local 
Priorities listed in ‘Parish Level’ below as areas for possible 
devolvement to Parish/Town councils; 

• To agree some Traffic Regulation Orders and be responsible for 
some delegated funding for local highways measures; 

• To engage local residents, organisations and stakeholders. 
 

• Where requested, build capacity to take on an enhanced 

community and service delivery role, to possibly include:- 

Public Realm (e.g. grass cutting), Promoting community cohesion, 
wellbeing, Local Economy support, Supporting the local VCS, 
Capacity building, Community Transport Community Services 
(Leisure, Culture, Arts), Community Safety. 

 

128



 
 

Town and Parish Councils  
 
87. Consideration can be given to the creation of new Town Councils to cover 

currently ‘unparished’ areas.  
 
88. Local leadership can be strengthened through giving town and parish councils an 

enhanced role where this is requested.  Key to this would be to ensure where 
powers and responsibilities are devolved that funding is provided.  It is likely that a 
number of existing Parish Councils, as well as any that are newly established, 
would request support to build their capacity to take on an enhanced role, to 
include:- 

 
(i) Engaging with the community to identify and address local issues and 

aspirations; 
(ii) Encouraging social action and developing community managed services; 
(iii) Enhancing their role in service delivery and devolution, including via asset 

transfers. 
 

89. Following the County Council’s Annual Parish Council Liaison Event in July 2018 it 
was mutually agreed to hold a focus group of parish and town councils.  This was 
held on the 20 September and those present provided the following view on the 
principles of a unitary structure for local government in Leicestershire and the role 
local councils could play:  

 
(i) General support,  particularly from larger councils, for a unitary structure 

and strengthening the role of local councils; 
(ii) Appreciation for early engagement and a commitment for ongoing 

discussions. 
 
Literature Review 
 
90. The national financial position has, in recent years, led to the production of reports 

from a number of consultancies and local government commentators about the 
benefits of moving to a unitary structure.  A summary of what appear to be the 
most relevant reports, including the report commissioned from Ernst and Young by 
the County Council in 2014, is set out below. 

 
Ernst & Young (EY) Report February 2014: Strategic Financial Case for a Unitary 
Council for Leicestershire 
 
91. The key findings in this report were as follows:- 

 

 A single unitary council could save up to £30m per annum and would 
generate a Net Present Value saving of nearly £90m over five years.  The 
cost of implementing the required changes was estimated at £12.8m with a 
forecast payback period of just over one year. 
 

 A dual unitary council structure would deliver savings but £12m per annum 
less (39%) compared to a single unitary council.  
 

129



 
 

 Harmonising council tax charges at the lower level would represent greater 
value to the Leicestershire council tax payer.  EY estimated this would cost 
£7.7m per year. 
 

 A stronger locality focus could be achieved through:- 
 

(i) The elimination of municipal boundaries and organisational silos; 
(ii) The simplification of the delivery landscape; and 
(iii) Creation of greater local democratic accountability. 

 

 A unitary council would have greater strategic impact through the reduction in 
the number of individual organisations that need to be involved in 
discussions, planning and delivery.  It would also provide the opportunity to 
create:- 
 

(i) A single planning authority; 
(ii) A single integrated housing strategy; and 
(iii) Strategic planning for the area as a whole. 
 

92. The EY analysis also identified a number of potential liabilities and risks which 
would need to be evaluated in more detail if the case for a unitary council were 
progressed to a further stage including: employee pay harmonisation; service level 
standardisation; and designing an effective democratic structure. 

 
93. It should be noted that, in response to criticisms of this report made by the Liberal 

Democrat Group at the time, there were four points of clarification or correction 
made, viz: 

 

 Names of Councils, page 5 – the titles of Hinckley and Bosworth, Melton and 
Oadby and Wigston were incorrectly shown as district and not borough 
councils. 

 

 Service expenditure, page 5 – as indicated, the figures were extracted from 
Government data and were correct. 

 

 Population figures, page 5 – EY used mid-year population estimates from 
2008.  Later figures could have been used.  

 

 Elected Members, page 25 – the total should have been 309, not 316.  
Incorrect numbers were shown for Blaby, Charnwood and Melton. 

 
94. The above did not impact on the key findings set out in paragraph 91. 

 
95. In developing the case for a unitary structure of local government in Leicestershire, 

officers have reviewed and updated the methodology used by EY. The areas that 
savings can be derived from are similar in the majority of subsequent financial 
studies and still entirely relevant. However, the opportunity has been taken to 
update savings calculations by using the latest published information and to 
broaden the sources of information, where possible, to reduce the likelihood of a 

130



 
 

material error. This is a process that will continue, as new information becomes 
available. 

 
InLoGov Report 2015: Building Better Collaboration - Improving Collaborative 
Behaviours in Local Government 
 
96. This report commissioned by the District Councils’ Network was supportive of 

retaining the status quo.  It focused on the role of district councils and suggested 
that “the energy invested in debates about structure would be better focused on 
improving services and outcomes through collaborative behaviours.  Indeed, 
perhaps the longevity of the present municipal arrangements bears a certain 
amount of testimony to their relative success.  Whilst the arguments about 
confusion for citizens and inefficiency remain; a system that allocates local 
services and a local voice to districts and more strategic and cost-sensitive 
services to counties has stood the test of time”. 

 
97. However, the report recognised shortcomings in the current system and 

recommended greater collaboration between districts as a way of delivering better 
local services, savings and efficiencies.  It found that, because of their size and the 
nature of their services, districts were well placed to lead collaborative projects.  It 
also suggested that behaviour, culture and trust are far more important to 
collaboration than the structures through which people work. 

 
98. The report did not make reference to either the estimated or actual level of savings 

which could achieved through greater collaboration between district councils.  It 
also focussed essentially on district councils rather than the two-tier structure per 
se.   

 
EY Report September 2016: Independent Analysis of Governance Scenarios and Public 
Service Reform in County Areas (National Report) 
 
99. This report examined six scenarios using national data across the then remaining 

27 two-tier counties in England.  The table below shows the indicative level of 
savings for the average county.  The results gave a national picture and it was 
noted that further detailed analysis would be required to ascertain precise savings 
in each area.  Nevertheless the proposed savings for the average council were 
broadly in line with other studies. 

 

Scenario Payback Period Annual saving post 
implementation  

Single Unitary Two years two months £23m - £29m 

Two Unitaries Three years two months £13m - £19m 

Three Unitaries Seven years £4m - £10m 

Shared support 
services 

Four years eleven months £2m - £8m 

Merged Districts Three years eight months £6m – £10m 

Three Unitaries and a 
Combined Authority 

Seven years plus £3m - £10m 

 

131



 
 

100. Figures are based on an average county size i.e. population of 800,000 and spend 
of £930m. For comparison, Leicestershire’s population is 690,212 with a spend of 
£791m. 

 
101. The report also highlighted the savings achieved by the unitary councils created in 

2008/9 reorganisations, compared to their projected savings.  This is illustrated in 
the table below.  In most cases, savings exceeded the target set, based on 
whether the council took opportunities to redesign structures and services and 
deliver transformation or whether they simply re-organised and ‘scaled up’ current 
ways of working.   

 

Unitary Projected Saving Estimated savings achieved 

Cornwall £17m per year £25m per year 

Wiltshire £18m per year £25m per year 

Northumberland £17m per year £28m per year 

Durham £22m per year £22m in year one 

Shropshire £20m per year £20m per year 

 
102. In terms of public sector reform, the report found a correlation between the 

scenario that delivers the highest level of savings and that which relates best to 
key areas of public service reform.  Areas such as social care and health 
integration, economic growth, transport, crime and financial viability and 
sustainability benefit from maximising economies of scale, clear governance, 
enhanced coterminous boundaries with partner agencies and high change 
capacity. 

 
103. The report also noted that all the larger county unitary authorities established in 

2009 have implemented models which enhance community governance and 
address the risks highlighted in the report. 

 
ResPublica Report (November 2017): Devo 2.0: The Case for Counties (National 
Report) 
 
104. The report found that due to funding pressures and increased demands on key 

services, maintaining the status quo of local government structures in two-tier 
areas such as Leicestershire is not an option.  County unitaries would provide a 
recognised and identifiable unit of administration that corresponds to the 
appropriate scale of operation required for strategic decision making and 
development.  

 
105. The District Councils’ Network responded to this report by arguing that local 

government reorganisation should focus on the needs of local people and place at 
a local geography residents can recognise and relate to, where incentives to grow 
can be seen to work and where councils are small enough to solve problems one 
family at a time.  The question of what constitutes a ‘local geography’ was left 
open. 

 
 
 

132



 
 

Legislative Position and Government Criteria for Reorganisation to a Unitary 
Structure 
 
106. Part 1 of the Local Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 2007 sets 

out a procedure for local government structural and boundary changes in England. 
This provides for the Secretary of State to invite any 'principal authority' (defined 
as a County or District Council) to make one of the following proposals:- 

 

 Type A: a proposal for a single tier of local government for a county area 
based on existing county boundaries. 

 

 Type B: a proposal for a single tier of local government for an area which is 
currently a district or two or more districts based on existing district boundaries. 

 

 Type C: a proposal for a combination of a whole county or one or more 
districts in that county with an adjoining county or counties or district(s). 

 

 A combined proposal: a combined proposal is a proposal consisting of (1) 
one or more Type B proposals and one or more Type C proposals; or (2) two 
or more Type B proposals or (3) two or more Type C proposals. 

 
107. The invitation from the Secretary of State may either specify the type of proposal 

invited or allow the Authority to choose the type of proposal it submits.  In 
responding to an invitation, the Authority is required to have regard to any 
guidance from the Secretary of State on what a proposal should seek to achieve 
and matters to be taken into account in formulating a proposal. Guidance issued in 
2006 (‘Invitations to Councils in England’) sets out the approach and criteria with  
which proposals were required to conform as follows: 

 
“i) the change to the future unitary local government structures must be: 

 affordable, i.e. that the change itself both represents value for money and can 
be met from councils’ existing resource envelope; and 

 supported by a broad cross section of partners and stakeholders; and 
 

ii) those future unitary local government structures must: 

 provide strong, effective and accountable strategic leadership; 

 deliver genuine opportunities for neighbourhood flexibility and empowerment; 
and 

 deliver value for money and equity on public services”. 
 
108. Following the Caller report on Northamptonshire County Council in February 2018, 

the Secretary of State (in his invitation letter for revised structural proposals to the 
Northamptonshire principal authorities) provided guidance as follows: 

 
“A proposal should seek to achieve for the area concerned the establishment of a 
single tier of local government, that is the establishment of unitary authorities:  
 

a. which are likely to improve local government and service delivery across 
the area of the proposal, giving greater value for money, generating 

133



 
 

savings, providing stronger strategic and local leadership, and which are 
more sustainable structures;  
 

b.  which command a good deal of local support as assessed in the round 
overall across the whole area of the proposal; and  

 
c. where the area of each unitary authority is a credible geography consisting 

of one or more existing local government areas and having a substantial 
population that at a minimum is substantially in excess of 300,000”.  

 
109. On receipt of a proposal in response to an invitation, the Secretary of State for 

Housing, Communities and Local Government (MHCLG) may request advice from 
the Local Government Boundary Commission on any matter relating to the 
proposal. 

 
110. The Secretary of State may:- 
 

a. Make an order implementing the proposal with or without modification; 
 

b. Implement an alternative proposal submitted by the Local Government 
Boundary Commission with or without modification; or 

 
c. Decide to take no action. 

 
111. Before making any order, the Secretary of State is required to consult every 

Authority affected by the proposal (except the authority or authorities which made 
the proposal) and such other persons as he considers appropriate. 

 
Options and Appraisal 
 
112. The Cabinet decision of 6 July requested outline proposals for a unitary structure.  

The following initial appraisal looks at two options: a single unitary council and two 
unitary councils.  The MHCLG population criterion alone rules out a three way split 
and also challenges a two way split. 

 
113. At this outline proposal stage, the approach adopted in the options appraisal is to 

consider financial and non-financial aspects. It draws on learning from other 
Councils (single and dual Unitary Councils within a county). 

 
114. The Cabinet decision of 6 July did not request an analysis of the status quo.  The 

current thinking is that retention of a two-tier structure in any form, however, could 
not be expected to meet fully the requirements of the drivers for change identified 
elsewhere in this report. 

 
Financial Assessment 
 
115. The following table summarises the financial implications of the two options set out 

above. More detailed financial information, including a breakdown of where the net 
annual savings come from, is included in paragraphs 118 – 122. 

 

134



 
 

Option Net annual 
Saving 

4 year MTFS 
saving 

Cost of 
implementation 

1 Single unitary 
Council for 
Leicestershire 

£30m £100m £19m 

2 Two unitary 
Councils for 
Leicestershire 

£18m £60m £18m 

  
116. Savings for both options are derived in a similar way and are set out in the table 

below. The key differences reducing the financial benefits of the two unitary option 
are: 

a. County wide services need splitting to create two new services. This 
results in additional senior and middle management. 

b. More organisations exist, which will require a greater total level of back 
office and infrastructure support. These costs tend to be fixed in nature. 

c. The two unitary councils are smaller organisations than the existing 
County Council, resulting in a loss of purchasing power. 

d. Salaries to attract the right people will not be materially lower in the 
smaller organisations. For some posts, where there is already a shortage 
of good candidates, salaries are likely to be the same. 

 

Category Savings Rationale 

Members 
Allowances 

Fewer organisations will mean that the number of elected members 
can be reduced, although those that remain will have greater 
responsibility.  
 

Elections Elections for district and county members are held in different 
years. Having one set of elections for fewer members will cost less. 
The operations to maintain the register of electors can also be 
combined. 
 

Senior 
Management 

A management structure is required to manage each organisation 
and the services within it. Having fewer organisations and joining 
up similar services will mean that management savings can be 
realised.  
 

Back office Joining up and running services in a similar way will simplify the 
back office support requirements greatly. Combined with the benefit 
of only having one set of back office services rather than one in 
each organisation will allow support to converge on common 
systems, infrastructure, policy and process.  
Benefit is enhanced by fewer staff in totality reducing the office 
space requirements. 
  

Service 
management and 
administration 

Joining up and running services in a similar way will allow 
management and administration roles to be combined and the best 
practice from the current disparate services to be selected for the 
whole county.  Further benefit will be secured from improved 
procurement and contract management. 

135



 
 

117. The implementation costs for both options are derived in a similar way and are set 
out in the table below. The single unitary option benefits from there being no 
requirement to disaggregate services and the dual unitary option is cheaper in 
some areas due to the lower level of change and related savings. 

 

Category Rational 

Staff redundancy 
cost 

A significant proportion of the unitary financial benefits comes 
from reducing the number of staff employed, particularly at a 
senior level. Staff have a legal and contractual right to 
compensation for loss of their job. 
 

Cost of integrating 
and 
decommissioning IT 
systems 

Investment will be needed to integrate and replace the core 
service systems, including the merging of necessary historic 
service information.  

Transformation team An integration team will be required to perform the detailed 
service design work for the new organisation/s, implement the 
changes and ensure service continuity. 
 

Support functions 
(Finance, HR, Legal, 
etc.) 

The integration team will need access to significant levels of 
specialist advice and support. 

Communications Residents and partners will need to understand any changes to 
their access of services. 
 

Merging of 
Operations  

It is likely that there will be instances of contracts being 
terminated early to avoid duplication of running costs.  
Organisations differences will also need to be removed so that a 
unitary council operates as one organisation, for example 
harmonisation of employment terms and conditions. 
 

 
118. The latest estimate of cost and benefits is set out in the table below. The majority 

of savings could be made without any impact upon the services delivered to 
residents. The savings that do impact front line services are limited to 
administration, management and procurement activity that should not be 
detrimental to the actual service and in some cases beneficial. Even for services 
where a successful local partnership is operating improvements are expected to 
be delivered, for example: 

a. Co-ordination of seven different organisations in a partnership requires 
significant management and administration effort.  In a single organisation 
governance arrangements can be much less bureaucratic with fewer 
meetings and less co-ordination required. 

b. Disagreements between organisations do not arise. 
c. Formal agreements such as legal contracts and for information sharing do 

not need to be put in place. 
d. Quicker decision making is possible with just one governing organisation 

and a more straightforward relationship for partners. 
 
 

136



 
 

 

Annual Savings Single Unitary 
£ million 

Two unitary 
£ million 

Difference 
£ million 

Members Allowances 0.5 0.3 0.2 40% 

Elections 0.9 0.9 0.0 0% 

Senior Management 5.6 3.5 2.1 38% 

Back office 17.4 10.5 6.9 40% 

Service management 
and administration 

8.5 5.3 3.2 38% 

Contingency (2.9) (2.9) - 0% 

Total 30.0 17.6 12.4 41% 

     

Implementation cost (19.0) (17.5) 1.5 7% 

 
119. The expected payback period for the single unitary would be within two years of 

the organisation being created. Senior management and democracy savings 
would be delivered from day one, benefiting from advanced design work.  A 
significant proportion of back-office costs would also be delivered early although 
not all due to the requirement to close the old organisations and the phased expiry 
of contracts. Similarly the service management and administration savings would 
be phased, reflecting the likelihood of longer term contracts and the focus on back-
office savings. 
 

120. The implementation of a dual unitary structure is only cheaper due to the lower 
level of redundancies. The payback would take longer due to the proportionately 
higher implementation costs and the complexity of dividing up services such as 
social care. 

 
121. A contingency has been included against the savings to reflect the early 

development stage of these proposals. As more information becomes available it 
may be possible to increase the savings delivery. 

 
122. The financial estimates will be updated as new information becomes available. 

Before any business case were submitted to Government it is expected that 
independent verification of the modelling would be undertaken. 

 
Beneficiaries of savings 

 
123. Austerity will dictate that the majority of savings will go towards ensuring the on-

going sustainability of services. This would allow existing services to be protected 
from cuts that would otherwise be inevitable. Ultimately which services are 
protected will be a matter for the unitary council, but this would be informed by 
public consultation. 
 

124. Adoption of a unitary council would mean that some of the direct financial benefit 
was naturally shared with residents through harmonisation of Council Tax. 
Residents in a unitary council’s geography would all pay the same level of tax, 
which is usually set at the level of the lowest district council charge. For the single 
unitary council up to £8 million of the savings would be used for reduced Council 
Tax bills, although the final number would depend upon the impact upon town and 

137



 
 

parish councils and actual level of charges.  The reduction in Council Tax bills for 
a two unitary model is potentially less, as the lowest charging district council would 
be different in each unitary area unless a conscious choice was made to reduce 
bills in an identical way. 
 

125. The future financial situation is very uncertain, but the proposed scale and speed 
of savings delivery should create the ability for some investment in services. 
Devolved revenue budgets to support delivery of local priorities have been 
mentioned earlier in the report.  Capital investment, for example for leisure 
facilities or improvements to roads, is another option that can be used to improve 
local services in a targeted way. There should also be sufficient resources to 
invest and improve some countywide services. Gaining the views of Leicestershire 
residents would be vital in targeting investment at the right areas. 

 
Non-financial assessment 
 
126. The options been evaluated against the MHCLG non-financial criteria together 

with similar studies that have been undertaken elsewhere within the country. In 
summary: 

 
127. Option One: A single unitary council for Leicestershire. A single unitary model 

would reduce the number of elected members, but would strengthen their role as 
explained in paragraphs 71 – 86.  It would create the opportunity to reduce the 
number of senior and middle managers and more importantly to integrate the 
delivery of local government services in Leicestershire.  Combined, these would 
be likely to improve outcomes for citizens and business and to reduce the cost of 
the Council being in business, giving rise to the possibility of Council Tax being 
reduced, key services better protected against further funding pressures and 
certain services being enhanced. 

 
128. Option Two: Two unitary councils for Leicestershire: A two unitary model for 

Leicestershire would be likely to bring many of the benefits to citizens and 
businesses described in Option 1 (a single unitary council for Leicestershire) and 
would see relatively more elected members. It would, however, mean that there 
would be duplication in democracy and organisational structure: two senior 
leadership teams, two Council Cabinets, two ways of delivering services in 
different parts of the County. It would also mean that creating a single transport 
and housing plan for the County and working with strategic partners would be 
more difficult. Whilst a two council model could base its design on collaboration 
and shared services between the councils, it is an accepted position in national 
studies that the savings are reduced by as much as approximately 40% compared 
to developing a single Council. 

 
129. The criterion relating to a ‘good deal of local support’ cannot be tested without 

stakeholder engagement and subsequent public consultation. 
 
 

138



 
 

Appraisal 
 

Government Criteria Option 1: Single Unitary Council Option 2: Two Unitary Councils 

Credible geography  ‘Leicestershire’ is a well-established and 
recognised name. 

 Leicestershire is the outer circle of a functional 
economic area, Leicester and Leicestershire, 
recognised by Government.  The 
interdependencies of city and county are a key 
part of that functional coherence in terms of the 
economy, employment and infrastructure. 

 Any division of Leicestershire, say north/south 
or east/west would have to demonstrate how 
this was not an arbitrary division.  The only 
comparable division has been the two County 
CCGs (West; East and Rutland) but they are 
now moving into a single arrangement 
covering either all of Leicestershire (and 
Rutland) or LLR (City, County and Rutland). 

 In other counties the only instance of a two-
way split was Cheshire, now East and West. 
 

Population 
substantially in 
excess of 300,000 

Leicestershire’s population is 690,212 (mid-2017 
population estimate). 

A population substantially in excess of 300,000 is 
unlikely to be a population just below or just above 
a 5% excess.  To exemplify, a north/south split 
would be 331,369 and 358,843. 
 

Improves service 
delivery, including 
innovation 

 Integration of services, genuinely joined up in 
planning and delivery. 

 Confusion over responsibilities eliminated for 
public and organisations. 

 Reinvestment in front-line services. 

 Innovation opportunities, e.g. greater 
digitalisation, property rationalisation. 

 Benefits would be similar to a single unitary 
but on a smaller scale. 

 The disadvantages of the disaggregation of 
social care services, now on a county footprint, 
would have to be taken into account, including 
the impact on partners and safeguarding 
boards and related arrangements. 
 

Greater value for 
money 

 Council tax and business rates income 
maximised on front-line services, not expensive 
management tiers and corporate costs. 

 ‘Overhead costs’, i.e. support services reduced 
to 6% in line with the County Council costs. 
Districts’ average cost is 15%. 

The duplication of departments, management 
teams/structures and service providers for two 
councils would reduce the value for money to the 
taxpayer. 

139



 
 

Government Criteria Option 1: Single Unitary Council Option 2: Two Unitary Councils 

Yield significant cost 
savings 

Predicted savings are £30m per year. 
 

Predicted savings are £17.6m per year. 

Provide stronger 
strategic and local 
leadership 

 Strategic leadership provided by a single, 
elected voice able to speak for Leicestershire on 
all local government and public sector and other 
matters affecting the county. 

 Local leadership strengthened through Area 
Committees with delegated decision making 
and devolved funding. 

 Opportunity for town councils: large settlements 
and market towns currently without a town 
council include Coalville, Hinckley, 
Loughborough, Market Harborough and Melton 
Mowbray. 
 

 Strategic leadership would be less effective 
with no single voice for Leicestershire. 

 Engagement with regional agreements, 
neighbouring councils and partnership working 
could be problematic in the event of 
disagreement. 

 Local leadership would in part be dependent 
on the credibility of the locality and if this 
option offered the opportunity for new town 
councils. 

Delivering a more 
sustainable structure 
in respect of finance, 
partnership and 
beyond. 

 Ongoing reinvestment in front-line services 
through significant annual savings and 
economies of scale. 

 Creates optimum integration of health and 
social care with CCGs moving from the present 
three to one for LLR or two (one county, one 
city). 

 The ongoing benefits in terms of savings, 
reinvestment in services and consolidation of 
services would not be as great compared to a 
single unitary. 

 The need to create two social care authorities 
to replace one would be unhelpful and 
unwelcome in operational and planning terms 
to NHS partners locally, regionally and 
nationally. 

140



 
 

Working Party 
 
130. At its meeting on 26 September the County Council resolved: 

 
a) That this Council: 

 
i) notes that plans for a unitary structure of government in principle for 

Leicestershire were drawn up after a positive endorsement by the 
Conservative Group at its meeting on 26th June 2018 and were 
communicated promptly and appropriately to stakeholders in the usual 
way; 

 
ii) has started a much needed and long overdue debate on the future 

provision of local government services in the county, which leaders of the 
seven district councils have recognised is in need of reform; 

 
iii) recognises that continuing austerity and cost pressures for services are 

placing councils of all types in an impossible financial position, requiring 
Councils such as Leicestershire to consider a unitary structure; 

 
iv) recognises that plans for an East Midlands Strategic Alliance to 

counterbalance the West Midlands Combined Authority require further 
work and agreement amongst regional leaders and stakeholders before a 
business case is submitted to the Secretary of State; 

 
v) notes that the information to be provided in the Cabinet report will allow 

Members to undertake detailed scrutiny of the level of savings including 
savings that have been achieved by other Councils who have already 
undertaken local government reorganisation;  

 
vi) recognises that Leicestershire County Council must be allowed to pursue 

its right to self-determination of policy via the democratic process and that 
this Council respects the rights of other local authorities to do the same. 

 
b) That this Council notes:- 

 
i) That in line with the decision of the Cabinet on 6th July 2018 proposals for 

a new unitary structure for local government in Leicestershire will be 
published in a report to the Cabinet on Friday 5th October; 
 

ii) That the proposals will provide a basis and framework for Scrutiny 
Bodies, members and stakeholders to consider and make representations 
on the future shape of local government in Leicestershire; 

 
c) That recognising the need for member involvement, a cross party group be 

established to consider the proposals and advise the Cabinet on the next 
steps including a timescale for consultation; 

 

141



 
 

d) That the Chief Executive be asked to include proposed terms of reference for 
the cross party working group in the report to the Cabinet on 16th October, 
2018. 

 
131. In respect of parts c) and d) of the resolution, the following terms of reference for 

the working group/party are proposed for consideration: 
 
(i) To consider and receive feedback on the proposals put forward by the 

Cabinet on 16th October and in the light of this and any work and analysis 
may undertake to advise the Cabinet on the next steps. 
 

(ii) In undertaking this role, to recognise the separate and distinct role of the 
Scrutiny Commission and its Committees to examine the Cabinet’s 
proposals. The Working Party will consider the views and comments made 
by the Scrutiny Commission and its Committees. 

 
(iii) To consider also the views and representations made by stakeholders.  

 
(iv) If it wishes, to consider any alternative proposals put forward by a District 

Council(s). 
 

(v) To be able to commission work on issues that it considers may assist it in 
discharging its prime role of advising the Cabinet on the way forward. 

 
132. Whilst the meetings of the Working Group will be in private to allow it to explore 

issues and options in detail, the reports it produces will be in the public domain. 
 
133. As the Leader referred to at the County Council meeting on 26 September, the 

working party will have a politically balanced membership of ten: 
Conservative  7 
Liberal Democrat 2 
Labour   1 

This enables representation to include members with an electoral division in each 
district area. 

 
Strategic Alliance 
 
134. There is little to report since the meeting of the Cabinet on 6 July, but to recap: 
 

 The East Midlands is disadvantaged in terms of the ability to influence 
Government and attract investment or devolution opportunities compared to the 
West Midlands. There is an elected mayor and a combined authority for the 
West Midlands.  Their most recent devolution deal (2017) includes £6m for a 
housing delivery taskforce, £5m for a construction skills training scheme and 
£250m to be spent on local intra-city transport priorities.  The first devolution 
deal (2015) included over £1bn investment to boost the West Midlands 
economy. 

 

142



 
 

 Effective leadership of the combined authority lies with the elected mayor and 
the leaders of the 7 constituent authorities, all unitary.  There is also a category 
of ‘non-constituent authorities’ which includes other councils and LEPs. 

 

 The East Midlands has delivered the highest GVA relative to public investment 
in transport of any UK nation or region since 2010.  Yet, with a population of 
over 4.5m is the biggest industrial area not to have a devolution deal. 

 

 The table below extracted from the most recent HM Treasury report gives 
examples of how the East Midlands is losing out to the West Midlands: 
 

 Economic Affairs Of which: Transport 

 
2011-12 
outturn 

2015-16 
outturn 

% 
increase  

2011-12 
outturn 

2015-16 
outturn 

% 
increase  

South East 416 591 42.1 213 365 71.4 

West 
Midlands 

430 505 17.4 206 342 66.0 

London 869 1,196 37.6 649 973 49.9 

England 534 664 24.3 298 444 49.0 

South West 443 508 14.7 188 277 47.3 

Yorks & 
Humber 

510 615 20.6 259 380 46.7 

North West 496 603 21.6 275 401 45.8 

UK 596 703 18.0 319 441 38.2 

North East 527 558 5.9 223 299 34.1 

East 543 610 12.3 286 365 27.6 

East Midlands 465 475 2.2 209 260 24.4 

 

Infrastructure 
Projects 

£ per head 
(15/16) 

London 1,079 

North West 702 

England 582 

Yorks & Humber 489 

South East 488 

East 468 

West Midlands 445 

South West 428 

North East 418 

East Midlands 352 

 
 

Railway 
Expenditure 

£ per head 
(15/16) 

London 746 

England 251 

North West 203 

East 191 

South East 180 

Yorks & Humber 180 

West Midlands 143 

North East 110 

South West 94 

East Midlands 91 

 

Source: HMT Public Expenditure Statistical Analysis 2017.

143



 
 

 

 The Secretary of State for Housing, Communities and Local Government, who 
is the Midlands Engine Champion, has asked the East Midlands County 
Leaders for a business case for a strategic alliance by the end of 2018.  
Derbyshire County Council has been leading on this work.  Leicestershire 
County Council has set out its position that currently more work is required in 
regard to clarity of purpose, governance and ‘asks’ of Government, to be 
undertaken in conjunction with the three city councils. 
 

135. At the time of writing it is not possible to expand on the announcement by the 
Chancellor of the Exchequer at the Conservative Party Conference to establish a 
development corporation for the area around Toton, linked to the planned HS2 
hub. 

 
Conclusion 
 
136. The Cabinet resolution of 6 July requested officers to undertake work on the 

development of a unitary structure and to prepare outline proposals.  Taking 
account of the Government’s criteria for new unitary councils, two options have 
been identified. 
 

137. The financial and non-financial initial appraisal points to a single countywide 
unitary structure for Leicestershire as the best fit against the Government’s criteria 
and therefore the best model for meeting present and future challenges. 

 
138. The key benefit of a single unitary structure for Leicestershire would be to 

maximise financial savings to protect and invest in front-line services currently 
provided by both the County Council and the District Councils.  Other benefits 
drawn from the initial appraisal include:- 

 
a. A single point of accountability and responsibility for the quality and 

consistent delivery of all council services, led by a single executive 
function and a single managerial function; 

 
b. A single platform on which to build more effective partnerships with 

business and other public sector bodies, notably the NHS; 
 
c. A single geography for economic growth, with one council accountable for 

spatial planning, asset management, housing, infrastructure and transport. 
 
d. A enhancement of existing county-wide social care, public health and 

safeguarding services by integrating responsibilities for housing, benefits 
and leisure and amenity services. 

 
139. The initial key challenge to a single unitary structure for Leicestershire would be to 

provide assurance that residents and local communities feel connected to the work 
of the new Council and are able to shape their communities, based on local need. 
 

144



 
 

140. A two unitary council structure would not maximise financial savings. The initial 
appraisal also shows that benefits overall would be less than in a single unitary 
council and that in particular:- 

 
a. The establishment of two unitary councils would require the 

disaggregation of existing county-wide services such as Children’s and 
Adults Social Care, creating additional management and service delivery 
cost and potential inconsistency in service; 
 

b. More widely, the opportunities afforded by a single unitary structure 
cannot be present. 

 
141. This model would be challenged in relation to any natural geography, how it would 

work with partners, with the functional economic area of Leicester and 
Leicestershire, and how it would relate to local communities. 

 
Equalities and Human Rights Implications 
 
142. Due to the complexity and scope of the proposal and possible wide scale impact of 

the changes proposed the Council will adopt a strategic approach to conducting 
EHRIAs. 
 

143. EHRIAs will be carried out during all programme phases and stages to create a 
new unitary structure. Through such an approach the council will meet the Public 
Sector Equality Duty by delivering the following objectives: 

 

 Identifying and seeking to mitigate the potential equality and human rights 
impacts of the proposal on those with protected characteristics. 

 Identifying and seeking to maximise the equality and human rights 
opportunities of the proposal for those with protected characteristics. 

 Ensuring that a unitary structure for Leicestershire will positively contribute to 
the elimination of discrimination and the advancement of equality for all. 

 Adopting a “Vision Statement” for Equality and Diversity for the unitary 
structure for Leicestershire that demonstrates positively and proactively 
promotes the elimination of discrimination and advancement of equality for all. 

 
Background Papers 
 
144. Report to the Cabinet on 6 July 2018 - East Midlands Strategic Alliance and 

Unitary Government in Leicestershire – Timetable for Consideration 
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/documents/b12920/Urgent%20Item%20-
%20Strategic%20Alliance%20and%20Single%20Council%20-
%20Timetable%20Friday%2006-Jul-2018%2014.00%20Cabinet.pdf?T=9 

 
List of Appendices 
 
Appendix A – Children and Families  
Appendix B – Adults and Communities (attached to the report) 
Appendix C – Health and Care Integration 
Appendix D – Public Health 

145

http://politics.leics.gov.uk/documents/b12920/Urgent%20Item%20-%20Strategic%20Alliance%20and%20Single%20Council%20-%20Timetable%20Friday%2006-Jul-2018%2014.00%20Cabinet.pdf?T=9
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/documents/b12920/Urgent%20Item%20-%20Strategic%20Alliance%20and%20Single%20Council%20-%20Timetable%20Friday%2006-Jul-2018%2014.00%20Cabinet.pdf?T=9
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/documents/b12920/Urgent%20Item%20-%20Strategic%20Alliance%20and%20Single%20Council%20-%20Timetable%20Friday%2006-Jul-2018%2014.00%20Cabinet.pdf?T=9


 
 

Appendix E – Environment and Transport 
Appendix F – Economic Growth and Development 
Appendix G – Regulatory Services 
Appendix H – Combined Property Service 
Appendix I – Revenue Collection 

146



   

 

SERVICES IN A UNITARY STRUCTURE 

ADULTS AND COMMUNITIES 

Introduction 
 

1. Consideration of a possible unitary structure for Leicestershire presents an 
opportunity to consider whether to redesign how services are delivered by 
local government, and if so what form the redesigned structure should take.  
The focus is on how better outcomes can be delivered for residents, local 
business and partner organisations, and how local government can best work 
with those organisations recognising the challenging times ahead as a result 
of public sector finance restraints.  This appendix, and other appendices 
prepared in part to facilitate discussion at scrutiny bodies, set out the 
opportunities that a unitary structure could afford to each service, as well as 
some examples of best practice from the county unitary councils established 
in 2009.   
 

2. This appendix should be read alongside the appraisal of options in the 
Cabinet report.  In the ‘Opportunities’ section and case studies which follow, 
some of the changes highlighted offer the greatest benefits in a single unitary 
structure.  

Background 
 

3. A range of services relating to adults and communities are provided by the 
two tiers of local government. In Leicestershire, the County Council is 
responsible for adult social care services, libraries, museums and adult 
education; District Councils are responsible for housing services, arts 
development and some heritage services. 
 

Opportunities for the Service presented by a Unitary Structure 
 

4. Services can be better delivered by unifying the services now provided by 
eight councils.  Some of the main opportunities and advantages of this would 
be: 
 

 Simplifying services for residents, dealing with a unitary council, providing 
a single point of contact and easier access to local authority services. 

 Consistency of social care housing and cultural services, one overarching 
policy, one set of service standards, clear expectations.  

 Reducing administrative and back office costs, without impacting on front 
line services, enabling more efficient delivery of outcomes for residents. 

 Reducing running costs, for example all eight authorities currently operate 
client and resident financial and income services– this could be done 
much more efficiently under a unitary council with rationalisation of 
revenue and benefit, financial assessment and means testing services. 

APPENDIX B 
147



   

 

 Economies of scale – a unitary council would be in a much stronger buying 
position and better placed to procure and negotiate contracts to achieve 
best value for Leicestershire residents. 

 Opportunities to explore the combination of services currently delivered by 
several councils; for example, leisure and cultural services, and housing 
and accommodation services currently provided by the districts with 
heritage and learning services together with care and support services 
currently provided by the County Council, leading to more streamlined, 
efficient and cost effective service delivery. 
 

5. From a strategic perspective, the Adults and Communities department aims to 
promote peoples independence, and support local communities through the 
commissioning and delivery of social care service and cultural enrichment.  A 
unitary authority would facilitate the following strategic opportunities: 

 Coherent, universal place making strategies incorporating many elements 
currently delivered across several councils for the planning, coordination 
and delivery of accommodation based care services. To provide 
investment in terms of capital and/or land over a significant period (2019 – 
2037) to increase the range of accommodation that exists across the 
County for individuals receiving support from adult social care. To meet 
the challenge of an aging population, future accommodation based 
support must be designed that individuals would both choose to live there 
and for those with assets, will choose to finance it themselves. There are a 
number of specific factors that relate to the future of Extra Care and 
residential care particularly for older people that will be evaluated as the 
project progresses.  

 A single voice to promote culture and heritage services to governmental 
and funding bodies such as the Arts Council, Heritage Lottery fund and 
Heritage England. 

 Clear Accountability for the local government contribution to improving the 
health and wellbeing of local residents and delivery of services in 
partnership with the NHS. For example reductions to delayed transfers of 
care require a unified response to address housing, social care and other 
regulatory provision. 

 Efficient and streamlined delivery processes in areas where there is 
duplication of delivery such as the provision of assistive technology and 
lifeline services to provide a county wide unified offer to residents  

Existing unitary council best practice case studies 
 

6. Wiltshire Council, secured the best value from its budget for adult social care 
through re-procuring its monitoring and response service and wanted to 
introduce telecare for any of its service users who could benefit. The council 
developed a business case for mainstreaming telecare and then to manage 
the transition to the new arrangements. The business case showed that 
telecare could save the council £2 million a year by reducing the reliance on 

148



   

 

domiciliary and residential care, and also identified an opportunity to offset 
costs by offering the telecare service to private paying customers and 
designed a benefits framework and roadmap to enable the council to realise 
the savings. 
This was a radical transformation for both organisation and service users. The 
Council migrated 3,000 customers onto the new monitoring and response 
provider, safely and without service disruptions. Training took place for 250 
council staff to refer service users for telecare. Wiltshire County Council and 
its providers are now actively promoting telecare to over 10,000 target 
customers across the county. 

7. Cornwall Council has developed a Strategic Business Case to deliver 
accommodation based care across the County. The purpose of this Strategic 
Business Case is to transform housing with care and support for older people 
and adults with learning disabilities who have eligible adult social care needs. 
The implementation will involve working collaboratively with housing and 
registered providers to stimulate the market to deliver extra care housing and 
supported living. This is expected to deliver improved outcomes for individuals 
living in these forms of housing, as well as provide cost avoidance through 
diversion away from more expensive and less personalised institutional forms 
of care. Implementation is enabled by working in partnership both internally 
(for example with social care staff and with housing) as well as externally (with 
providers and developers, and with health). Adult Social Care working with 
colleagues in the housing, planning and economic growth services, ensures 
that housing for people with eligible social care needs is well placed to be fully 
represented in local plans and strategic documents to influence the future 
direction and development of older people’s housing and care services. 

   

Adult Social Care Services 

Current  

8. Leicestershire County Council commissions and provides adult social care 
and wellbeing services as required to meet the needs of the local population. 
This includes  

(i) advice information and guidance,  

(ii) assessment and determination of eligibility  for funding 

(iii) support planning and review of care requirements, 

(iv) charging and financial assessment 

(v) Protection from harm and abuse 

(vi) Market shaping, market oversight and development 

(vii) Care support 

(viii) Transitions for young people from children’s services 

149



   

 

9. The districts have responsibility for related functions such as housing, 
planning, and some matters connected to benefits. The approach and delivery 
model for housing strategy and development duties currently varies across 
the districts. There are people currently who are temporarily accommodated in 
residential placements due to the urgency of the presenting situation, but they 
would be better placed in community accommodation.  The issue is often the 
time it takes to access accommodation managed by district councils. 

10. In some areas, such as assistive technology and equipment to support people 
to remain in their own home, there is a definite overlap between services; 
these services are both duplicated and fragmented within two tier authorities 
leading to increased ambiguity and bureaucracy for local residents and 
increased cost to local government. Currently there are some district councils 
who offer lifeline services and others who do not; some offer broader assistive 
technology support as does the County Council whilst others do not. 

11. Whilst the ‘Lightbulb’ partnership has sought to standardise processes for 
housing related support across the district councils, the offer to residents 
remains variable. For example, some Leicestershire districts do not currently 
allocate all their Disabled Facilities Grant (DFG) allocations whilst other 
districts have needs which cannot be met within their allocation. 

12. There are presently unknown influences arising from future charging 
mechanisms for adult social care. A Government Green Paper on social care 
is expected later in 2018, following the decision in July 2015 to postpone the 
introduction of a cap of lifetime social care charges and a generous means-
testing regime. It is still expected that a cap on lifetime social care charges will 
be introduced.  

13. A cap and floor mechanism would need additional regulation and safeguards 
for early work and implementation, to prevent qualifying assets from being 
protected or excluded by individuals and families. Means testing will be 
resource-intensive for local authorities and combining this new function with 
existing district responsibilities for benefits and housing would be efficient in a 
unitary structure. 

What could a unitary structure’s adult social care offer be? 
 

14. Moving to a unitary authority presents significant opportunities to join up 
budgets, strategy, planning and delivery to provide a coherent offer for the 
public across statutory and discretionary activities relating to adult social care. 
The examples given below demonstrate how a unified provision delivers 
improved outcomes for service users and ensures financial sustainability for 
the future. Within the areas of adult social care and communities and 
wellbeing, a unitary structure would facilitate a more effective approach to 
delivering strategic objectives relating to: 

 Strong Economy 

 Wellbeing and Opportunity 

 Keeping People Safe 

 Great Communities 

150



   

 

 Affordable and Quality Homes 
 

15. Preventative approaches and demand reduction: The key to long term 
sustainability of the health and care system is maximising the independence 
and self-reliance of individuals and communities. A unitary structure for 
Leicestershire would be able to pull together local understanding of the needs 
of communities, co-ordinate a wide range of place based initiatives to create 
an enhanced model for improving community capacity across Leicestershire. 
For example there is strong evidence that loneliness has a major impact on 
older people’s use of health and care services. A unitary council for 
Leicestershire would provide a more co-ordinated approach to tacking 
loneliness, implement best practice more consistently across the county and 
streamline the support offered to individuals.  

16. Supporting People at Home: Unitary councils elsewhere in England have 
been able to develop a more integrated health and social care offer, working 
with local NHS partners to take advantage of the enhanced range of services 
which the unitary council controls.  The development of Home First services to 
support people at home, prevent hospital admissions and improve hospital 
discharge, and community based neighbourhood health and social care 
teams would be enhanced through having a unitary authority responsible for 
housing/homelessness, public health and social care. Patients, service users 
and families would see improvements through the reduction in duplication and 
the number of agencies involved, as well as the benefit of more streamlined 
processes. There would be opportunities to develop an integrated support 
offer using voluntary and community sector projects, partnership with CCGs 
and locality primary care, focusing on people who are high consumers of 
health and care services, embedding existing district council functions into the 
integrated health and care locality teams, to address the challenges of 
specific conditions at a local level. 
 

17. Housing Provision: Having a unitary council responsible for housing stock 
would allow flexibility in the provision of housing to people with Learning 
Disabilities, Mental Ill Health and Autism. A single strategic housing authority 
which also commissions social care, has planning responsibilities, and 
delivers wider infrastructure, would allow the new council to prioritise the 
development of housing to meet the needs of older adults, people who have 
frailty and disabled people to provide lifetime homes and  alternatives to long 
term residential care. A unitary council for Leicestershire would create 
opportunities to develop housing solutions to improve delayed transfers of 
care from hospitals where the availability of housing can contribute to delayed 
discharges. The focus would be on improving individual patient care, however 
over time, a more proactive housing strategy could be developed which both 
addressed locality level resources and specific demographic features, but also 
a county-wide strategic housing approach. This would enable patients from 
hospital to be relocated to more appropriate accommodation for example due 
to increased level of disability; or because of vulnerability such as 
homelessness, domestic violence or where there is a 
safeguarding/exploitation issue.  

151



   

 

18. Housing Strategy: A unitary council for Leicestershire would be able to create 
a single Local Plan to plan for the very significant challenges of meeting the 
housing needs of an ageing population without the complexity of separate 
plans and separate housing authorities. A unitary council would allow for 
adequate resources to be put towards a dedicated strategy and development 
function. For example, it is currently difficult to provide Lifetime Homes for 
people with specific housing needs. An integrated approach may help in 
tackling the shortfall in affordable and retirement housing by extending best 
practice across the county. This would be of particular benefit to those people 
who are seeking greater independence and/or are trapped in institutional 
accommodation or family settings such as care leavers, people with mental 
health problems in residential care and adults with learning disabilities 
seeking an independent supported living environment.  
 

19. Assistive Technology, Adaptions and Equipment: A unitary approach for 
Leicestershire would bring together assessment, funding and delivery of major 
adaptations, minor adaptations, telecare including lifeline services, community 
equipment provision and assistive technology and thereby reduce duplication 
and improve access and responsiveness.. Overall funding and resource 
allocation can be directed through a more strategic approach to reflect needs 
across the county. The Lightbulb programme has shown the benefits that can 
be achieved through taking a ‘one council’ approach, however these benefits 
could be further enhanced through development of a unitary council. without 
the requirement for 8 different governance arrangements  

20. Wellbeing: Under the Care Act 2014, upper tier councils, including unitary 
councils, have a specific duty to meet the wellbeing needs of local people. 
However, wellbeing cannot merely be met through the provision of adult social 
care or public health services. District Councils also have many functions and 
services which contribute to the wellbeing of individuals and communities.  
Housing and infrastructure services, culture and heritage provision, 
environmental and regulatory services all contribute to the development of 
wellbeing. A unitary council would both direct and deliver the full range of 
provision that enhances wellbeing. 

Communities and Wellbeing 

Existing unitary council best practice case studies 
 

21. Wiltshire Council is working to deliver a series of Community Campuses that 
will provide a range of services tailored to local needs of the local community. 
The Council is also developing Health and Wellbeing Centres across the 
county. The services offered within a community campus depend on the 
requirements of the local area and can range from community and clinical 
space, leisure facilities, catering facilities and youth services alongside 
specialist services such as housing, revenues and benefits, library, pre-
school, fitness suite, and children’s centre services. 
The administrative hubs and campuses provide a safe place to do business, 
deliver customer services and to integrate with the community and hosts other 

152



   

 

public services such as the local Army cadets, Police, History Society and a 
range of private businesses that lease space to generate revenue. 

The campus in Salisbury hosts the headquarters of the Dorset and Wiltshire 
Fire and Rescue Service. Wiltshire Citizens Advice also moved into the 
premises in 2016. At Springfield Community Campus (in Corsham) people 
can visit the library and cafe and try out the gym but the Centre is also a real 
community hub drawing in local groups to use the facilities. Wiltshire Police 
has a presence at the Centre, which will also soon be a base for Wiltshire 
Health and Care. Council staff are also able to use the facility to work from. 
Social workers work with electronic tablets where they can log key information 
while on the move, cutting travel time and making administration quicker so 
they can concentrate on the needs of their clients. 

22. The sharing of facilities with key partners is now prevalent throughout the new 
community campuses, which provide improved facilities and services to local 
communities across the county.  There is a strong feeling that there is one 
public sector for Wiltshire. 

Current position 
 

23. Presently, Leicestershire County Council is responsible for communities and 
wellbeing services relating to libraries, records, museums, heritage, adult 
education, creative learning. 
 

24. District Councils provide leisure centres, and other wellbeing and community 
services on a discretionary basis. 

 
25. Creative Leicestershire, which supports creative businesses, is hosted by the 

County Council and contributed to by some District Councils. 
 
26. Given that some of this offer is non-statutory, the move to a unitary structure 

would enable economies of scale and future-proof services which contribute 
towards thriving communities, and which are valued for wellbeing. 

 
What could a unitary structure’s communities and wellbeing offer be? 
 

27. A coherent provision would result from a unitary organisation across wellbeing 
and community services, and would be structured with the following themes in 
mind: 
 

 Cultural/Leisure/Learning offer: A unitary council would present an 
integrated and holistic culture/leisure and learning offer to the people of 
Leicestershire. For example, a “culture and learning passport” could 
improve access to a range of integrated and complementary services that 
are currently provided in a fragmented fashion. The passport would also 
allow residents to access services and opportunities across a wider area. 

 Routes into Volunteering:  Pathways for people into volunteering would be 
simplified through an integrated offer comprising support to both 

153



   

 

individuals and community led organisations. Currently there are various 
routes of access and a range of different volunteering opportunities 
administered separately across the 8 local authority areas, however the 
establishment of a unitary council could provide a single coordinated 
volunteering offer 

 Adult and Community Learning: A unitary council would enable a larger 
integrated adult and community learning offer and maximise funding drawn 
from the Employment and Skills Funding Agency (ESFA)  

 External Funding: Leicestershire residents would see a growth in 
cultural/learning activity by the strengthened position of a unitary council, 
increasing the ability to lever in external funding from agencies such as 
Arts Council England, Heritage Lottery Fund and the Employment and 
Skills Funding Agency.   A single point of contact would make it easier to 
do business with a variety of external funders. 

 Efficiencies: A unitary authority would drive out efficiencies of scale by 
pooling budgetary and asset resource, reducing duplication, and 
maximising use of assets. 

 
 

154


	Agenda
	1 Minutes of the meeting held on 11 September 2018.
	8 Review of Long Term Residential and Nursing Care Fees.
	5_Nov_Rev of Long Term Res and Nursing Care Costs App

	9 Capital Investment into Adult Social Care Accommodation Based Support Services.
	5_Nov_Cap Inv into ASC Acc based support services App A

	10 Adult Social Care Target Operating Model.
	11 Progress with Smart Library Implementation.
	5_Nov_Progress on Smart Libraries App A
	5_Nov_Progress with Smart Library implementation App B
	5_Nov_Progress with Smart Library implementation App C
	5_Nov_Progress on Smart Libraries App D

	12 The Development of a Unitary Structure for Local Government in Leicestershire.
	Appendix B - Adults and Communities


